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Chairman’s Statement
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FREHRE
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of
LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited (the “Company” or
“LVGEM (China)”), | would like to report to all shareholders of the Company
the consolidated business performance of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively known as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

2022 was a tumultuous year. With a century of changes, the once-a-century
pandemic and geopolitical turmoil, the global economic momentum has
been slowing down. The domestic reform and development have become a
daunting mission as the triple pressure of shrinking demand, supply shocks and
weakening expectations was evident. In light of such difficult macro environment
internally and externally, the Party Central Committee and the State Council
of the PRC have risen to the challenges and implemented precise measures.
Focusing on the economic development in a high-quality way unswervingly,
they firmly pushed forward a high level of opening-up and made every effort
to maintain macroeconomic stability. After all, China achieved a breakthrough
in annual gross domestic product (“GDP”) exceeding RMB121 trillion with its
overall social stability and comprehensive national power that has scaled new
heights, demonstrating the characteristics of China’s strong economic resilience,
great potential and vitality. China has become an important stabilizer of global
economic development.

During the year, the real estate industry continued to undergo in-depth
adjustments and the long-term housing demand momentum continued to
weaken. Meanwhile, with short-term negative factors such as the recurring
COVID-19 pandemic and the suspension of construction work and loans for
various projects across the country, real estate companies were confronted
with unprecedented downward pressure, putting an end to the risky era of
“high leverage and quick turnover”. Now the industry was accordingly at the
crossroads of a century of change. Facing with the new problems in the real
estate sector, the Central Government reiterated that “real estate is currently
the pillar industry of the national economy”, and stressed the importance of
“stabilising real estate” to “stabilise the economy”. It continued to adopt policies
favoring from the demand side to the credit side. In November 2022, the
Central Government issued the “Notice of the People’s Bank of China and China
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission on Improving Financial Support
for the Stable and Healthy Development of the Real Estate Market” (the “16
Financial Regulations”) to greatly enrich the financial toolbox, open up the three
channels of credit financing, debt financing and equity financing for real estate
enterprises, actively support quality real estate enterprises, bolster the real estate
market with financial means and further implement the long-term development
mechanism for real estate, thereby promoting the formation of a virtuous cycle in
the industry.

Against the backdrop of the accelerated industry clearance, LVGEM (China)
has prepared for the worst and taken a prudent and forward-looking approach
to review the risk exposure in advance during the year, striving to ensure the
Group’s capital was kept within a secured range and the development and
construction of various urban renewal projects was carried out in an orderly
manner as planned. In particular, the Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project (the
“Baishizhou Project”), a hallmark urban renewal project which has attracted
much attention from the community, made a breakthrough progress during
the year and is expected to contribute considerable revenue and cash flow to
the Group as the harvesting stage is approaching, providing an enhanced and
sound safety cushion for the Group’s development. During the year under review,
in the midst of the industry changes with elimination of the weak players, the
Group has been able to forge ahead by overcoming all challenges and operating
conscientiously without any over-ambitious plans.
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Starting as a construction company, LVGEM (China) has been focusing on the
urban renewal segment for almost 30 years. We believe we are the first mover
in the urban renewal segment in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area (the “GBA”). Over the years, adhering to the “dual-core” strategic
layout approach of “Focusing on Core Cities and Cities’ Core Areas” at all
times, the Group has early identified and acquired a number of high-value
land bank projects in the core cities and core districts of the GBA at an early
stage at low cost leveraging its unique business vision. It harnessed the huge
demographic dividend and land bank appreciation arising from the process
of urban expansion in the GBA, thereby proudly attaining the high gross profit
level that outperformed the industry generally. The exceptional profitability has
helped to safeguard the Group from the maze of industry changes. Over the past
30 years, the Group has accumulated rich experience and extensive resources
in the urban renewal segment. Its strategy to focus on regional development
has delivered satisfactory results as a solid moat laid in the urban renewal
segment, which has further raised its barrier to competitors for the segment and
consolidated the overall strength of the Group, enabling it to grow into a leading
player in the urban renewal segment in the GBA and a reputable provider of
quality living for the GBA residents.

2022 was a critical year for the GBA in formulating the framework for developing
itself into a leading international bay area and a world-class city cluster. Over
the past five years, ranging from “hard connection” of infrastructures to
“soft connection” of systems and mechanisms, the comprehensive strength
and regional competitiveness of the GBA have been significantly enhanced,
equipping itself with the basic conditions for developing into a leading
international bay area and a world-class city cluster. The GBA is currently one of
the most open and economically dynamic regions in China, and has an important
strategic position in the overall development of the country. The “Outline Plan
for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area” ( (B30 A& 3R
ZI4HE) ) is a national-level socio-economic development plan. Benefiting from
the encouraging policies and support favoring the China’s regional economic
development, the Group will seize the huge opportunities arising from the market
capacity expansion of the GBA and leverage on its strong industrial base of
the GBA and the continuous influx of high-end population to persistently drive
its high-value land reserve projects to maturity. With the tailwind of the rapid
economic growth on the Lingding Bay coast, the Group is well-poised to develop
steadily and secure sustainable growth.

During the year, orienting with the real estate development and sales projects
as its core business, the Group proactively monitored the macro environment
and timely adopted diversified home sales strategies based on its quality
property projects located in the core districts, thus delivering a business result
that was in line with expectations. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
the real estate development and sales of the Group generated revenue of
approximately RMB1,211.3 million, representing a decrease of approximately
64.3% as compared to last year. During 2022, suffering from both demand
and supply slowdown, the real estate industry registered increasingly sluggish
sales generally. According to market statistics, total real estate sales throughout
China in 2022 amounted to RMB13.33 trillion, representing a decrease of
approximately 26.7% year-on-year; the sales area was approximately 1,358
million square meters, down approximately 24.3% year-on-year, which showed
that the overall contract sales are not optimistic. Thanks to the Group’s core
location layout concept pursued for many years, which has made its property
projects more resilient to risks during the winter's chill of the industry, the
Group’s contracted sales significantly outperformed the industry average in
the difficult market environment. During the year, property contracted sales
was mainly generated from projects such as LVGEM Royal Bay in Zhuhai,
International Garden in Huazhou and Joyful Town in Zhuhai. Among them,
LVGEM Royal Bay in Zhuhai, which is currently the Group’s key project for sale
and one of the pilot urban renewal projects in Zhuhai, has been included in the
annual priorities of Zhuhai city for several times. Located in the sub-district of
Nanwan, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City, the LVGEM Royal Bay project has the
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advantage of prestigious core district. With all-round ancillary facilities, it is a rare
high-end residential project in Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City. Since the market
launched in October 2021, it ranked top ten for a long time on the contracted
sales list of real estate enterprises in Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai and was
recognized as one of the hot offers of regional luxurious properties in Xiangzhou
District, Zhuhai City.

In terms of urban renewal projects currently underway, the Group was pleased
to announce that significant progress was made during the year on the highly
anticipated Baishizhou Project. In 2022, the Group settled the land premium for
the land parcel of Phase | of the Baishizhou Project and obtained the land use
right certificate, and the construction of the project is underway in full swing. In
September 2022, the Baishizhou Project had officially entered the stage of main
building construction when construction of the first tower of its Phase | formally
progressed to the ground level. As at 31 December 2022, the progress of the
Phase | construction of the Baishizhou Project was satisfactory, with both the
pre-sale and land-parcel relocation having been rapidly brought up to the level
of typical floors. The pre-sale of Phase | of the Baishizhou Project will be officially
commenced in the third quarter of 2023 as scheduled. Meanwhile, in view of
the scarcity and excellent quality of the project, China Vanke Co., Ltd (“Vanke”)
announced in mid-2022 to undertake equity participation in the Baishizhou
Project as a strategic shareholder. The capital market widely considered that
the equity participation showed Vanke’s high recognition of the Baishizhou
Project and vision of pursuing long-term investment in the Baishizhou Project
exchanged with short-term cash flow, making the alliance a win-win move for
the two strong enterprises. This has significantly enhanced the security of the
Baishizhou Project. In October 2022, it was announced that the Baishizhou
syndicate of banks, led by China Everbright Bank with five banks participating
in the syndicate, has formed with a dedicated credit facility of RMB20.7 billion,
which will fully meet the capital requirements for the demolition and relocation
work relating to the Baishizhou Project and the development and construction
of Phase |. The syndicate will provide a secure capital base for the Baishizhou
Project and further boost the market’s confidence in the successful development
of the Baishizhou Project. It is understood that the successful development
and construction of the Baishizhou Project is of great significance to the Group.
With its planned capacity area of approximately 3.58 million square meters,
the Baishizhou Project is accredited as the “Grand Urban Renewal Project”
in Shenzhen. Located at the north of Shennan Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, adjacent to the Science and Technology Park and the Overseas
Chinese Town, it is expected to complete the construction of four phases of the
Baishizhou Project within next eight to ten years. After several years of focused
development, the Baishizhou Project will be formally launched for pre-sale in
2023, marking the beginning of the project’s harvesting stage officially. Once the
Group is reputed with the success of the project, the Group will have embarked
on an era of high speed and high-quality development, establishing its brand
name in the area of urban renewal in the GBA and laying a solid foundation for
the Group’s long-term operation.

During the year, the Group continued to adopt the “two-pronged” business
model of “residential and commercial” for its commercial property investment
and operations, thereby gradually establishing its commercial property presence,
which was mainly represented by two major commercial brands called “NEO”
and “Zoll”, including, among others, Shenzhen NEO Urban Commercial
Complex, Hong Kong LVGEM NEO, LVGEM Zoll Chanson Shopping Mall and
LVGEM 1866 Zoll Shopping Mall. These properties contributed to the stable
rental income and growth in asset value of the Group. During the period under
review, Zoll Mangrove Shopping Centre staged its grand opening, which marked
another significant addition to the Zoll series. Huazhou Wanda Plaza has topped
out in the first half of 2022 and is expected to open in 2023. The Huazhou
Cultural Food Street Project is highly valued by the government and is expected
to become an iconic landmark of Huazhou with local history and human culture
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and customs. Leasing promotion event was commenced during the year. Over the
past few years, by looking forward with visions and dedicated actions, the Group
has steadily expanded the number and size of its commercial properties and
now holds more than 30 quality commercial property projects comprising a total
gross floor area of approximately 1,658,308 square meters. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group’s revenue generated from the commercial property
investments and operation was approximately RMB702.0 million, representing an
increase of approximately 9.2% year-on-year, effectively replenishing the Group’s
own capital and generally enhancing the Group’s overall competitiveness.

Regarding the comprehensive services segment, the Group was dedicated
to offering all-round services to customers and tenants of its residential and
commercial properties, which included property management services, hotel
operations and others. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
generated revenue of approximately RMB427.6 million from its comprehensive
services, representing an increase of approximately 24.6% year-on-year. It is worth
noting that the LVGEM Hotel of the Group is located in the central business district
of Futian District, and was rented as a government control center for epidemiological
investigation in 2022. The LVGEM Hotel recognized an annual revenue of
approximately RMB119.9 million, which hit a record high among the recent years.

With respect to financing, strictly adopting the main theme of “Focused and
Prudent Development to Secure Sustainable Growth”, the Group insisted on a
highly secure financial structure based on bank loans, took initiative to manage
the size of its debt, actively deployed financing and refinancing arrangements by
diversifying the financing channels during the period to ensure that our financial
status remained stable within a secure range.

In 2022, the report of the 20th Party Congress indicated that “we should speed
up the transformation of the development mode of mega cities, implement urban
renewal initiatives, enhance the construction of urban infrastructure, and build
livable, resilient and smart cities”, specifically showing the way for the future
modernisation and development of cities and marking the official emergence of the
age of urban renewal. Becoming an inevitable requirement to promote high-quality
urban development, the implementation of urban renewal is an important path to
meet the growing needs of people for a better life and unleash the development
potential of cities. Meanwhile, urban renewal is also a major project focused
and specified in China’s Vision 2035. Real estate enterprises that have been
focusing on the urban renewal segment for many years will welcome these historic
opportunities leveraging their solid moats ever laid.

As the old saying goes, “God will reward those who pay diligent efforts despite that
time flies and leaves no trace”. In the future, pursuing its grand vision of “being
the most respected city value-creator in the PRC” and the corporate mission of
“continuously enhancing the value of cities”, the Group will continue to commit itself
to the great task of China’s renewal and development of modern cities, actively align
with the deployment of the national policies relating to the GBA, seize the market
opportunities arising from the rapid economic growth of the region and expand the
scale of business and enhance cost effectiveness. Staying committed to its original
mission, the Group will continue to develop quality properties for the cities and
create joyful urban lifestyles for the people residing in the GBA, thereby making
further contributions while developing prudently to secure sustainable growth.

HUANG Jingshu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B EmE DT

Industry Review

2022 has been a historically significant year for China. During the year, in
parallel with the volatility in the global scene, domestic development has
become a daunting mission. With a century of changes and the once-a-century
COVID-19 pandemic, the complicated situation has given rise to various social
uncertainties, including sluggish social supply, consumer price hikes and
weakening expectations. The Party Central Committee and the State Council of
the PRC have risen to the challenges and implemented proactive policies. With
a focus on the economic development in a high-quality way, they adhered to
the general principle of promoting advancement with stability and consolidating
stability with advancement. The Chinese government efficiently coordinated
various measures for pandemic prevention and control, and made every effort
to maintain macroeconomic stability, striving to promote the revitalization of
market entities proactively. In 2022, having withstood the economic downward
pressure, China achieved a breakthrough in annual GDP exceeding RMB121
trillion with its total economic volume scaling new heights. During the year, the
20th National Congress of the Party was held successfully, during which high-
quality development was confirmed as the top priority for the comprehensive
development of a modern socialist country. The overall economic performance
will be improved in terms of quality with reasonable growth in quantity. Therefore,
China’s economic outlook will remain positive and favourable in the long run.

In general, as the real estate sector continued its volatility and in-depth
adjustments in 2022, various real estate indicators showed a downturn. The
sales area and sales amount of commodity housing were approximately 1.358
billion square meters and approximately RMB13.33 trillion, down approximately
24.3% and 26.7% year-on-year respectively. The general trend of rapid
growth in property sales over the past five years has come to a halt. During the
year, the real estate market continued to be hit by contraction of both supply
and demand. The investment in real estate development throughout China
amounted to approximately RMB13.29 trillion, representing a decrease of
approximately 10.0% as compared with the previous year, of which, residential
investment amounted to approximately RMB10.06 trillion, representing a
decrease of approximately 9.5%. This marked the beginning of the real
estate industry’s “Dark Iron Age”. The Central Government has been highly
concerned about the new issues in the real estate sector, and took the initiative
to adopt favorable policies. In November, the Central Government issued the
16 Financial Regulations, with a view to bolstering the real estate market with
financial means. Relevant financial institutions were required to provide a
stronger and more comprehensive financial support to real estate enterprises,
including commercial and policy-related bank loans, bond financing, merger
and acquisition financing, trusts and other financing for asset management.
In the meantime, the Central Government also provided support and guarantee
for housing demand as well as rights and interests of individual consumers.
Targeted policies for boosting both demand and supply were implemented to
stabilise market sentiment and ensure the security of the capital chain of real
estate enterprises, thereby facilitating the establishment and development of a
long-term development mechanism for the real estate market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

With over 40 years of hard work and dedication throughout the regional
economic development in China from the launch of the reform and opening
policy to the promulgation of the Outline Development Plan for the GBA, the
GBA has witnessed persistent inflow of population and robust development of
industry innovation, and evolved from a remote fishing town into an emerging
international modern city cluster. The local economy has also shifted from relying
on labor-intensive lower-end manufacturing and assembly industry to focusing
on manufacturing industry with an emphasis on high-tech innovation. The GBA
lived up to the expectations of the market and gradually developed into a high
standard demonstration area for integrated regional economic development and
a pilot zone for institutional liberalization, making remarkable achievements in
terms of economies of scale and social development. According to UBS, it is
expected that the nominal GDP of the GBA will exceed approximately US$2.6
trillion by 2025, rendering it to become not only one of the most opened-up and
economically vibrant regions in the PRC, but also a cluster for global production
factors.

Building on the strong industrial economy and relying on the influx of high-end
talents, LVGEM (China) focused on the urban renewal segment of the GBA with
its visionary perspectives and participated in the exploration of residential and
commercial development projects in the urban renewal segment at an early stage
with its strategic insights, and has become a founding member and president
unit of the Professional Committee on Urban Renewal of Shenzhen CEIIISE T &
HFTEHEZL B2 ), making it a worthy first mover in the urban renewal segment of
the GBA. Adhering to its strategic layout of “Focusing on Core Cities and Cities’
Core Areas”, the Group secured high-value land reserve projects at low costs
at an early stage, thereby harnessing the huge demographic dividend and land
bank appreciation arising from the process of urban expansion. Over the past
30 years, the Group has accumulated rich experience and extensive resources
in the urban renewal segment. Its strategy to focus on regional development
has delivered satisfactory results, which served as a solid moat for the future
operation of the Group in the long run, consolidated the core competitiveness
of the brand and hence enabling the Group to gradually grow into a renowned
unique real estate developer and operator and a regional leading enterprise in
the GBA.

2022 was a year of turbulence for LVGEM (China) where crashes of real estate
enterprises emerged one after another and the industry continued to experience
fluctuations. However, as the saying goes, “Every cloud has a silver lining”, the
Group has set its sights on maintaining stability and promoting development
amid the turbulences and upheavals of the industry. During the year, the Group
actively innovated its working philosophy and took proactive measures to create
a better development prospect by surmounting all challenges. Eventually,
the Group managed to survive the predicament and maintained the financial
position within a reasonable range with its all-out efforts. The Group’s major
urban renewal projects located in core cities of the GBA including Shenzhen,
Zhuhai, Hong Kong and Dongguan were progressing in an orderly and steady
manner. Amongst which, the Baishizhou Project which has earned wide public
attention achieved a major breakthrough during the year and will usher in the
harvest period soon. Upon the commencement of pre-sale of Phase | of the
Baishizhou Project, it is expected that the Group will embark on a new journey
of development with its overall operation scale reaching a new level. As only
through the passing of time would one’s strength be revealed, looking forward,
LVGEM (China) will stay true to its original aspiration and undertake construction
projects with craftsmanship and dedication, aiming to deliver new values by
unleashing the potential of land reserves in the urban area and create joyful
lifestyles for people residing in the GBA. Staying committed to the goal of being
the most respected city value-creator in the GBA, the Group will stride forward
steadily and take on all challenges with an undaunted spirit.
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Results

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group achieved total revenue of
approximately RMB2,340.9 million (2021: RMB4,378.0 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 46.5% year-on-year. Gross profit was approximately
RMB1,032.7 million (2021: RMB2,188.4 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 52.8% year-on-year. Gross profit margin for the year ended
31 December 2022 was 44.1% (2021: 50.0%).

During the reporting period, loss during the year was approximately RMB296.5
million (2021: profit of RMB1,334.9 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 122.2% year-on-year. Loss attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately RMB730.1 million (2021: profit attributable to owners of the
Company of RMB1,152.6 million), representing a decrease of approximately
163.3% year-on-year. Basic loss per share was RMB14.32 cents (2021:
basic earnings per share of RMB22.61 cents), representing a decrease of
approximately 163.3% year-on-year.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended
31 December 2022.

The Group’s key financial indicators for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
as follows:

EF

%ZZ T CHET A=+ HIEFE  AREEREK

HOBARKE23409B8 T (ZF -~ AR¥4,378.08
T%ﬁ) Bt T FAAI46.5% « EFMANR/ARKEL0327EET
—&F AR¥2,1884BE L) * FILL T #K152.8% °
BE_Z-"F+-A=+—-HIFEZEMNER/L1%
ZE % :50.0%) °

_7_

BREHAR BEARARK2BET(ZZE-—F: A
R#¥1,33498 &) - ML THL1222% - KR BPRRE
HEBRHOR/ARKE701IBET(ZE-—F  ARAMKRE
EERFARELIS26E&T) * R TE49163.3% °
RERBE/ARKILRD (ZE-—F : BRELZFN
AR¥2261%) @ R TIH4AI163.3% °

BExgltEas
BERER -

B E T —F+-_A=1+—HIEFEK

ATRAREBE—Z-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFEZE
EUBER

2022 2021 Change
—B-=% —=— B3

(RMB million) (RMB million)

(AR¥EBERT) (AREHZT)
Revenue g 2,340.9 4.378.0 —46.5%
Gross profit EF 1,032.7 2,188.4 -52.8%
(Loss) profit attributable to owners of the Company A~ 2 7] B R fE {5 (E548) & 7 (730.1) 1,152.6 -163.3%
Basic (loss) earnings per share (RMB cents) FRER (FE) BN (ARES) (14.32) 22.61 -163.3%
—b.9 percentage
Gross profit margin (%) EFME(%) 441 50.0 points & 7 Zh

As at 31 December As at 31 December

2022 2021
R=-B=-Z=F m:%:*E
+=A=+-—H +ZA=+—

Bank balances and cash (including restricted BITHBEAS (BREIBRHRITER
bank deposits) (RMB million) (AR¥EHET) 3,605.0 7,287.1
Average finance costs (%)* T RE AN (%) 6.9 6.4
Liabilities to assets ratio (%) BEEABGBLE%) 68.9 65.3
Rate of equity return (%) EAREIFRE (%) (3.0 4.4

*

Average finance costs are derived by dividing the total finance costs for the year
(including convertible bonds but excluding finance cost derived from lease liabilities)
by average total borrowings which is calculated by adding up of average balances of
total borrowings (including debt component of convertible bonds but excluding lease
liabilities) for the year.

10 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report 2022

* FHRERATIRFRERERS (BEATBREERETE
SHEREELNBENAN) RAFHRIEEST  MTHe
EEARFARER (BERAREFEBSHETREHE
SRE) ZFHOBEHREMTE -



Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

In 2022, the real estate industry entered into a phase of in-depth adjustments,
and mid-to long-term housing demand momentum remained sluggish.
Unexpected short-term factors such as the recurring COVID-19 pandemic waves
across China and the crisis of construction work and loan suspension, coupled
with the operating pressure of real estate enterprises, have posed unprecedented
challenges to the industry. In times of hardship, the Group geared itself up with
the commitment to “never lie down” and the ambition to “reform the old and
bring in the new”. While holding onto the bottom line of capital security, the
Group steadily pushed forward various core urban renewal projects in the GBA
into the harvesting stage. During the year, it achieved major breakthroughs in its
key projects.

Specifically, as a super-large urban complex development project with a gross
floor area of over a million square meters, the Baishizhou Project was anticipated
by various sectors of the community. The Baishizhou Project is currently the
largest and most iconic urban renewal project for old villages in Shenzhen
and has received the most attention. By virtue of its long construction cycle,
enormous scale and complexity in renewal status, the project was accredited
as the “Grand Urban Renewal Project” in Shenzhen. The Baishizhou Project
is not only a hallmark project that the Group has been focusing on over the
years, but it is also a major operation of the Group and a social and livelihood
project development of Shenzhen City. Upon completion of construction, the
renewed area will deliver new quality homes to about 80,000 residents in the
future, thereby fulfilling people’s aspirations for a better new life. Because of its
livelihood characteristics, the Baishizhou Project was awarded the “Certificate
of Material Project” by the Shenzhen Municipal Development and Reform
Commission in 2022, demonstrating the high recognition from the local
government. During the year, despite the recurring pandemic outbreaks in
various districts of Shenzhen and other negative impacts, the Group overcame
the difficulties and pressed ahead with the Baishizhou Project by maintaining
high-standard management and operating capabilities. These efforts have led to
its good performance with no loss of working days during the year and ensured
that the progress of the project was in line with expectations. In 2022, the Group
paid the land premium for Phase | of the Baishizhou Project and obtained
the land use rights certificate successfully. In September 2022, Phase | of the
Baishizhou Project had officially entered the stage of main body construction
when construction was declared to have progressed to the ground level. All staff
of the Group worked in solidarity to ensure the progress of the project for pre-
sale. As of 31 December 2022, the construction of main building structures of
Phase | of the Baishizhou Project has been rapidly brought up to the level of
typical floors, and has progressed as scheduled. It is expected that the pre-sale
of Phase | of the Baishizhou Project will be officially commenced in the third
quarter of 2023, which by then the Group will recover substantial amounts of
funds, which will drive a leaping growth in sales and profitability of the Group.
As such, the Baishizhou Project of the Group will usher in the harvesting stage
officially. As the old saying goes, “A roc will one day soar into the sky once the
wind blows”. The launch of the Baishizhou Project will provide an enhanced
and sound safety cushion for the Group’s development in the long run and
help establish the Group’s strong brand name in the area of urban renewal in
the GBA, thereby contributing to the Group’s development into a leading urban
renewal developer in the GBA that fosters both business growth and security.
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For other urban renewal projects, the signing rate of Phase Il of the Mangrove
Bay No. 1 Project has reached 100% and the construction has commenced.
As of 31 December 2022, the project entered into the stage of main body
construction and development when its construction has progressed to the
ground level. It is expected that the project will be able to meet the pre-sale
conditions by mid-2023, and contribute operating cash flows to the Group.
Furthermore, other urban renewal projects, such as the Shenzhen Liguang
Project, the Zhuhai Nanxi Project, and the Hong Kong Lau Fau Shan Project,
advanced progressively during the year. As a high-end residential project
in the luxurious residence zone of Nanwan, Xiangzhou, Zhuhai, the Zhuhai
Donggiao Project continued to contribute contracted sales, which amounted
to approximately RMB3,569.0 million, to the Group since its market launch in
October 2021. Located in a core area with well-established ancillary facilities,
the project ranked top ten for multiple times among the top-selling real estate
enterprises in Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai in terms of contracted sales during the
period. In 2023, the project is anticipated to maintain its prestigious position
as the hot offers in the region and generate cash inflows for the Group, thereby
enhancing the security of its operating cash flows.

During the period, adhering to the “two-pronged” development model of
“residential and commercial”, the Group developed a core commercial
ecosystem and optimized the ancillary facilities for better living experience of
residents, with a view to fostering synergistic value-added effects between the
cities and residential areas. Meanwhile, by accumulating commercial properties
located in the core areas of core cities of the GBA, the Group established two
major commercial property brands represented by NEO Urban Commercial
Complex and Zoll Shopping Centre. In recent years, the Group continued to
enhance its commercial operation capabilities and increase the number of
commercial properties, in a bid to expand its commercial property presence and
achieve upgrade in both quality and quantity. During the year, Zoll Mangrove
Shopping Centre staged its grand opening, which marked another significant
addition to the Zoll series. Huazhou Wanda Plaza has topped out in the first
half of 2022 and is expected to open in 2023. Recognised as a hallmark
project in Huazhou, the Huazhou Cultural Food Street Project is highly valued
by the Huazhou government and is expected to become an iconic landmark of
Huazhou with local history and human culture and customs. Leasing promotion
event of the project also commenced during the year. It is worth noting that the
LVGEM Hotel of the Group is located in the central business district of Futian
District, and was rented as a government control center for epidemiological
investigation in 2022. The LVGEM Hotel recognized an annual revenue of
approximately RMB119.9 million, which hit a record high among the recent
years. Over the past few years, the Group has been looking forward with visions
and dedicated actions. As a result, the total gross floor areas of commercial
properties owned, managed and operated by LVGEM (China) have exceeded a
million square meters as of 31 December 2022. Those properties contributed
steady and diversified rental income to the Group annually. Blossoming in spring
and bearing fruits in fall: The Group believes that it will be able to reap fruitful
results with its tireless efforts throughout the year eventually.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

With respect to financial management, strictly adopting the main theme of
“Focused and Prudent Development to Secure Sustainable Growth”, the Group
insisted on a highly secure financial structure based on bank loans, took initiative
to manage the size of its debt, actively deployed financing and refinancing
arrangements by diversifying the financing channels during the period to ensure
that our financial status remained stable within a secure range. During the year,
against the backdrop of difficulties with collapsing confidence in the real estate
sector, the Group completed the refinancing arrangements for the small public
bonds due in August 2022 by a combination of repayment and roll over with a
minimum of 60% roll over, backed by high-value quality assets. All Hong Kong
dollar commercial notes falling due during the year has been fully rolled over,
demonstrating investors’ solid confidence in the Group’s long-term development
and at the same time, significantly reducing the short-term pressure on the cash
flow of the Group. In 2022, the Group proactively reviewed the rapidly changing
market conditions, prepared well for the macro risks, reduced risk exposures in
advance and ensured security of the Group’s operations, accomplishing various
business milestones above expectations, which resulted in good news pouring
in. In July 2022, the Group successfully introduced Vanke, the leading property
enterprise, as a strategic shareholder of the Baishizhou Project. Vanke's vision
of pursuing long-term investment in the Baishizhou Project marked its high
recognition on the Group and the project. This has significantly enhanced the
security of the project, and will further boost the capital market’s confidence in
the successful development of the Baishizhou Project by the Group. In October
2022, the Baishizhou syndicate of banks has successfully formed with total bank
credit facility of approximately RMBZ20.7 billion, which will fully meet the capital
requirements for the demolition and relocation work relating to the Baishizhou
Project and the development and construction of its Phase |. The syndicate
will further provide a secure capital base for the project, driving the Baishizhou
Project to maturity persistently.

In terms of land reserve, as at 31 December 2022, the Group had land reserves
of approximately 7.048 million square meters, approximately 79% of which are
located in major cities in the GBA such as Shenzhen, Hong Kong, Zhuhai and
Dongguan. It is planned that such projects will be further injected into the listed
company in the future. As a leading real estate enterprise in the urban renewal
segment in the GBA, the Group currently has abundant land reserves, which
is expected to be sufficient for supporting the sustainable development of the
Group in the next 10 years. Without having to obtain land reserves from the
open market, the Group’s profitability with high gross profit margin was further
assured, which will safeguard the successful navigation of the Group throughout
the industrial cycles.
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During the year, the Group’s highly certain growth path and the long-term
prospect of sustainable development were further recognised by the industry
and was honoured with a host of awards. We were accredited as the “Top
10 Enterprises in Shenzhen’s Real Estate Development Industry in terms of
Comprehensive Strength”, “Integrity (Quality) Enterprise in Shenzhen Real
Estate Development Industry”, “Brand-value Enterprise among the Real Estate
Development Enterprises in Shenzhen” and “Socially Responsible Enterprise
in Shenzhen Real Estate Development Industry” by Shenzhen Real Estate
Association in 2022. It is worth noting that the Group has won the “Top
10 Creditworthy Real Estate Enterprises in Shenzhen” consecutively since
2009 and the “Top 10 Real Estate Development Enterprises in Shenzhen in
terms of Comprehensive Strength” consecutively since 2011. Meanwhile,
the Group was also recognised for its performance in property management
and received the “Outstanding Enterprise with 40 Years of Development in
the Property Management Industry in Guangdong Province” during the year.
Furthermore, leveraging the industry-leading green building concepts and the
excellent performance in major urban renewal projects, the Group received the
“Sustainable Development Award” at the 4th “Guru Club Greater China Best
Listed Company Awards” of Gelonghui, which demonstrated the remarkable
results achieved in respect of ESG and corporate governance. Staying focused
on the urban renewal market of the GBA and insisted on adhering to the regional
development strategy, the Group has continuously enhanced its ability to ensure
efficient operation of high quality real estates and will keep up its effort to reach
the ultimate goal despite the long and arduous journey.

Real Estate Development and Sales

During the reporting period, the Group took real estate development and sales as
its core business with its projects mainly located in the core areas of core cities
in the GBA. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the real estate development
and sales of the Group generated revenue of approximately RMB1,211.3 million
(2021: RMB3,392.4 million), representing a decrease of approximately 64.3%
year-on-year.

During the reporting period, the residential property market in Mainland China
continued to suffer from the market downturn. Short-term headwinds such
as recurring pandemic outbreaks and suspension of works and loans further
dampened market demand. The wait-and-see sentiment of home buyers
was strong and thus there was an urgent need to rebuild market confidence.
The sluggish market and slowdown of sales were common problems faced
by the whole industry. According to the data of China Index Academy, the
total sales recorded by the top 100 real estate enterprises in 2022 amounted
to approximately RMB7.6 trillion, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 41.3%, while the attributable sales amount and the attributable
sales areas of the top 100 real estate enterprises amounted to approximately
RMB5.4 trillion and approximately 330 million square meters, representing year-
on-year decreases of approximately 42.9% and 48.1%, respectively. The overall
contracted sales of the residential property market in the PRC were far from
optimistic. Nonetheless, the Group navigated through the mists of uncertainty
of the industry and played to the advantages of its project layout in core areas
of major cities under the “dual-core” strategy implemented over the years.
Leveraging the excellent geographical location and well-served ancillary facilities,
the Group’s residential properties have demonstrated high anti-risk capability
in terms of market pricing amid the tough market environment. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, the total contracted sales amounted to approximately
RMB4,004.8 million (2021: RMB4,233.8 million), outperforming the average
sales of the industry significantly. The Group continued to push ahead with the
urban renewal projects located in major cities in the GBA such as Shenzhen
and Zhuhai during the period, including the Shenzhen Baishizhou Project, the
Shenzhen Liguang Project, Phase Il of Shenzhen Shazui Project (Phase Il of
Mangrove Bay No. 1) and the Zhuhai Donggiao Project (LVGEM Royal Bay in
Zhuhai), which added new driving forces for the Group’s sales revenue in the
short-term and the operation and development in the long run.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project (hereinafter referred to as “Baishizhou
Project”) is a super-large complex development and construction project in the
core area of Shenzhen. The project proved its scarcity value and attracted wide
public attention since obtaining the approval from the competent authorities.
With a total planned gross floor area of approximately 5 million square meters
and a capacity gross floor area of approximately 3.58 million square meters, the
project is accredited as the “Grand Urban Renewal Project” in Shenzhen due
to its million-level project scale. The Baishizhou Project is located at the north of
Shennan Avenue, Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, adjacent to the Science and
Technology Park and the Overseas Chinese Town, which is currently the largest
and the most discussed and iconic urban renewal project in Shenzhen City. The
Baishizhou Project can be divided into three industrial functions, i.e. residential
properties, apartments and commercial properties. Adopting a scientific rolling
development model, it is expected to be completed in four phases within the
next eight to ten years. By collaborating with the top-notch architectural design
and research institutions and contractors with substantial competitive edges in
the PRC, the Group is confident and capable to develop the Baishizhou Project,
a hidden gem waiting to be revealed, into a world-class renowned landmark
complex, thereby building LVGEM’s reputation as an urban renewal brand and
actively giving back to the people residing in the GBA. During the period under
review, the Baishizhou Project progressed with frequent good news. In 2022, the
Group settled the land premium for the land parcel of Phase | of the Baishizhou
Project and obtained the land use right certificate, and the construction of the
project is underway in full swing. In September 2022, the first tower building
of Phase | of the Baishizhou Project officially completed the construction works
to the ground level and proceeded with the construction of the main structure
aboveground. As of 31 December 2022, the construction progress of Phase
| of the Baishizhou Project is satisfactory and the pre-sale, demolition and
relocation of the standard floors have been kicked off. The pre-sale is expected to
commence in the third quarter of 2023 as planned. Meanwhile, given the sound
foundation of the project, the Group successfully introduced Vanke as a strategic
shareholder of the Baishizhou Project in 2022, through which Vanke injected
short-term cash inflow in exchange for long-term investment in the Baishizhou
Project. The strong alliance has achieved a win-win situation for both parties,
which has been widely recognized by the capital market. In October 2022, it was
announced that the Baishizhou consortium led by China Everbright Bank along
with five other investing banks was established with total special credit lines of
approximately RMB20.7 billion, which will be able to satisfy the funding needs
for the demolition and relocation of the Baishizhou Project and the development
and construction of Phase | of the project, thereby further reinforcing the safety
of the Baishizhou Project and hence enhancing the market’s strong confidence
in the successful development of the Baishizhou Project. Only by overcoming
the most difficult trials can one achieve the most ambitious goals. After 10 years
of relentless efforts, the Baishizhou Project will be ushering in the harvest time
in 2023. The Group will certainly capture the opportunities stemming from the
occasion to officially enter into a new stage of rapid growth of business scale and
profits so as to live up to public expectations.

LVGEM Mangrove Bay No. 1 Project is the most iconic urban renewal project of
the Group in recent years. The project is located at the southeast corner of the
intersection of Shazui Road and Jindiyi Road in the central business district of
Futian District, Shenzhen, having convenient access to public transport and
strategically located in the proximity to Futian Port, Huanggang Port, Beijing-
Hong Kong-Macao Expressway and Metro Lines 3, 4 and 7. Phase | of the
LVGEM Mangrove Bay No. 1 Project was first launched for sale in October
2018 with a satisfactory sales performance, bringing considerable revenue to
the Group. In June 2021, the Group officially confirmed the operating entity of
Phase Il of the Mangrove Bay No. 1 Project, which comprises five quality sea-
view residential buildings with a site area of approximately 22,000 square meters
and a planned total gross floor area of 140,000 square meters. In July 2021,
Phase Il of the Mangrove Bay No. 1 Project commenced the demolition works.
Construction of the project progressed well during the year and the construction
works have been completed up to the ground level at the end of 2022. Currently,
it is carrying out the construction of the main structure aboveground. The pre-
sale is expected to commence in 2023, which will contribute contracted sales
and cash inflow to the Group.

BEENWEDN

BAMNETEHRER (THIBRAMER D EAFRITZL
WERMBALGESBHEZRIAR  HREERER BY

BUARGEHEEABEZET - ZBARBEREREY
5008 F 75 K - *+T§$%ﬁ%§%’9358%¥7\5% NEFERHH

ERBRERBARYNIELME] - AAMER _LE/‘ idll
Ml EREABIALL  BBNMREREGHAE

ARYITRERK - BEERS - %ﬂﬁ%'l&ﬂ’\]ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
HE - AAMNBERESRET  ABREE=IEEE WA
MBHRHHEFRN B ERKNE+ERTKIER T
HTiRER - BREE WTE%&E’U@?&&LE%H%V Bk
E®FGEEEAE  SEAREL  AREITUBARIMNE
ELLEEF%IJ%TLEXTLFE‘%Z&E’]%D%WFZ?E\‘%‘S &%=
Bk ERRERER - MBEHA - AAMERER

BRE. T —F gAML RS
T E AR BEHERWANE -RZE__FNA

BAMN—HEREgINEHEET  BEERNEAN L
IkLﬁMIe& @ —FEZ=F+=ZARA=+—H1"
HAM—HEREEEE E‘E%&L%mﬁ%i’iaﬁfi%ﬁ
Z &F?%%nyf FEZFTEMBAE - AR
ENEEEENES Elwfg::EMMaA%ﬂﬁ
¥RHBBRA TU%MDW%EEHEE%%%@%%v
ERNEHNRSRARREAANEE REHNIEE
FiBBEaMANAIERREREFHE - EE §$m%
BzRe]: —E-_—_F+A AAMNEREEMHERTK
MY ARIBITEE  ARRITLE AABEEESENE
ARE207ET  AlmEAAMNERFRENR — S EE
REF R E—FRSTHAMNEENT R - 8™
SHRAGMNEEEFFENESEL - REEH  BE
Fix AAMNBEEERE+HMGE S B0RKE>
M@0 mE FREARBEAFSRERD
MER - Tartes R -

BEARBSHRERRASEEAFEARKRENBTES
BE -BEMARYEREBEPOEER DERMNSH—
BRERRMA - BEFR - BLEH - 2EE0F 728
SRERAK - RME3 4 7RG BUEEE - SS4A

MESH-—HMEER_Z-N\FETAERAE  £LRE
B REEmERTSNNE - —T-—FNA A%H
EXERAMESH _HEmEER  —HeFnEaEEs
SEZET  HWEEL22BT K REGREMER
UEFITK - R-TZ—FL A AR/E S _HRB K

b FARLEERY ERZE_FEFLEET
BATERENRH EFEELEBETIHRE  BEitE_S==F
Ffﬁﬂ%i{ﬁi% Z%E.E\@( n\qﬁﬁ%fuiﬁﬁmb)\"

B (FE)HEREARLH

=B

—EER

15



Management Discussion and Analysis
B EmE DT

Shenzhen Liguang Project is a comprehensive residential, commercial and
industrial high-end industrial park project. The project occupies a site area of
approximately 85,000 square meters and a total gross floor area of approximately
382,000 square meters. The project is located in a well-established residential
district in Liguang Village, Guanlan Town, Longhua District, Shenzhen City,
adjacent to the Mid Valley Clubhouse of the Mission Hills Golf Club. Being a rare
quality large-scale ecological residential project in the urban area of Shenzhen
City, the project plan includes the development of a special commercial
district at the west side of the region, as well as the Liguang Ecological Park
on the grassland at the east side, aiming to meet the needs of the surrounding
environment and living needs of the community. During the reporting period, the
project planning and pre-construction preparations were in progress smoothly
with the contract rate reached 100%. The Group will continue to steadily push
forward various tasks in relation to the project in the coming year.

Zhuhai Donggiao Urban Renewal Project, officially renamed as LVGEM Royal
Bay, is one of the three pilot urban renewal villages in Zhuhai City and among
the first batch of projects that have officially commenced construction. It has
been repeatedly listed as the annual key urban development task of Zhuhai City.
In 2019, the Group has officially become the operating entity of the renewal
project for the old village in Donggiao and obtained all necessary administrative
approvals. This project marks an important milestone of LVGEM (China) in
terms of the urban renewal development and operation in Zhuhai. Located in
the sub-district of Nanwan, Zhuhai City, the project occupies a total site area
of approximately 207,000 square meters with a planned total gross floor area
of approximately 765,000 square meters. The project comprises high-end
residences, featured hotels, street-level cultural regions and other industrial
functions. Currently, the pre-sale of the project has commenced in October
2021, which contributed a new source of revenue and cashflow to the Group
on a continuous basis. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the project
contributed contracted sales of approximately RMB2,632.6 million of the Group.
With the successive introduction of favourable policies, the Group expects that
the market will bottom out in 2023, and the contracted sales of Royal Bay will
stage a decent recovery.

LVGEM International Garden is located in Huazhou, Maoming, Guangdong
Province. Situated in a well-developed traditional residential area, it is in
proximity to the Juzhou Park. It is well-served by public transport network and is
only approximately 10-minute drive from the city center. The project occupies a
site area of approximately 836,000 square meters and a planned total gross floor
area of approximately 2.248 million square meters. Leveraging the advantages
such as excellent geographical location, good ecological environment and
established ancillary educational facilities, the project has become a benchmark
real estate project in Huazhou. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
total contracted sales generated from LVGEM International Garden amounted
to approximately RMB1,037.7 million and recognised sales revenue was
approximately RMB639.5 million.

Hong Kong Lau Fau Shan Project is the Group’s first real estate development
project in Hong Kong, which marks the first move of the project
internationalisation of the Group’s brand and its successful expansion beyond
the PRC market. The project is located at Deep Bay Road, Lau Fau Shan, Hong
Kong. Embracing prime sea view and overlooking Deep Bay, the project is
geographically prestigious in Shenzhen with a site area of approximately 80,000
square meters. The project plan comprises approximately 116 low-density
waterfront villas, each of which has a gross floor area of approximately 2,000 to
3,000 square feet. The project has easy access to and from Mainland China.
Further, benefited from the proximity to Hung Shui Kiu development area, the
project is expected to see a further uptick in commercial value.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Future Prospect

Looking back over the past three years, the once-a-century pandemic has been
recurring and lingering. After an arduous struggle, the Central Government
has scientifically assessed the evolution of the pandemic and announced a
transition into a new phase of prevention and control measures for the COVID-19
pandemic. China has released a clear signal to home and abroad that it will
further open up to the world at a high level in 2023, which means that the order
of production and life in the country will be restored at a faster pace and the
endogenous economic growth momentum of China will be accumulated and
strengthened. In this context, a number of international authorities, including
the International Monetary Fund (IMF), have raised their expectations for
China’s economic growth in 2023. Goldman Sachs expects Chinese society
to come gradually out of the pandemic’s shadow in 2023, with a strong
rebound in household consumption as the main economic highlight. As winter
turns to spring, China’s annual GDP growth rate in 2023 is expected to be
approximately 5%, much higher than the estimated global economic growth rate
of approximately 2.7% in 2023. China will be one of the key engines of global
economic growth and an important force in improving the growth prospects of
the world economy.

With the strong potential for economic recovery, the launch of various
encouraging policies for the real estate industry, as a pillar industry of the
national economy, has accelerated its pace. The demand side has rebuilt the
confidence of home buyers through policies such as “procuring the delivery of
properties and stabilizing people’s livelihood”, which will gradually release both
rigid housing demand and demand for improved homes. On the supply side,
financing of real estate enterprises has continued to recover, the three channels
of credit financing, debt financing and equity financing for real estate enterprises
have all been opened up so that quality real estate enterprises that are not out of
risk have regained their vitality, and the industry has bottomed out and gradually
changed from high-speed development to high-quality development. At the
same time, according to the data of the Bureau of Statistics, property prices
have officially entered a phase of K-shaped divergence, high-end residential
properties in first-tier cities continued to increase in trading volume and price
even in the midst of the winter’s chill of the industry. The tide of downturn has
faded. Residential properties in core areas are more resilient to risks across
the historical cycles with their nature of high value and scarcity manifested.
Conversely, due to small economies and weak development potential, residential
property prices in third- and fourth-tier cities have fallen off a cliff and demand
for homes has been deferred or vanished. Looking forward, the industry has
reached a consensus that scarce projects in core districts will be more valuable
to purchase, and real estate enterprises that have established exposure in core
districts will be more competitive in the industry.

During the year under review, sticking to the strategic direction of “Focused and
Prudent Development to Secure Sustainable Growth”, LVGEM (China) looked
forward with visions and operated conscientiously and aggressively. It ensured
capital security on one hand, and strived to progress its projects as scheduled on
the other hand, overcoming all difficulties to ensure the cash flow was above the
threshold for security. A number of projects have achieved breakthrough results,
in particular the construction progress of Phase | of the Baishizhou Project, being
accredited as the “Grand Urban Renewal Project” in Shenzhen, was satisfactory.
The pre-sale will soon be commenced in 2023. It will then contribute leaping
growth of profit and cash inflows, further enhancing the security and brand
competitiveness of the Group. The Group will further develop itself into a well-
reputed urban renewal service provider and quality service operator in the GBA,
making contributions for the development of an international, modern and livable
bay area.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B EmE DT

Looking ahead, continuing to pursue the “dual-core” strategy to proactively
expand its presence in the core areas of core cities of the GBA, the Group will
be committed to developing unique, high-value and scarce property projects.
By harnessing the huge economic benefits arising from the marginal expansion
of city clusters in the GBA and encouraging policies, the Group will develop
prudently to secure sustainable growth in the alternating historical cycles of
real estate market. Sturdy grass withstands high winds, while genuine gold
stands the test of blaze. Further adhering to a moderate project scale, the
Group will undergo focused development of its existing urban renewal projects
to maintain considerable profitability. Meanwhile, it will be keenly aware of the
key opportunities arising from the construction and development of the GBA
to develop and innovate in an aggressive manner. Pursuing the grand vision of
“being the most respected city value-creator in the PRC”, the Group will develop
quality properties for the cities and mutually create joyful urban lifestyles for and
with the people residing in the GBA.

Financial Review

Revenue

The Group’s revenue mainly comprised of revenue from sales of properties
held for sale, leasing of investment properties and comprehensive services.
The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
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RMB2,340.9 million (2021: RMB4,378.0 million), representing a decrease of ARMA43780EETT) @ REFH D 446.5%  EEHK
approximately 46.5% as compared to the last year, which was mainly due to the B EFEMENWER DT -
decrease in revenue from sales of properties held for sale.
Increase/
2022 2021 (decrease)
—E=-= T —F #i CED)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 %
AREFIT AREFT AREFT
Real estate development and sales FEHERERIEE 1,211,312 3,392,354 (2,181,042) -64.3
Commercial property investment and operations 7 3£ ) 3£ % & BLAS & 702,042 642,633 59,409 9.2
Comprehensive services A R 427,567 343,030 84,537 24.6
Total st 2,340,921 4,378,017 (2,037,096) -46.5

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue from sales of properties
held for sale was approximately RMB1,211.3 million (2021: RMB3,392.4
million), representing a decrease of approximately 64.3% as compared to the
last year, which mainly includes the sales of LVGEM Joyful Town and LVGEM
International Garden. The Group’s total gross floor area of properties held for
sale recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately 115,323 square meters (2021: approximately 228,527 square
meters).

Revenue from leasing of investment properties for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately RMB702.0 million (2021: RMB642.6 million). The
Group’s commercial properties are all located in core areas. The properties
are mainly operated under the brands of “Zoll” and “NEQ”. Disregarding
the occupancy rate of Hong Kong LVGEM NEO, the occupancy rate of other
investment properties as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 maintained at a high
level of over 90%. The occupancy rate of Hong Kong LVGEM NEO as at 31
December 2022 was over 70% (2021: over 60%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group provides comprehensive services to customers and tenants of its
residential and commercial properties. These comprehensive services include
property management services, hotel operations, renovations and others. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, comprehensive services of the Group generated
revenue of approximately RMB427.6 million (2021: RMB343.0 million),
representing an increase of approximately 24.6% as compared to the last year.
The increase was mainly attributable to the increase of the service area of the
Group and revenue generated from the LVGEM Hotel being requisitioned as a
government centre for epidemiological investigation during the year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s integrated gross profit was
approximately RMB1,032.7 million (2021: RMB2,188.4 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 52.8% as compared to the last year, and the
integrated gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2022 was 44.1%
(2021: 50.0%). The fluctuation of gross profit was mainly caused by the revenue
recognised under different project portfolio. In 2021, approximately 32.7% of the
revenue was derived from the projects in Shenzhen, with a higher selling prices
as compared to that of Zhuhai and Huazhou while only approximately 8.3% of
the revenue in 2022 was derived from the projects in Shenzhen. The income
from sales of LVGEM Joyful Town and LVGEM International Garden accounted
for approximately 22.9% (2021: 26.5%) and 52.8% (2021: 29.6%) of the total
revenue in 2022 respectively.

Selling Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, selling expenses of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB106.9 million (2021: RMB164.3 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 35.0% as compared to the year due to the decrease
of property sales recognised in 2022. The selling expenses mainly included
advertising expenses and sales commissions for sales of properties.

Administrative Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, administrative expenses of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB553.2 million (2021: RMB564.8 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 2.1% as compared to the last year.
The administrative expenses mainly included the legal and professional fee
incurred in relation to the onshore and offshore financing activities in the current
year.

Fair Value Changes on Investment Properties

The valuation on the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2022
was conducted by an independent property valuer which resulted in a fair value
gain on investment properties of approximately RMB2,054.1 million (2021:
RMB2,567.4 million) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2022, finance costs of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB1,786.6 million (2021: RMB1,710.9 million), representing
an increase of approximately 4.4% as compared to last year due to increase of
total borrowings in 2022. The Group’s average finance cost of interest-bearing
loans was 6.9% (2021: 6.4%) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Income Tax Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, income tax expense of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB976.1 million (2021: RMB1,114.9 million).
The Group’s income tax expense included payments and provisions made for
EIT, LAT and deferred tax during the year. The decrease of income tax expenses
was mainly the result from the increase in PRC withholding tax on dividends
distributed by subsidiaries which was not incurred in 2021 and offset by the
decrease of provision of EIT and LAT in current year.

Operating Results

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the loss attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately RMB730.1 million (2021: profit attributable to
owners of the Company RMB1,152.6 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 163.3% as compared to the last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B EmE DT

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

Bank balances and cash (including restricted bank deposits) as at 31 December
2022 amounted to approximately RMB3,605.0 million (2021: RMB7,287.1
million). The Group’s bank balances and cash are denominated in RMB, Hong
Kong Dollar (“HK$”) and US$.

The Group had total borrowings of approximately RMB34,351.7 million as at 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB31,187.7 million). Borrowings classified as current
liabilities were approximately RMB12,768.8 million (2021: RMB9,851.6 million).
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Breakdown of total borrowings HWEERHA

By currency denomination #EHEE S E 5
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR FiT ARBFr
Denominated in RMB AARBEEHE 18,492,139 15,259,886
Denominated in HK$ LA TTRHE 8,542,239 8,532,416
Denominated in US$ LAZETTEHE 7,317,335 7,395,401
34,351,713 31,187,703

By fixed or variable interest rates HEE X FBFEE S

2022 2021
—E-= —ET-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR FT AR Fr
Fixed interest rates & 7E FI & 11,592,202 11,511,120
Variable interest rates FE) R = 22,759,511 19,676,583
34,351,713 31,187,703

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022 was approximately 99.3%
(2021: 81.2%), which was based on net debt (total interest-bearing loans net of
bank balances and cash (including restricted bank deposits)) over total equity.

Current, Total and Net Assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had current assets of approximately
RMB56,040.4 million (2021: RMB52,592.9 million) and current liabilities of
approximately RMB26,772.7 million (2021: RMB19,171.7 million), which
represented a decrease in net current assets from approximately RMB33,421.2
million as at 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB29,267.7 million as at
31 December 2022. The decrease in net current assets as at 31 December
2022 was mainly attributable to the decrease in bank balances and the increase
in the current liabilities portion of senior notes and bonds, contract liabilities
and borrowings, which was partially offset by the increase in deposits paid,
prepayments and other receivables.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded total assets of approximately
RMB99,704.6 million (2021: RMB84,942.1 million) and total liabilities of
approximately RMB68,728.1 million (2021: RMB55,501.3 million), representing
a liabilities to assets ratio of approximately 68.9% (2021: 65.3%). Net assets
of the Group were approximately RMB30,976.5 million (2021: RMB29,440.8
million) as at 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was able to utilise its internal
resources and debt and equity financing to meet the funding requirements for
the development of real estate projects.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2022, loans of approximately RMB24,235.6 million (2021:
RMB23,541.3 million) were secured by properties under development for sale,
properties held for sale, investment properties, property, plant and equipment,
equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, pledged
deposits and other receivables of the Group respectively in the total amount of
approximately RMB33,518.5 million (2021: RMB28,536.2 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had financial guarantee contracts relating
to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities for certain purchasers amounting
to approximately RMB2,525.9 million (2021: RMB1,814.4 million). Pursuant to
the terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage loans
together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers
to the banks.

The Group’s guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon the earlier of the buyer obtaining the individual
property ownership certificate or the full settlement of mortgage loans by the
buyer.

The Directors consider that it is not probable for the Group to sustain a loss
under these guarantees as during the periods under guarantees, the Group
can take over the ownerships of the related properties under default and sell
the properties to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the banks. The
Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect of these guarantees
as its fair value is considered to be minimal by the Directors. The Directors also
consider that the fair market value of the underlying properties is able to cover
the outstanding mortgage loans guaranteed by the Group in the event that the
purchasers default payments to the banks for their mortgage loans.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and Related Hedges

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the Mainland
China with most of the transactions denominated in Renminbi. The Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk arising from the exposure of Hong Kong dollars
and United States dollars against Renminbi as a result of certain cash balances
and loans in Hong Kong dollars or United States dollars.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
Directors monitor the Group’s foreign exchange exposure closely and may,
depending on the circumstances and trend of foreign currency, consider
adopting appropriate foreign currency hedging policy in the future.

Treasury Policies and Capital Structure

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and funding
policies, with a focus on risk management and transactions that are directly
related to the underlying business of the Group.

Employees

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a staff roster of 2,379 (2021: 2,281),
of which 2,354 (2021: 2,254) employees were based in the Mainland China
and 25 (2021: 27) employees were based in Hong Kong. The remuneration of
employees was in line with the market trends and commensurate to the levels of
remuneration in the industry. Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes
basic salaries, bonuses, retirement scheme and long-term incentives such as
share options within an approved scheme. In addition, training and development
programmes are provided to the Group’s employees on an on-going basis
throughout the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEAEGZBRE

Executive Directors

Ms. HUANG Jingshu, aged 35, is an Executive Director and Chairman of
the Company and is responsible for the overall business development of
the Company. From August 2012 to July 2013, Ms. HUANG served in the
Guangzhou branch of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Special General Partnership)
and her last position was analyst of Corporate Risk Management Service Division,
where she was primarily responsible for providing professional services to
clients. Since November 2010, Ms. HUANG started serving in Shenzhen LVGEM
Entity Management Group Co., Ltd. CRYITHAE S EEIREBABR A7) and
her position was the vice general manager of the investment management
department and was responsible for corporate development and planning
matters. Ms. HUANG obtained her Bachelor of Arts with Honours degree in
Accounting and Finance from University of Exeter in the United Kingdom in July
2010, and her Master of Science degree in Accounting and Finance in November
2011. Ms. HUANG was appointed as an executive director and the chairman of
the Company on 15 May 2014 and 5 June 2014 respectively. Ms. HUANG is the
daughter of Mr. WONG Hong King, the controlling shareholder of the Company,
the sister of Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan, an executive director of the Company, and the
cousin of Ms. LI Yufei, an executive director of the Company.

Mr. TANG Shouchun, aged 60, is an Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and is responsible for overall corporate investment
and finance matters, investor relationship and compliance management of the
Company. Mr. TANG was appointed as vice president of Shenzhen LVGEM
Entity Management Group Co., Ltd. (RIS EEEREEFRAA) in
October 2015 and operations director of the Company in February 2016. Prior
to joining Shenzhen LVGEM Entity Management Group Co., Ltd. O&IITH4x =
HEEBEBARAT]), Mr. TANG has been the deputy general manager of
Yue Xiu Enterprises (Holdings) Limited and executive director of Yuexiu Property
Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange). Mr. TANG studied
business administration in Nanjing Agricultural University in his early years
and obtained a doctor degree. After graduating, he has been vice professor in
university, senior management in Guangdong and Guangzhou large state-owned
enterprises (including Hong Kong listed companies) and was responsible for
finance, capital operation, legal, audit, strategic and operation management
matters. Mr. TANG is a vice professor, senior accountant, senior economist and
registered asset appraiser in China. Mr. TANG was appointed as an executive
director and chief executive officer of the Company on 31 March 2016.

Mr. YE Xingan, aged 59, is an Executive Director of the Company and is
responsible for the overall project development and management and business
branding management of the Company. He joined Shenzhen LVGEM Entity
Management Group Co., Ltd. CRYITHAR S EEREBER A F]) in March
2007 and served as the executive vice president and was responsible for its
overall operation management. Prior to joining the Company, from March
1993 to August 2002, Mr. YE served various positions in & &I %#AH B R
27 (China Vanke Co., Ltd.*), a company primarily engaged in real estate
development. From August 2002 to March 2005, Mr. YE served as a director
and general manager of Chengdu Xinyi Investment Industry Co., Ltd. (FX#&B0: &
HEEE AR AR]) and was primarily responsible for overall management. From
March 2005 to March 2007, Mr. YE served as a director and general manager of
Shenzhen Xinyi Real Estate Investment Development Co., Ltd. CRYIIT DG FEHE
EREZEABR AR and was primarily responsible for its overall management.
Mr. YE obtained his associate degree in accounting from Jiangxi College of
Finance and Economics (T PAEI#EZ8T, now known as Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics (TFERI4E A E2)) in the PRC in June 1986, and he
studied courses of master’s degree in business administration at International
Business Administration School of University of International Business and
Economics CEMOEE 5 R Z2EIR TEEE20) in the PRC from September
2000 to September 2001. Mr. YE was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 15 May 2014.

*

For identification purposes only (£ 5 51/
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan, aged 32, is an Executive Director of the Company and is
responsible for investment property operation and management of the Company.
Mr. HUANG joined Shenzhen LVGEM Entity Management Group Co., Ltd. (&
YIS EEEEEB AR AR in 2014, and served as the deputy general
manager of the Investment and Development Centre and was responsible
for formulating its strategic development and investment plans, as well as
responsible for project execution and the evaluation of potential projects. From
August 2016 to February 2017, Mr. HUANG served as a senior investment
manager of IR & EEIEAFR AR (Boshuang Assets Management Co., Ltd.*)
and was responsible for project development and evaluation and monitoring
of investments. Mr. HUANG possesses 9 years’ working experience in the real
estate industry in China. Mr. HUANG was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 21 February 2017. Mr. HUANG is the son of Mr. WONG Hong
King, the controlling shareholder of the Company, the younger brother of Ms.
HUANG Jingshu, an executive director and chairman of the Company, and the
cousin of Ms. LI Yufei, an executive director of the Company.

Ms. LI Yufei, aged 32, is an Executive Director of the Company and is responsible
for human relations of the Company. Ms. LI served various positions in /&3l
Mk S EHERRZEM AT (Shenzhen LVGEM Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.*), a subsidiary of the Company, from February 2015 to December
2018, namely, the assistant to General Manager of the Cost Management
Department, an investment manager of Strategic Investment Management
Department and an officer of Finance Department, respectively. Ms. LI joined
LVGEM (Suzhou) Real Estate Investment Company Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company, as the assistant to the chairman of the Company and the head of
the General Management Department of the Company in January 2019. Ms.
LI was appointed as a director of China LVGEM Property Holdings Limited, a
company indirectly wholly-owned by the controlling shareholder of the Company,
Mr. Wong Hong King, in August 2019. Ms. LI obtained the Degree of Bachelor
of Science in Economics from The Queen’s University of Belfast in the United
Kingdom in July 2013 and a Degree of Master of Science in Finance from The
University of Manchester in the United Kingdom in November 2014. Ms. LI was
appointed as an executive director of the Company on 1 June 2022. Ms. LI is
the cousin of Ms. Huang Jingshu, an executive director and the chairman of the
Company and Mr. Huang Hao Yuan, an executive director of the Company; and
the niece of Mr. Wong Hong King, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company.

*
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEAEGZBRE

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Jing, aged 55, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company and is responsible for providing independent judgement and
scrutinising the performance of the Company. Mr. WANG has served as a vice
president of JD.Com, Inc from August 2018 to January 2023. Mr. WANG has
served as a chief strategy officer of JD.Com, Inc (7FRESH Business Unit) from
October 2018 to April 2019. Mr. WANG has served as an independent director
of Dark Horse Venture (Beijing) Technology Co. Ltd (B2 ZH L )RR N A
fR 2 7)) (@ company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with a stock code of
300688) from January 2016 to October 2021. Mr. WANG obtained his Bachelor
of Engineering Degree from Heilongjiang Business School (B&E/I &) in
the PRC in July 1990, and his master’s degree in business administration from
University of International Business and Economics (£f4MEEE 5 AE2) in the
PRC in July 1997. Mr. WANG was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 15 May 2014.

Ms. HU Gin Ing, aged 64, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company and is responsible for providing independent judgement and
scrutinising the performance of the Company. Ms. HU has over 28 years of
experience in accounting and finance. Ms. HU was appointed as an independent
director of Acer Synergy Tech Corp. (BH RIS BB 2 7)) and Vigor Kobo
Company Limited, all of which were listed on the Taipei Exchange with a code
of 6751 and 2733, on 15 October 2019 and 28 June 2019 respectively. Ms. Hu
has been the vice chairman of the board of Benelife Management Limited* (&
ERHECEEEZM( LS BERAR) since February 2018. From December
2013 to April 2019 and from March 2011 to June 2020, Ms. HU has served as
an independent non-executive director of Carnival Group International Holdings
Limited (ZFZEBRIERAER A A]) and Enterprise Development Holdings
Limited ((ERIZAEHBR A 7)), both companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange with stock code of 996 and 1808 respectively. From July 2017 to June
2020, Ms. HU has served as the chairman of the board of directors of Benepet
Co., Ltd. (FFEAEEAMH AR A RA]). From January 2005 to July 2020, Ms. HU
has served as the director of NHL CPA Ltd., Hong Kong. From November 2013
to June 2022, Ms. HU has served as an independent non-executive director of
Superactive Group Company Limited (5o 2EBAR A F]) (formerly known
as United Pacific Industries Limited (KX TZABBR 2 A])), a company listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code of 176. Ms. HU obtained her
degree of Bachelor of Arts from National Taiwan University in June 1981, her
degree of Master of Science from Barry University in the United States of America
in May 1988 and her degree of Master of Business Administration from Florida
International University in the United States of America in August 1990. Ms. HU
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. HU was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 15 May
2014.

* For identification purposes only (£ £#t:% 5
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. MO Fan, aged 40, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
and is responsible for providing independent judgement and scrutinising the
performance of the Company. Mr. MO has over 16 years of experience in
financing. Mr. MO currently serves as a Chief Financial Officer of the joint venture
company of Vanke Service and Cushman & Wakefield. Mr. MO obtained his
Bachelor of Business Administration degree and a Bachelor of Communication
Engineering degree from Zhejiang University in the PRC in June 2005
respectively, and his Master of Science degree in Banking and Finance from
Loughborough University in the United Kingdom in December 2006. Mr. MO
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 8
April 2019.

Senior Management

Ms. HU Yong, aged 61, is the vice president of the Group and is responsible
for its financing. Prior to joining the Group in January 2005, from July 2003
to December 2004, Ms. HU served as the assistant to general manager in
China Jiantou Commerce & Trading Co., Ltd. (FEIZHZ AR A F]) and was
responsible for finance duties. From January 1987 to January 2001, she served
in various positions in Shenzhen Petrochemical Chemical Co., Ltd. O&IIIA1E
{ETHBBRZAT]), including deputy general manager from July 1996 to January
2001. She was responsible for financial and accounting matters. Ms. HU
obtained her associate degree in accounting from Shenzhen University GZIIIR
B2) in July 1989, and studied strategic financing management courses in the
Research Institute of Tsinghua University in Shenzhen CFIIFEEEAZHF5557) in
the PRC in April 2008.

Mr. REN Honghing, aged 54, is the vice president of the Group and is responsible
for the project construction and development. Mr. REN joined the Group
in March 2001. He had served various positions including the vice general
manager and general manager of Zhuhai LVGEM Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. GRBLSEHERMZE AR AR and was responsible for project
development. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. REN served as various positions
in Shenzhen Huatai Enterprises Company (RIIZEZ %A 7)) and was
responsible for technology and engineering matters. Mr. REN obtained his
bachelor’s degree in industrial and civil buildings (T # &R HE) from
Yangzhou Construction Engineering Institute (351325 TI2E24%) in the PRC in
July 1988, and his Master of Business Administration degree from University of
Wales in January 2012.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to present their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

A review of the business of the Group during the year under review and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development, possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing and important events affecting the
Company occurred during the year ended 31 December 2022 are provided in
the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 7 and the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 8 to 21 of this annual
report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December
2022 using financial performance indicators is provided in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 8 to 21 of this annual report.

Principal Activities

The Group is principally engaged in property development and property
investment businesses.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, the Board was
not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had
a significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital importance to the
long term development of the Group. In order to minimise the environmental
impact, the Group will continue to review and improve the effectiveness of its
management practices from time to time.

“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” will be published at the same
time as the publication of this annual report. The English and Chinese versions
of the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” are available to be
viewed and/or downloaded on the Company’s website at www.lvgem-china.com
(by clicking “Announcement & Circulars” under the section headed “Investors
Relations”) and the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Results and Dividend

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the state
of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 60 to 222.

The Board does not recommended the payment of any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Convertible Bonds and Share Capital

Details of the movements in the Company’s convertible bonds and share capital
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in notes 30 and 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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Distributable Reserves
Pursuant to the applicable statutory provisions of the Cayman Islands, the

Company’s reserves available for distribution as at 31 December 2022,
amounted to approximately RMB1,153.6 million (2021: RMB909.5 million).

Donations

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group made charitable
donations amounting to RMB830,000.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Principal Properties

Details of the principal properties for investment purposes and properties under
development for sale are set out on pages 224 to 232.

Pre-Emptive Rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of

association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 223.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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Significant Investments, Acquisitions And Disposals

On 7 June 2022, Intelligent City Development Limited, Shenzhen Sida Industrial
Development Co., Ltd.* CRINTAPEE 2 EFER A F]) (an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) (the “Target Company”) and Shenzhen
Shenquan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* CRII T A2 EHERZE R
fR A &) (the “Investor”) entered into a subscription agreement, pursuant to
which the Investor agreed to inject approximately RMB2.3 billion into the Target
Company. Immediately after completion of such subscription, the Investor will
be interested in approximately 8% of the enlarged equity interest in the Target
Company, and the Group’s interest in the Target Company will be diluted from
100% to 92%. The relevant dilution is considered to be a deemed disposal of the
Company’s interest in a subsidiary according to Rule 14.29 of the Listing Rules.
For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 7 June 2022
and the Company’s circular dated 30 June 2022.

Other than the above deemed disposal, during the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group did not make any other significant investments, acquisitions or
disposal that would constitute a discloseable transaction under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules.

Based on the financial and liquidity position of the Group (with details set out
in the paragraphs headed “Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing” of this
report), to the best knowledge of the Company, the Company expects that it will
be able to meet its redemption obligations under the outstanding convertible
securities issued by it.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)

Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YE Xingan

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan

Ms. LI Yufei (appointed on 1 June 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Jing
Ms. HU Gin Ing
Mr. Mo Fan

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Ms. HUANG
Jingshu, Mr. YE Xingan and Ms. HU Gin Ing will retire by rotation. All the above
Directors being eligible for re-election, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an
annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company considers such
Directors were independent.

*  For identification purposes only 1€ 2555
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on
pages 22 to 25.

Directors’ Service Agreements

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company and is subject to termination by either party in the manner as set out in
the service agreement.

The non-executive Director and each of the independent non-executive Directors
have entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of two
years; and is subject to termination by either party in the manner as set out in the
letter of appointment.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting have a service agreement or letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries not determinable by the employing
company within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, none of the
Directors or an entity Connected with the Directors, and controlling shareholders
of the Company had a material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Remuneration of the Directors and the Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is determined with
reference to their duties, responsibilities and performance and the Group’s
results.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had the following interests in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the

EEREFETRAEREAQFANRES - 8
BARORESFTHERNES
R-B-—#+-A=1—0 RAQAREIS R

1501 ([ RIS D)) 302G EFHNELMAR - &
ERARBEEZTBAERARRE Z KM - BRERG RE

Company pursuant to section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance FHRER TXFIMERD BB ETARAAESHESET
(the “SFO"), or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange BHERXHWRETRENEM T NS AR T KR
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Mg o
Issuers of the Listing Rules.
(A) Interest in shares and underlying shares of the Company A RAEQXTBRDWERSRABBERKDZEDS
Number of underlying Approximate
shares (under equity percentage of the
Long position/ Capacity/Nature Number of derivatives of the Aggregate  issued share capital
Name of Director Short position of interests shares held Company) held interests of the Company
FREERGEE
(REARRA EEDBRERT
EspsE #R/ %A 513/ BHEEE FERHEE fTETAT) ERAE REZEHEIN
Ms. HUANG Jingshu Long Position Beneficiary of a trust 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.08%
B G e EANZHEA (Note 1)
(Hiz1)
Long Position Interests of spouse - 2,326,062,492 2,326,062,492 45.63%
e il (Note 2)
(Hiz#2)
Long Position Beneficial owner - 4,500,000 (Note 3) 4,500,000 0.09%
e ERAA (H7#3)
Mr. TANG Shouchun Long Position Beneficial owner - 10,000,000 (Note 3) 10,000,000 0.20%
EEELE e ERBAA (H#3)
Mr. YE Xingan Long Position Beneficial owner - 10,000,000 (Note 3) 10,000,000 0.20%
EERTRaE e ERHAA (H##3)
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan Long Position Beneficiary of a trust 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.08%
BhREE e EREMZAA (Note 1)
(Hrz£1)
Long Position Beneficial owner - 4,500,000 (Note 3) 4,500,000 0.09%
e ERAEA (H##3)
Ms. LI Yufei Long Position Beneficial owner 20,000 - 20,000 0.00%
EE N e ERlAA
Mr. WANG Jing Long Position Beneficial owner - 3,000,000 (Note 3) 3,000,000 0.06%
THEE e ERBAA (H73)
Ms. HU Gin Ing Long Position Beneficial owner - 3,000,000 (Note 3) 3,000,000 0.06%
i . e ERAEA (H##3)
Notes: Hiat -

1. Ms. HUANG Jingshu and Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan are deemed to be
interested in 2,400,000,000 shares in the Company by virtue of them being
beneficiaries of the family trust of Mr. WONG Hong King for the purpose of
Part XV of the SFO.

2. Ms. HUANG Jingshu is deemed to be interested in 2,326,062,492
convertible preference shares held by Mr. Xu Jun Jia, her spouse, for the
purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

3. Share options were granted to the respective Directors on 28 June 2016.
Details of share options granted to the Directors of the Company are set out
in part (B) of this section.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in the Shares, EERIETHAEREAQATNER®G - 48
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company (Cont'd) ARORESFTHEENES (&)

(A) Interest in shares and underlying shares of the Company (Cont'd) A REQTARGHWERRABERG ZER (B)
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the BENXHEEEN R_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H" K
Company’s Directors, chief executive of the Company and their RAIZEE ARAEBTHRABRESEZHMEA
associates, had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying BER A QR S AR BB AR 2% m - 8RR,
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations SEFEATMAERIAR  MHIRBFHFRAE K
that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO. B 535214 F LAGR 8% ©

(B)  Long position in underlying shares — share options (B) MHEROKZHFE-BRE
Under the share option scheme of the Company, share option may be BEARAR 2 ERETS - BRETRTETLH
granted to certain participants including the Directors and employees ANBRESERARTREMNBARZEE) ARE
of the Company and its subsidiaries to subscribe for the shares of the ARE 2R - RFERNEFRB 2BREFHBOT -

Company. Details of share options held by the Directors during the year
are as follows:

Number of share options
BREYE
Granted Exercised Lapsed Balance at Exercise
Balance at during turing during 31 December price per
Name of Director Date of grant  Exercisable period 1 January 2022 the year the year the year 2022 share
dd/mmiyyy  dd/immiyyyy HK$
R=Bzzf R=Bz=Zf
-B-H TZA=t-8H
fELA RHAH TEsH 28 RERRH RERTE RERXH ek ] BRTEE
B/R/% B/R/% AT
Ms. HUANG Jingshu 28/06/2016  28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 4,500,000 - - - 4,500,000 1.846
ELiCil s (Note 1) (Note 2)
(i) (Wi#2)
Mr. TANG Shouchun 28/06/2016  28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 1.846
EEERLE (Note 1) (Note 2)
(Hrzt1) (Hrit2)
Mr. YE Xingan 28/06/2016  28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 1.846
ERREE (Note 1) (Note 2)
(1) (Ht2)
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan 28/06/2016  28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 4,500,000 - - - 4,500,000 1.846
BERLE (Note 1) (Note 2)
(Hrt1) (Hri2)
Mr. WANG Jing 28/06/2016  28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 1.846
THEE (Note 1) (Note 2)
(Hrzt1) (Hrit2)
Ms. HU Gin Ing 28/06/2016  28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 1.846
FELt (Note 1) (Note 2)
(1) (Ht2)
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company (Cont'd)

(B) Long position in underlying shares — share options (Cont'd)

Notes:

1. The share options are exercisable in the following manner for a period of 10
years from the date of grant:

(i) 30% of the share options shall exercise on the date of the grant and
up to 27 June 2026;

(ii) 30% of the share options shall exercise upon the expiry of one year
from 28 June 2016 and up to 27 June 2026; and
(iii) 40% of the share options shall exercise upon the expiry of two years

from 28 June 2016 and up to 27 June 2026.

2. Details of the fair value of the options granted in 2016 are set out in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

So far as known to the Company, as at 31 December 2022, shareholders (other
than Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Ordinary shares B R R0
Approximate
percentage of
the issued
Number of ordinary share
Long position/short Number of underlying Aggregate capital of the
Name of Shareholder position Capacity shares held shares held Interests Company  Nofes
HARRT
ERTEER
FERH  FEERRS BAZES
RE#EE/ 28 #E/ %A &t weR EEE] ERAR Bal W
China LVGEM Property Holdings Long position Beneficial owner 1,265,266,583 - 1,265,266,583 24.82% 1
Limited (“China LVGEM") e EREEA
PEESHERRARAT
(THhEsR]) Long position Interests of conrolled corporation 107,142,511 - 107142511 2.10% 1
ifE REERER
Short position Interests of controlled corporation - 314,000,000 314,000,000 6.16% 1
we REERER
Go Great International Limited Long position Interests of controlled corporation 1,372,409,094 - 1372/400,094 26.92% 1
 (Go Great") N ifE REEEER
REEBRERAA (%]
Short position Interests of controlled corporation - 314,000,000 314,000,000 6.16% 1
we REERER
Mr. WONG Hong King Long position Interests of controlled corporation 1,372,409,004 - 1,372,409,094 26.92% 1
(*Mr. WONG') i EEI LB
BREiE(ERLE))
Short position Interests of controlled corporation - 314,000,000 314,000,000 6.16% 1
we REERER
Long position Founder of a trust 2,400,000,000 - 2/400,000,000 47.08% 2
ifE (ER:ATN
Kinson Group Limited Long position Beneﬂ_cial owner 2,400,000,000 - 2400,000,000 47.08% 2
REEEERAT itE ExBA
Evergreen Holdings Limited Long position Interests of controlled corporation 2,400,000,000 - 2/400,000,000 47.08% 2
e REEEER
Cantrust (Far East) Limited Long position Interests of controlled corporation 2,400,000,000 - 24400,000,000 47.08% 2
e REERER
WKkland Investments V Limited Long position Beneficial owner 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 5.89% 3
A EREEA
China Vanke Co., Ltd ¥ Long position Interests of controlled corporation 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 5.89% 3
ENOERAARAT A REERER
Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited Long position Person having a security interest in shares - 1032830000  1,032,830,000 20.26% 4
A HERDORERGNHA
Long position Beneficial owner - 284,000,000 284,000,000 5.57% 4
A ExBA

* For identification purposes only (£ 5
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and Underlying FTERRRAATNRP RABBRHG T &

Shares of the Company (Cont'a) EWkER (&)
Ordinary shares (Cont'd) ZERRGD (E)
Approximate
percentage of
the issued
Number of ordinary share
Long position/short Number of underlying Aggregate capital of the
Name of Shareholder position Capacity shares held shares held Interests Company  Nofes
BARR
ERTERR
iRt  FREBERG BAZHH ‘
REHEE/ 2% R/ %A &t EEE] EE] ERAR Aot W
Greater Bay Area Homeland Long position Interests of controlled corporation - 1316830000 1,2316,830,000 25.83% 4
Development Fund (GP) Limited e REEEER
Greater Bay Area Homeland Long position Interests of controlled corporation - 1316830000  1,2316,830,000 25.83% 4
Investments Limited e RELEER
AEERARREREBRAA
Lexus Sharp International Limited Long position Beneficial owner - 788,295,246 788,295,246 15.46% 5
& ExfEAA
ARTE Special Situation Fund, L.P. Long position \Eterests of controlled corporation - 788,295,246 788,295,246 15.46% 5
e LR RR
ARTE Capital | GP Limited Long position \Eterests of controlled corporation - 788,295,246 788,295,246 15.46% 5
e REEEER
ARTE Holdings Limited Long position \Eterests of controlled corporation - 788,295,246 788,295,246 15.46% 5
e RELEER
CHAN Tak Ho Long position Interests of controlled corporation - 788,295,246 788,295,246 15.46% 5
RER & XEiERER
BCC Verde Investments, Limited Long position Beneficial owner - 788,295,246 788,295,246 15.46% 6
e E=fAA
Bain Capital DSS Loan Aggregator, L.P.  Long position \Eterests of controlled corporation - 788,295,246 788,295,246 15.46% 6
HE REEEER
Bain Capital Credit Member, LLC Long position \ﬂterests of controlled corporation - 788,295,246 788,295,246 15.46% 6
e REEEER
Pacific Alliance Asia Opportunity Long position Beneficial owner - 261,666,666 261,666,666 5.13% 7
Fund LP. 5 EREAA
Pacific Alliance Group Asset Long position Interests of corporation controlled - 261,666,666 261,666,666 5.13% 7
Management Limited 5 RELEER
Pacific Alliance Investment Long position Interests of corporation controlled - 261,666,666 261,666,666 5.13% 7
Management Limited e REEEER
Pacific Alliance Group Limited Long position Iﬂterests of corporation controlled - 261,666,666 261,666,666 5.13% 7
itE REEEER
PAG Holdings Limited Long position Interests of corporation controlled - 261,666,666 261,666,666 5.13% 7
& REZEER
SHAN Weijian Long position Iﬂterests of corporation controlled - 261,666,666 261,666,666 5.13% 7
BREER ifE REEEER
Mr. XU Jun Jia Long position Interests of spouse 2,404,500,000 - 2,404,500,000 47.17% 8
e [l 4
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company (Contd)

Ordinary shares (Cont'd)

Notes:

1. China LVGEM is owned as to 100% by Go Great, which is in turn owned as to 100%
by Mr. WONG. Accordingly, Go Great and Mr. WONG are deemed to be interested in
the 1,372,4090,094 shares held by China LVGEM.

2. Kinson Group Limited is owned as to 100% by Evergreen Holdings Limited, and
Evergreen Holdings Limited is owned as to 100% by Cantrust (Far East) Limited,
acting as the trustee for the family trust of Mr. WONG.

3. Wkland Investments V Limited is indirectly owned as to 100% by &R %MD AR
/A7) (China Vanke Co., Ltd.*). Accordingly, BRIMZEREH AR A E] (China Vanke
Co., Ltd.*) is deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000 shares held by Wkland
Investments V Limited.

4., Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited is indirectly owned as to 100% by Greater
Bay Area Homeland Development Fund (GP) Limited, which is indirectly owned
by Greater Bay Area Homeland Investments Limited as to 100%. Accordingly,
Greater Bay Area Homeland Development Fund (GP) Limited and Greater Bay Area
Homeland Investments Limited are deemed to be interested in the 1,316,830,000
Shares in which Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited is interested.

5. Lexus Sharp International Limited is owned as to 100% by ARTE Special Situation
Fund L.P., which is in turn controlled as to 100% by ARTE Capital | GP Limited.
ARTE Capital | GP Limited is owned as to ARTE Investment Partners Limited as to
90%, which is indirectly owned by ARTE Holdings Limited, which is owned by Mr.
CHAN Tak Ho as to 50%. Accordingly, ARTE Special Situation Fund L.P., ARTE
Capital | GP Limited, ARTE Holdings Limited and Mr. CHAN Tak Ho are deemed to
be interested in the 788,295,246 Shares in which Lexus Sharp International Limited
is interested.

6. BCC Verde Investments, Limited is owned as to 100% by Bain Capital DSS Loan
Aggregator, L.P., which is in turn controlled as to 100% by Bain Capital Credit
Member, LLC as general partner. Accordingly, Bain Capital DSS Loan Aggregator,
L.P. and Bain Capital Credit Member, LLC are deemed to be interested in the
788,295,246 Shares in which BCC Verde Investments, Limited is interested.

7. Pacific Alliance Asia Opportunity Fund L.P. is owned as to 100% by Pacific Alliance
Group Asset Management Limited as general partner, which is in turn controlled
as to 100% by Pacific Alliance Investment Management Limited. Pacific Alliance
Investment Management Limited is owned by Pacific Alliance Group Limited as
to 90%, which is indirectly owned by PAG Holdings Limited as to 99.17%. PAG
Holdings Limited is owned as to 35.21% by Mr. SHAN Weijian. Accordingly,
Pacific Alliance Group Asset Management Limited, Pacific Alliance Investment
Management Limited, Pacific Alliance Group Limited, PAG Holdings Limited and
Mr. SHAN Weijian are deemed to be interested in the 261,666,666 Shares in which
Pacific Alliance Asia Opportunity Fund L.P. is interested.

8. Mr. XU Jun Jia is deemed to be interested in 2,404,500,000 ordinary shares held by
Ms. HUANG Jingshu, his spouse, for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

* For identification purposes only (£ 5
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90% 2 1z * MARTE Investment Partners Limited 8] ARTE
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A1 A A o

MESZREEPIEXVETF - FFERFERERR AN ELLE
EET R AR 22,404,500,000/% i AR P HE B #Eas o

g (FE)HBEREARAT 35

S5



Directors’ Report
EEERE

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company (Contd)

FERRAARQANRG RBER G+ %
BHER#)

Convertible preference shares AR ELRRSG
Approximate
percentage
Number of of the issued
convertible ordinary share
Long position/ preference capital of the
Name of Shareholder short position Capacity shares held Company  Notes
HERAABRT
FETRR  ZERBEZ
RRER BE/ %R 5% BERROEE BRHEIE M7
China LVGEM Long position Beneficial owner 693,043,478 13.60% 1
F AR e ERHEEA
(_%9 Great Long position Interests of controlled corporation 693,043,478 13.60% 1
=% e REEEER
Proud Pine Limited Long position Benefifial owner 284,000,000 5.57% 2
HRER AT e ExBAA
Mr. WONG Long position Interests of controlled corporation 977,043,478 19.17% 1&2
BE4E e R EE R
All Group Wise International (Holdings) Limited  Long position Beneﬁfial owner 1,060,000,000 20.79% 3
BEERER)BRAR e ERBEA
Glorious Castle International Limited Long position Beneflcial owner 1,266,062,492 24.84% 4
REERERAR A ExAA
Grand Beyond Limited Long position Interests of controlled corporation 1,266,062,492 24.84% 4
SHARRA e AR R
Mr. XU Jun Jia Long position Interests of controlled corporation 2,326,062,492 45.63% 3&4
FREEE A RiEEEER
Notes: Hiat -

1. China LVGEM is owned as to 100% by Go Great, which is in turn owned as to 100%
by Mr. WONG. Accordingly, Go Great and Mr. WONG are deemed to be interested in
the convertible preference shares and derivative interests held by China LVGEM.

2. Proud Pine Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. WONG. Accordingly, Mr. WONG is
deemed to be interested in the convertible preference shares and derivative interests
held by Proud Pine Limited.

3. All Group Wise International (Holdings) Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. XU Jun
Jia. Accordingly, Mr. XU Jun Jia is deemed to be interested in the 1,060,000,000
convertible preference shares held by All Group Wise International (Holdings)
Limited.

4. Glorious Castle International Limited is owned as to 100% by Grand Beyond Limited,
which is in turn owned as to 100% by Mr. XU Jun Jia. Accordingly, Grand Beyond
Limited and Mr. XU Jun Jia are deemed to be interested in the 1,266,062,492
convertible preference shares held by Glorious Castle International Limited.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

The Group remunerates and provides benefits for its employees based on
current industry practice. Discretionary bonuses are awarded to staff based on
the financial performance of the Group and performance of individual staff.

In addition, share options may be granted to eligible employees in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Company’s share option scheme.

For details of the Company’s key relationships with employees, please refer to
“Employees” paragraph under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on page 21 of this annual report.
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Retirement Schemes

The Group participates in several defined contribution retirement plans which
cover the Group’s eligible employees in China, and a mandatory provident fund
scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of these retirement plans
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Options

The existing share option scheme of the Company was adopted on 2 June 2016.
The share option scheme was adopted for the purpose of enabling the Company
to grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the movements in the share
options are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, no rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to
any of the Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Major Suppliers and Customers

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 30%
— five largest suppliers combined 78%
Sales

— the largest customer 7%
— five largest customers combined 9%

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and its five largest customers.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save for (i) the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements; and (ii) the different convertible bonds of
the Company as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements,
there was no other equity-linked agreements entered into by the Company which
subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group in the
normal course of business are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company has complied with the relevant disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors had any interest in the businesses which compete or are
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
that were required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be published in
compliance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as
set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules at the same time as the publication of
this annual report.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 40 to 52 of this report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share
capital was held by the public during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up
to the date of this report.

Changes in Directors’ Information

Changes in directors’ information since the date of the 2022 interim report of the
Company and up to the date of this report which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are as follows:

Mr. WANG Jing resigned as a vice president of JD.Com, Inc with effect from
1 February 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change to the Directors’ information as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Events after the Reporting Period

Subsequent to 31 December 2022, the Company has arranged the remittance
of all necessary funds to the trustee of the 12% notes for the repayment of all
outstanding principal amount and accrued interest before their maturity date
on 10 March 2023. The date of remittance for such notes is 7 March 2023. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 10 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above and the matters disclosed under the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report, the Board is not aware of
any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
(“Deloitte”) who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. Save as aforesaid, there was no change in auditor of the Company
in any of the preceding three years.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte as the auditor of the Company will

be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

HUANG Jingshu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERME

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate practices and
procedures. The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise
a quality board, transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the
Company.

Corporate Governance Practices

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group complied with all
the code provisions of Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Group’s corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the Code.

Board Of Directors
Board Composition

The Board comprises five executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors. All five executive Directors are members of the executive
committee of the Company responsible for dealing with the business of the
Company in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations, including
but not limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) have been consulted on all major and material matters of the
Company.

The Board members as at the date of this report were:
Executive Directors

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)

Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YE Xingan

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan

Ms. LI Yufei

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Jing
Ms. HU Gin Ing
Mr. MO Fan

Further details of the current Directors are set out on pages 22 to 25 under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of
this report.

The number of independent non-executive directors meets the requirements
under the Listing Rules.
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Board of Directors (Cont'd)
Board Composition (Cont'd)

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are held
separately by two executive directors to ensure their respective independence,
accountability and responsibility. The Chairman is responsible for determining
overall business strategies of the Group. The duty of the Chairman is to work
closely with audit, nomination and remuneration committee of the Company
and to ensure that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely and constructive manner. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible
to work closely with the executive committee of the Company to ensure
management strategies, plans and performance of the Group are appropriately
carried out in accordance with to the Board’s decision and to provide guidance
to the Board on major issues.

The Board is responsible for corporate strategy, annual and interim results,
succession planning, risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and capital
transactions, and other significant operational and financial matters. Major
corporate matters that are specially delegated by the Board to the management
include the preparation of annual and interim accounts for Board approval
before public reporting, execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted
by the Board, implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and risk
management procedures, and compliance with relevant statutory requirements
and rules and regulations.

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board including but not limited to, all Directors are
entitled to retain independent professional advisors as and when it is required, all
Directors are encouraged to express their views in an open and candid manner
during the Board or committees meetings and that the number of independent
non-executive Directors comply with the requirements of the Listing Rules that at
least one-third of the Board members are independent non-executive directors.
The implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms are reviewed on an
annual basis by the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. The Company had
made letters of appointment with all the independent non-executive Directors
for a term of two years which may be terminated by either party by giving one
month’s written notice; and subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.
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EXREREHE

Board of Directors (Contd)

Attendance Record at Board Meetings

For the year ended 31 December 2022, four full Board meetings were held, two
of which were the regular ones held at approximately semi-annually intervals, to

review the business of the Group and approve the financial results of the Group.

The attendance of individual members at the meetings of the Board are set out
as follows:

ExgedHERes

BE—_Z-_—_+=-RA=

THLEFE  REEKFERT

REZEEH HPMABROEFFERRIT —R2E
EReH  UEBARBZEB M EAR KRB Z MRS -

BRgrzewnTEKEZHFEBERATINAT

Meetings attended/
Number of Meetings held
HESBERE BITEBERE

Executive Directors BITEE

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman) mWE AL (FE)

Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer) EEELE (TTHAE)

Mr. YE Xingan B E

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan =EREE

Ms. LI Yufei (appointed on 1 June 2022) TaR M (R=ZFZZFNNA—HEZE)
Non-Executive Director HHITESE

Mr. CHEN Wei Sheng (resigned on 25 July 2022) EEEE (R-ZEZ —F+H =+ 7 HF)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHHITEE

Mr. WANG Jing T A&

Ms. HU Gin Ing [ e

Mr. MO Fan S

Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring Board approval were arranged
by means of circulation of written resolutions of all Board members.

Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can ask for
further information or retain independent professional advisors if necessary.
They also have access to the advice and services of the company secretary, who
is responsible for providing Directors with Board papers and related materials
and ensuring that Board procedures are followed. Directors are given sufficient
time for discussion at the Board meetings. Where queries are raised by Directors,
prompt and full responses will be given if possible.

Directors’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate directors and officers liability insurance
in respect of legal action against Directors.

Directors’ Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors receive comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on their appointments, so as to ensure that they have appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Group and that they are fully aware of their
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements. There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors at the Company’s expenses
whenever necessary.

Pursuant to Code C.1.4, Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. During the
year, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development activities by ways of attending trainings, reading materials or
conducting academic research relevant to the Company’s business or to the
Directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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Board of Directors (Contd)
Model Code for Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. The obligation to follow the Listing Rules is set out in the terms of
the service agreements of each executive Director and the letters of appointment
of each independent non-executive Director. Having made specific enquiry of all
the Directors, the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Board Committees

The Company currently have four committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Executive Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Terms of reference
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Executive Committee are available on the websites of the Company
(www.lvgem-china.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk). The
Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 14 November 2005 with
terms of reference in compliance with the Code. In view of the implementation
of the Stock Exchange’s consultation conclusions on “Review of the Corporate
Governance Code and Related Listing Rules” effective on 1 January 2019, a
revised terms of reference of the Audit Committee was adopted by the Board on
31 January 2019.

The Audit Committee consists of independent non-executive directors only. The
members of the Audit Committee as at the date of this report are as follows:

Ms. HU Gin Ing (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Jing
Mr. MO Fan

Ms. HU Gin Ing, who possess a professional accounting qualification and
relevant accounting experience, is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. No
member of the Audit Committee is a member of the former or existing auditor of
the Company.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and approve the
financial reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s interim
results for the six months ended 30 June 2022. The Group’s final results for the
year ended 31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the members of the Audit
Committee before submission to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the
applicable accounting standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure
has been made. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems.
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TEERRE

Board Committees (Contd)

Audit Committee (Cont'd)

Three meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year. The
attendance of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members

RENERZESHBTREE - GLKEZHFEIBR
;AT -

Meetings attended/Number of Meetings held

REER HESBXE BTEERH
Mr. WANG Jing TR A& 2/3
Ms. HU Gin Ing [ 3/3
Mr. MO Fan ENEE 3/3

Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 14 November 2005 with
terms of reference in compliance with the Code. In view of the implementation
of the Stock Exchange’s consultation conclusions on “Review of the Corporate
Governance Code and Related Listing Rules” effective on 1 January 2019, a
revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was adopted by the
Board on 31 January 2019.

The members of the Nomination Committee include one executive director
and two independent non-executive directors. The members of the Nomination
Committee as at the date of this report are as follows:

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Jing
Mr. MO Fan

The primary duty of the Nomination Committee is making recommendations to
the Board on appointment and removal of directors and management of Board
succession. During the year, the Nomination Committee had reviewed and
considered the proposed appointment of Ms. LI Yufei as new executive Director
and made related recommendation to the Board for approval. In reviewing and
assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee had considered
the various aspects set out in the board diversity policy. It had also reviewed and
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee resolved that all the existing Directors should
be recommended to be retained by the Company. In accordance with the
Company’s articles of association, Ms. HUANG Jingshu, Mr. YE Xingan and Ms.
HU Gin Ing retire by rotation. All the above Directors being eligible for re-election,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during the year. The
attendance of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members

REEES

ARRR-_EZRF+-ATHAKIRERZES W
PR RUBIRT R E E - EREEPr 2 [ EE R
RABMCEMRADGEXAAHRER _F—NhF—HA—H
HER EFERN_F-AF- A=+ HARADEITW
RAEZBEHERE -

REZBEKERE - RRTEERMEBE I IFRNITES -
RAFHABMREZEGREWT

B LL (EE)
FEHEL
BAEE

REREENIZRBANZTEERERESUNERE
EEQECFEERERSRIERE NFA REEES
EFERERZEFTMR/NERFATESNES LB
RMEESREBERZEAEIE EFENTHEETSE
K REZESCEEHNESTEREZTERENSAE
FE - ARBRABESMF B FFNTEE 2B -

RELZEQRZHBEMARIESTEARARE - REA
REZHABERMA EETat  BEREERARE
LrimESR MALAEETEERERIMENE
EARRZBRBFERNE LEREE-

RENRBLZESHBHR—XeE - BLKEZHEBR
;AT -

Meetings attended/Number of Meetings held
HESRAE BTEERE

REERE

Ms. HUANG Jingshu EHAAT T
Mr. WANG Jing Tk &
Mr. MO Fan ENEE
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Board Committees (Contd)
Nomination Committee (Cont'd)
Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) in
January 2019 which sets out the selection criteria and nomination procedures
adopted to guide the Nomination Committee to select and recommend
candidates for directorship so as to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

o Reputation for integrity

° Accomplishment and experience

o Compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest

o Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age

(18 years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service

The Secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of the
Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its
meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates who are
not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing
candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee
shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”) in
August 2013 in accordance with the requirement under the Code.

The Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board to ensure that the Board has the balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee will
consider candidates on merit and against the objective criteria with due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee will monitor
the implementation of the Diversity Policy and review the same as appropriate.

Throughout 2022, and up to the date of this report, the Board had three
female Directors, representing 37.5% of the Board. The Board targets to
maintain at least the current level of female representation, with the ultimate
goal of achieving gender parity. The Board will continue to seek opportunities
to increase the proportion of female members over time as and when suitable
candidates are identified.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

Board Committees (Contd)

Nomination Committee (Cont'd)

Board Diversity Policy (Cont'd)

As of 31 December 2022, approximately 70% and 30% of the Group’s
employees were male and female, respectively. The Group recognises the value
of gender diversity to promote a diverse and inclusive working environment and
welcomes increased female representation at all levels. However, the Group
currently does not consider it appropriate to set any specific gender target for its
workforce. As an equal opportunity employer, the Group also takes into account
other relevant factors in its hiring decisions, and given it already maintains at
30% female representation in a traditionally male-dominated industry, the Group
considers that the gender ratio of the workforce of the Group is appropriate for its
current business model and operational needs.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 14 November
2005 with terms of reference in compliance with the Code. In view of the
implementation of the Stock Exchange’s consultation conclusions on “Proposed
Amendments to Listing Rules relating to Share Schemes of Listed Issuers and
Housekeeping Rule Amendment” effective on 1 January 2023, a revised terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee was adopted by the Board on 30
November 2022.

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive director and two
independent non-executive directors. The members of the Remuneration
Committee as at the date of this report are as follows:

Ms. HU Gin Ing (Chairman)
Ms. HUANG Jingshu
Mr. MO Fan

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and determine
the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable
to Directors and senior management. The Company has adopted the model
of remuneration committee as described in Code Provision E.1.2(c)(i) of the
Code. As such, the responsibility for determining the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management of the Group has been
delegated to the Remuneration Committee.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee considered and reviewed the
existing terms of remuneration of all the Directors based on factors including
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration. The
Remuneration Committee considered that the existing terms of remunerations
of the Directors were fair and reasonable. The Remuneration Committee also
reviewed the operation and maintenance of the share schemes of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band for the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out below:

Remuneration band
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Board Committees (Contd)
Remuneration Committee (Cont'd)

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the year. The
attendance of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members

Corporate Governance Report
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Meeting attended/Number of Meeting held

REARB HESSAE BTEBRH
Ms. HU Gin Ing HEELt+ 11
Ms. HUANG Jingshu AT L L 1/1
Mr. MO Fan BEREE 1/1

Executive Committee

The Board has delegated to the Executive Committee the authority of dealing with
the operational matters of the Group, save for those matters which are reserved
for the Board’s decision and approval pursuant to the written terms of reference,
which includes taking in charge of major decision making in relation to the
day-to-day business operations of the Company, administering the Company’s
routine resolutions and dealing with ad hoc matters, ensuring adequate funding
and reporting periodically to the Board. As at the date of this report, the Executive
Committee consists of five executive directors and assumes full accountability to
the Board for all operations of the Group.

To comply with the requirement under the Code in respect of the responsibilities
for performing the corporate governance duties, the Board has delegated its
responsibilities to the Executive Committee to develop, review and monitor
the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations to the Board, to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on the legal and regulatory compliance, to review and monitor the
code of conduct and ethical behavior applicable to the Directors and employees
and the training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, and to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosures in the corporate governance report.

Twenty-two meetings of the Executive Committee were held during the year. The
attendance record of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members

BITEES
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Meetings attended/Number of Meetings held
HESERE BITEBERY

REBB

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman) EWMETZ L (£/E)
Mr. TANG Shouchun EEELE

Mr. YE Xingan HEELiE

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan BRI E

Ms. LI Yufei (appointed on 1 June 2022)

The Executive Committee reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code
and the regulatory and statutory requirements during the year under review, and
the disclosures of this corporate governance report.
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TEERRE

Risk Management And Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and
internal controls system and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board is committed to
implementing an effective and sound internal controls system to safeguard the
interests of shareholders and the Group’s assets. The Board has delegated to
the management the implementation of the system of internal controls and
the review of all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management function within an established framework.

The Company has established internal audit department to monitor compliance
with policies and procedures and the effectiveness of internal control structures
of the Group. The internal audit department reports directly to the Audit
Committee annually and ensure the internal controls are in place and functioning
properly as intended.

The Audit Committee has conducted review on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system during the year under review and the
Company considers them effective and adequate.

The Company’s internal audit department independently reviews the
effectiveness of the internal controls and risk management, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, in the key activities of the Company’s
business. The head of the Company’s internal audit department reports to the
Audit Committee, and submits reports for its review in accordance with the
approved review and audit mechanisms. The internal audit department submits
a detailed report at least once a year to the Board for its review and monitors the
effectiveness of the system of internal control and risk management of the Group.
In case any material internal control defect is discovered, the Board would
require reports on the cause of and proposed solution for remedying the defect
be submitted by the internal control department and follow up with the defect
until it is resolved.

For the year of 2022, no significant risk or critical internal control issues have
been identified.

The Company has procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. The Group strictly prohibits unauthorised
use of inside information. The Group strives to identify inside information and
any information which may potentially constitute inside information at the earliest
practicable opportunity, which is then assessed and handed to the Board for
decision on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and the SFO
will be disclosed in accordance with all applicable requirements in due course.
Inside information would be kept strictly confidential until disclosure of such
inside information is made.
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Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in January
2019 which sets out the guidelines for the Board to determine the declaration
and payment of dividends.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute
discretion of the Board. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also
take into account, inter alia, the Group’s financial results, cash flow situation,
shareholders’ interests, general business conditions and strategies, future
operations and earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, taxation
considerations, statutory and regulatory restriction (if any) and other factors the
Board may deem relevant at such time. Any payment of the dividend by the
Company is also subject to any restrictions under the articles of association of the
Company and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy, as appropriate, and there is no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given
period.

Shareholders’ Rights
1. Convening an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”)

One or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings can deposit a written request to
convene an EGM at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong (“Hong Kong Office”), for the attention of the Board or the
Company Secretary. If within 21 days of such deposit of the requisition,
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered shareholders in respect
of the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal as follows:

- At least 14 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 10
clear business days) in writing if no special resolution is to be
considered at the EGM.

- At least 21 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include
10 clear business days) in writing if a special resolution is to be
considered at the EGM.

2. Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Act (as
revised) or the articles of association of the Company. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene an EGM
as stipulated in above paragraph 1.
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Shareholders’ Rights (Contd) REER &)

3. Right to propose a person for election as a director 3. RE-BAITHEESZERN
If a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a person other than MR E —BATHEES (FRESFHEFT
a retiring Director or a person recommended by the Board to stand for HEALTRIN  BRARQFEXIERFEZREER
election as a Director of the Company, the shareholder concerned shall 1% HPelE ZRREEREZATHESES  Z
lodge with the Company (for the attention of the Company Secretary) at RAEALTEE2EZBNE M IEHRIAREZE
the Hong Kong Office or at the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong BE2HBMREE GEHRARMEWRRE) AR ZK
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, a duly signed nomination form MBEELRDBREEEBHFZRLBRAF -

which includes, inter alia, the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director, notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be
elected, and the information required by the Listing Rules.

The period for lodgement of the nomination form will commence no BERXRERENFABRBETSEERTRERESRY
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting REAXEBEBMNBA  MEIREEBHKE B A
appointed for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date TEERZBERERASBHAI A REXRLIAEEA
of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during XHERXTARARZBHEA#HL /LR -

which the nomination form and associated documents may be given to
the Company will be at least 7 days.

4.  Right to put enquiry to the Board 4. BEESSEHEAZER
Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries BRREEMNEESHELER MBEERNENERS
must be in writing with contact information of the person making the NEREHEZHEERRERTENSZE  FHL
enquiry and deposited at the Hong Kong Office for the attention of the AR EULER -
Company Secretary.
Detailed procedures can be found in the document entitled BRATE P RE 1B AT R AN B ARk ) A0 ST [ AR ERAE
“Shareholders’ Rights” which is available on the Company’s website. RER -

Communication with Shareholders EHRRNER

Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general meetings of the AAABEREREARRZRRAFALS - EESEH
Company. The Chairman of the Board will attend the annual general meeting and BHERRBAFASMNAFERLZES REEET
invite the Chairman of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration MEEBEghEMNESZEENER  EEBZETEER
Committee and other Board Committee(s), or in their absence, other members of HEE - AZEFZES v EMKNELEREBFAE -
these Board Committee(s), to attend the annual general meeting.

The Company held the annual general meeting on 29 June 2022 and RATIDRR T —FRAZTBETRREFTRE

extraordinary general meeting on 18 July 2022 respectively. ERZZFZZFt A+ N\BEITREFNAE -
Details of Directors’ attendance record of general meetings during the year BE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFER EFHFRE
ended 31 December 2022 are as follows: AREMFBOT :
Annual General Extraordinary General
Meeting Meeting
BRBFERE BRENRE

Meeting attended/Number of Meeting held
HEERRE BTEBERE

Executive Directors BITEE

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman) BEWET R L (£E) 1/1 11
Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer) — BE&HFE (1THAEE,) 1/1 /1
Mr. YE Xingan BEETiE 11 1/1
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan EEREE 1/1 1/1
Ms. LI Yufei (appointed on 1 June 2022) FTaRNER=ZFZ—FNA—HEZ(F) 11 1/1
Non-Executive Director FHITESE

Mr. CHEN Wei Sheng (resigned on 25 July 2022) M{E &£ (R=F = —F+ A =+ 7 HFTF) 0/1 0/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHBITESE

Mr. WANG Jing B 0/1 0/1
Ms. HU Gin Ing Lt 1/1 1/1
Mr. MO Fan BAEE 1/1 1/1
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Investor Relationship and Communication

The Company strives to achieve a high level of transparency in communicating
with shareholders and the investment community at large. Briefings and
meetings with institutional investors and analysts are conducted at opportune
times. The Company is committed to continuing to maintain an open and
effective investor communication policy and to update investors on relevant
information on its business in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements. In order to ensure effective, clear and accurate communications
with the investors and analysts, all corporate communications are arranged
and handled by the executive directors with the assistance of an independent
corporate communication firm and designated senior executives according
to established practices and procedures of the Company. The Company has
announced results of the year under review in a timely manner.

The Board regularly reviews the shareholders communication policy (which has
been made available at the Company’s website), to ensure that Shareholders
and potential investors at large are provided with ready, equal and timely access
to balanced and understandable information about the Company, including
its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, to enable Shareholders to
exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow their active engagement
with the Company.

Based on the review undertaken, the Board considers that the shareholders

communication policy has been properly implemented and effective during the
year.

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no changes to the
constitutional documents of the Company.

The memorandum and articles of association of the Company is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

HEREENBERRBE

ARNAEBRRRRERBRE  —ERNEINSERE -
AARRBEERIRABBREERDMERTHRE RS
o ARRBNIEREMEERTE @ BERFLFRAYN
BREEBBEE  URBRREERESHINEBER - B
HREREERDWATHRER MM ERENERR
B OECERBREEHRRAARNEEEHLERF
HATEZEER —MBUCEBALR R TREES

TTRABRIE - ARFENREEFENIZRE MEE -

E=eFHRMADRAKRBABER (RAAREGAHE
B ERBRRREEREEHTERRG2H  BR - 2
ERTSGEENARREN  SREAVBRR KRERE
KEtE > DABBRRAENBIE R TIT RN Mgk REAARRQ
AIEIREE

REENER FEERARITBBRENFNCBEE
HITRBH -
MABERE XA

BE-T-—F+-A=+—HLFE ARAMHER
ST B (R -

AR Z EBERR M N AR B A R B8k K B 2 P A

b o

g (FE)HBEREARAT 51

S5



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing such consolidated financial
statements, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and
applied consistently. The Directors were aware of the material uncertainty related
to going concern of the Company.

As disclosed in note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which indicates
that as at 31 December 2022, the Group has borrowings of RMB8,178 million,
senior notes and bond of RMB3,598 million, and debt component of convertible
bonds of RMB993 million that are repayable within one year at the end of the
reporting period. At the same date, the Group has cash and cash equivalent
amounted to RMB1,570 million. The Group might not have sufficient working
capital to operate if such borrowings, convertible bonds and public domestic bonds
are required to be repaid or redeemed and all other alternative operating and
financing plans as described in note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements
cannot be implemented as planned. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that based on the assumptions that the borrowings and convertible bonds
can be renewed and those plans can be successfully executed, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to maintain its operations and to pay its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for at least twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. However, the likelihood of successful renewal of borrowings and
convertible bonds and implementation of those plans as set forth in note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The auditor’s responsibility is to express an independent opinion, based on their
audit, on those consolidated financial statements and to report their opinion to the
shareholders of the Company, as a body, and for no other purpose. The auditor
does not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of results and cash flows for that year. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations; made adjustments and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the going concern basis. The Directors also ensure the
timely publication of the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The fee in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group
by independent auditor for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted
to RMB3,546,000 (2021: RMB2,558,000) and RMB3,301,000 (2021:
RMB1,481,000) respectively.
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of LVGEM (China) Real
Estate Investment Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 222, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that as at 31 December 2022, the Group has borrowings of RMB8,178
million, senior notes and bond of RMB3,598 million, and debt component of
convertible bonds of RMB993 million that are repayable within one year at the
end of the reporting period. At the same date, the Group has cash and cash
equivalent amounted to RMB1,570 million. The Group might not have sufficient
working capital to operate if such borrowings, convertible bonds and public
domestic bonds are required to be repaid or redeemed and all other alternative
operating and financing plans as described in note 3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements cannot be implemented as planned. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that based on the assumptions that the borrowings
and convertible bonds can be renewed and those plans can be successfully
executed, the Group will have sufficient working capital to maintain its operations
and to pay its financial obligations as and when they fall due for at least
twelve months from the end of the reporting period. However, the likelihood of
successful renewal of borrowings and convertible bonds and implementation
of those plans as set forth in note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition
to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.
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Key Audit Matters (conta)

Key audit matter
BEREEREE

Valuation of investment properties
REYFZ1E

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter as they represented approximately 41% of the Group’s total
assets, combined with the judgements and estimation associated with
determining the fair value.

B REMEZHEAREEE QA BERM HE R EEE
RTBEBREZER  WIHRNREMEZ AAEBELE ESEE
BERLL% °

As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the
fair value of completed investment properties and investment properties
under development amounted to approximately RMB24,528,635,000
and RMB16,150,382,000 as at 31 December 2022 and a decrease
in fair value amounted to approximately RMB709,005,000 and an
increase in fair value amounted to RMB407,172,000 recognised in
profit or loss for the year then ended respectively. The completed
investment properties were located in the People’s Republic of China,
Hong Kong and the Kingdom of Cambodia.

WMInGE A MG MERMTIAFTHE  ETKREMERTERREYE
RIZTEZZF+-A=1+—HKH2REEBELN A ARK24,528,635,000
TR AR¥16,150,382,0007T © & E#% B L FE D RN B ER
Z AR BEEBKELRARIE709,005,0007T kA R EELEHARE
407,172,0007T ° B TE IR EMEL NP EARLFE - B8 KR
TEE -

As set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group’s investment properties were stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by an independent qualified professional valuer
(“Valuer”). As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the fair value of investment properties have been arrived
at using income capitalisation approach, direct comparison approach
and residual approach, which were dependent on certain key inputs
and assumptions in respect of prevailing market conditions such as
capitalisation rate and monthly market rent for income capitalisation
approach, selling price per square meters for direct comparison
approach and gross development value and developers’ profit margin for
residual approach.

MINGE A W ERRMTARE - EEEZREMEDERB LA
EEZEGER ([EERM]) BTG ERA R BB o iR E
BHRERMFIATERE  REVENDABERBRAERGFTEE -
BEELMBAREBEELIETE BEAFEDEKBEREAIMAZET
BB A BB RRE - BEWRABRAEENE ML E RS A
B BEREEBENE T REEER  UWREEENERBEEER
AR -

Independent Auditor’s Report
AR R

FREZSR#®)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
RPN EFOAEERRETSE

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment properties
included:

BHPMREYEHEETZRT R

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
Valuer;

. AHE A ER 2 B - e RBEIE

o Obtaining an understanding of the valuation processes and
significant assumptions to assess if these approaches meet the
requirements of HKFRSs and industry norms;

J BREERAEREARE  UTHZELEREREEEY
B EERIRE RATHIED

o Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation methods applied
by the Valuer, in particular the valuation techniques and the
capitalisation rate, based on our knowledge of the property
markets;

J BERBEMEMENIS 2 RE - A HEMAERGETE
(CERBERMRERMLEE)ZEERE

° Involving our internal valuation expert, on a sample basis, to
evaluate the appropriateness of the valuation techniques and
reasonableness of the significant unobservable inputs used by
the Valuer; and

J ZHABEEER AL A EEEMATAGERTES
RERFETABRRHABBERETEE &

° Assessing the reasonableness of other valuation inputs and
source data, including capitalisation rate, monthly market rent,
market value of completed properties, gross development value,
developer’s profit margin, selling price per square meters under
various valuation approaches by comparing these estimates,
on a sample basis, to entity-specific information such as rental
income, tenancy summary, location nearby and size of the
investment properties, as well as market data based on our
knowledge of the property markets.
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Key Audit Matters (conta)

Key audit matter
BREREE

Revenue recognised from sales of properties
YEHERZZ WA

We identified revenue recognised from sales of properties as a key
audit matter as the revenue from sales of properties is significant to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and there is judgement involved
in determining the appropriate point at which to recognise revenue from
sales of properties. o
HRMEHERASGEBERRM S BEKXN - ML ERYEHE W
ABETEEREY KA SMERMEDEHEERZWAEER—
HEAREZEE -

As disclosed in “Revenue from contracts with customers” paragraph
under note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements, revenue
from sales of properties is recognised when the completed property is o
transferred to customers, being at the point that customer obtains the
control of the completed property and the Group has present right to
receive payment and collection of the consideration is probable. The
Group has recognised revenue of RMB1,211,312,000 from its real
estate development and sales segment for the year ended 31 December
2022, which is disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements. °
MG A M BHREMAI2[RETFENNNE] —BRAIKE 9
EHEZRARRIVEEBREEFPR (AIREFPESERIMEN
THIRER) R B ERERERE A fe B REUE T R AR
B-BE_T-__F+_A=+—HIEFE BEEENFEHEHE

B RIHE D ERERIA AR 211,312,0005T © BREFIBHRERL
AR MFS -

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BANET MR ERRETSEE

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognised from sales of
properties included:

B EHEERBALTZEFEEE

Assessing the management’s control over the point of time at
which revenue from sales of properties is recognised by obtaining
an understanding of the management’s control process and
testing the control on a sample basis; and
7RI R B IR B 2 15 B AR AR M AR R SR
BRERERMEHESWAR 22 &

BEE

Reviewing the terms stated in the sales and purchase
agreements, on a sample basis, and obtaining evidence regarding
the completion and the delivery of properties, on a sample basis,
including completion certificates and delivery notices, to assess
whether the criteria for revenue recognition set out in “Revenue
from contracts with customers” paragraph under note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements have been met.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Independent Auditor’s Report
AR R
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR 7 TS

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements (conta)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated BB MM BAGRESUKBERERENEE
Financial Statements (conta) (%)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we  #EEAEBEBNEEY @ HAECHAHBEE T B R
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the KNEFZEHEZNFIE  AMBEKBERETFIE - &M
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key EZEMFEPHAZESRE  BRIEEEIERTATR
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or ~ FHBEZEEE  KEHHERNBR T MAEBHAE
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely —~ HRfIHETEBEETEEXNEAELEBEELNART
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in &= ABRPIRAE N EEREPEEZEE -

our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s EEB T ZEMBRENETEHENEEAEABRKE -
report is Yuen Wing Hang.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu E e BER S EETAIIT
Certified Public Accountants HEDIET

Hong Kong aBE

30 March 2023 —E-=F=A=+H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

2022 2021
—E_—— —T-—F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR® T AR®ET T
Revenue &= 5 2,340,921 4,378,017
Cost of sales SHE R A (1,308,270) (2,189,617)
Gross profit EF 1,032,651 2,188,400
Other income HadA 6 97,372 98,391
Other gains and losses Hpdes K E1E 7 (50,644) (48,111)
Selling expenses HEMX (106,860) (164,279)
Administrative expenses TEFAX (553,196) (564,824)
Recognition of change in fair value of properties HERRBEENE FEMNES
under development for sale/properties held for KREMHEZ AR BEEEBER
sale upon transfer to investment properties 14 2,355,969 2,787,454
Fair value changes on investment properties BEMENRREBEE 14 (301,833) (220,021)
Fair value changes on derivative component of AMREFITETHEH 8
convertible bonds NABEE 30(b) (7,357) 83,674
Finance costs BbE B AR 8 (1,786,564) (1,710,896)
Share of results of a joint venture B —EEERRER 2 2)
Profit before tax RRB AT 2 A 9 679,536 2,449,786
Income tax expense FriSfim 10 (976,061) (1,114,869)
(Loss) profit for the year FE (1) B (296,525) 1,334,917
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to: LTATELEFE (B8 BF
Owners of the Company iN/NETL 8 (730,147) 1,152,576
Non-controlling interests IR R 2 433,622 182,341
(296,525) 1,334,917
rmb cents rmb cents
AR¥S AR¥ES
(Loss) earnings per share attributable to the FREQAFABRRELER
owners of the Company during the year (&8) BF 13
- Basic aE =% (14.32) 22.61
— Diluted — 58 (14.32) 13.37
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GeBEERkHEMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

2022 2021
—B-—F T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTT
(Loss) profit for the year FE(BBR)BAN (296,525) 1,334,917
Other comprehensive (expense) income Hi2mE (X)) &
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to BEEREEN S EAmZEA
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation EREANBREES (383,604) 92,430
Gain on revaluation of properties, net of tax ShMEKE NBRFHE) 3,393 =
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEEF T HEEm2EE
Fair value changes on investments in equity BAnBEFAEMEEKE 2 RAR
instruments at fair value through other THREZARBEZS (NERTIE)
comprehensive income, net of tax (58,845) (38,128)
Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year FEHMZE (BIX) Wi (439,056) 54,302
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year FE2HE X WEHEE (735,581) 1,389,219
Total comprehensive (expense) income attributable to: UTATEMGMZE BX) WEHE:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEST | 8 (1,169,232) 1,204,334
Non-controlling interests JEFE AR AE 2 433,651 184,885
(735,581) 1,389,219
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

=R

At 31 December 2022
RZTEZ=—F+=-H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-F T —F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR® T AR®ET T
Non-current assets RBEE
Investment properties "REYE 14 40,679,017 29,190,354
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB KRR 15 872,378 856,628
Goodwill SRS 231,602 231,602
Interest in a joint venture R—EEERRNER 16 6,052 6,054
Amount due from a joint venture U —MR& & R RIFIE 16 522,318 522,318
Equity instruments at fair value through other BARBEFAREMEERRKREZ
comprehensive income B AT A 17 371,963 450,423
Restricted bank deposits SR BRI T 7 K 23 363,338 540,000
Deferred tax assets BERIEE E 18 617,557 551,812
43,664,225 32,349,191
Current assets REEE
Properties under development for sale ERPGEYE 19 45,274,263 40,057,708
Properties held for sale HEME 20 3,388,369 3,087,656
Other inventories EM7FE 851 777
Accounts receivable & ULBR 3k 21 60,691 39,489
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables ~ BEff#Z & « FEM FIB R EAM
fEUGRIE 22 3,985,306 2,598,909
Tax recoverable AT Ug [ ¢ 5K 89,221 61,255
Restricted bank deposits Z PR HIERITIF K 23 1,671,732 2,840,020
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRERS 24 1,569,935 3,907,048
56,040,368 52,592,862
Current liabilities =R
Accounts payable FEATER SR 25 5,449,855 3,642,441
Accruals, deposits received and other payables FEErER  Blike RHEA
RS FRIR 26 2,393,632 1,925,344
Contract liabilities ERAEE 27 2,887,286 1,358,938
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 13,269 17,196
Tax liabilities HEEE 2,310,880 2,349,916
Borrowings BE 29 8,177,876 6,994,506
Senior notes and bond BEEERES 31 3,597,768 1,394,867
Debt component of convertible bonds AR ESES D 30(a) 993,189 1,462,252
Derivative component of convertible bonds AMRESITET A D 30(b) 22,760 26,251
Other current liabilities HEnsaE 32 926,179 =
26,772,694 19,171,711
Net current assets RBEEZRE 29,267,674 33,421,151
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABERE 72,931,899 65,770,342
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Consolidated Statement of Finagcial Position
At 31 December 2022 = N
E’I\:g::i—i—:ﬂi‘f—*lﬂ :?ER | /E\ZI-i%;U( lﬂl%‘%

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Het AR® T AR®ET T
Non-current liabilities FFRBEE
Borrowings BE 29 20,694,072 17,999,225
Senior notes and bond BAEBERES 31 888,808 3,336,853
Lease liabilities HEaE 28 134,010 147,279
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBEE 18 4,344,172 3,558,552
Other non-current liabilities Ha3EREaE 32 15,894,325 11,287,644
41,955,387 36,329,553
Net assets EEFE 30,976,512 29,440,789
Capital and reserves BAR#HE
Share capital & 7 33 42,465 42,465
Reserves G 34 24,717,565 25,886,797
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RRRIRR B R 24,760,030 25,929,262
Non-controlling interests P AR A 2 6,216,482 3,511,527
Total equity A 30,976,512 29,440,789

The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 222 were approved and FOOR22Q2BE VB RREEETeN S -_=F=H
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2023 and are signed ZTEMERKRETNR  IHATEEARREE
on its behalf by:

HUANG Jingshu HUANG Hao Yuan
A HER
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
IRFRTESF HITES
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GERZEEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_ZT-—_F+-A=1T—RHILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAARFEGER
Investment/
Convertible property Share Non-
Share Share  preference Other  Exchange  revaluation option  Statutory  Retained Sub-  controlling Total
capital ~ premium shares  reseves  resewe  reseve feseve  reserve profits fotal ~ interests equity
TRk RE/N%
BA  RiEE  BXR  EtBE ENRE ERBE BRESE ieBE  REEA Mt BRER BR4E
RMBOO0O ~ RMB000  RMBOO0 ~ RMBOO0  RMBO00 ~ RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB00  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBIOO
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTL ARETR ARETn ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Balance as at 1 January 2021 RZFZ-5-F-AHES 42458 716119% 5999201 (3134531) 201837 82464 23207 37316 13800569 24723716 3,161,907 27885623
Profit for the year EF il = = = = - - - - 112576 1152576 182341 1334917
Fair value changes on investments n BOAREGALMRENEL
equiy instuments at fairvalue twough —— RATAREZ A1 BERD
other comprehensive income, netof tax~~ (HIBRH) - - - - - (BB - - - (BB - BB
Exchange diffrences arising on ranslaion ¥ B EZE - - - - 8988 = = = - 89886 25 9430
Total comprehensive income (expense) R 2EUE (%) 2%
forthe year - - - - 89,886 (38,128) - - 1152576 1204334 184885 1389219
Evercise of share options frfEEE 7 1841 - - - = (636) - - 1212 - 1212
Transfer to satutory reserve EETETRE - - - - - - - B0 @8 - - -
Capital contribution by non<ontrolling: ~~ FEERERIEE
interests - - - - - - - - - - 16431 165431
Dividend paic to non-controling-interests  MzEERER M 2k& = = = = = = = = = = (69) (6%)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 M-B-—E+-f=t-AR
andin 1 January 2022 “T-E-R-RHER 42465 7,163036 5999201 (3,134531) 291,723 433% 202571 415358 14,905,103 25929262 3511527 29,440,189
(Loss) proft for the year FE(5R) &R - - - - - - = - (130,047) (30,147 433622 (296,525)
Fair value changes on investments in BOAREGALRZENEL
equiy instuments at fairvalue twough ~—— RATARE 7 A4 BEED
other comprehensive income, netof tax~~ (HIRHE) - - - - - (58845) - - - (58845) - (5884)
(Gain on revaluation o properties, net of tax M1 £ B ftMias (1B HE) - - - - -3 - - - 3,393 = 3,393
Bxchange differences arising on translation ~ EXELAIAEZE - - - - (383633 - - - - (383,633) 2 (383,604)
Total comprehensive (expense)income. 2 (F) s e
forthe year - - = - (303633  (95452) = - (130147) (1,169.232) 433651  (735,581)
Transfer to Safutory reserve ﬁﬁéi}iif}ﬂ% - - - - - - - 82 (831) = = =
Disposal of prtiainterests in subsidiaries  HEHBARPHER (H7)
(Note) - - - - - - - - - - 221304 2211304
Balance as at 31 December 2022 RZFZZE+ZR=1-A
REH 42465 7,163036 5999201 (3,134531)  (91,910)  (11,116) 202571 423679 14,166,635 24,760,030 6,216,482 30,976,512
Note: On 7 June 2022, Intelligent City Development Limited, Shenzhen Sida Industrial K R=ZT=—=FAtH BEETHEARAF - FIIMmM

Development Co., Ltd.(“Sida”), both of which are subsidiaries of the Company, and
Shenzhen Shenguan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Shenquan”), an
independent third party, have entered into the subscription agreement, pursuant to
which Shenzhen Shenquan agreed to inject approximately RMB2.3 billion into Sida,
which accounts for approximately 8% of the enlarged equity interest in the Sida. The
transaction was approved by the shareholders of the Company on 18 July 2022.
As at 31 December 2022, Shenzhen Shenquan has paid approximately RMB1.1
billion and the remaining consideration has been settled subsequent to the reporting
period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—F+-A=+—HItFE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GmERERER

2022 2021
—E-C-F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®ET T
Operating activities RETE
Profit before tax R 75 A & F) 679,536 2,449,786
Adjustments for: FAEIER :
Depreciation e 77,949 73,438
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME - BEREENEE 23 8
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEK B AR K - (3,569)
Recognition of change in fair value of properties under ERREPTENE FEMES
development for sale/properties held for sale upon WEMEZ AR BEZEER
transfer to investment properties (2,355,969) (2,787,454)
Fair value changes on investment properties REMEN AR EBE 301,833 220,021
Fair value changes on derivative component of AIBBREFTETAEISSH
convertible bonds NABEES 7,357 (83,674)
Share of results of a joint venture Bh—HEEE REE 2 2
Impairment loss recognised for accounts receivable, net EUER R B BRERFE 36,385 68,873
Interest income F B A (65,425) (69,217)
Dividend income & B U A (22,808) (22,800)
Finance costs RbE P AR 1,786,564 1,710,896
Gain on non-substantial modification of convertible AR ES 2 IEEREFE W
bonds (23,252) =
Loss on non-substantial modification of domestic BRAARESHZIEERNEF B
corporate bonds 2,394 -
Gain on early redemption of convertible bonds REE R AR &S 2 W (12,613) -
Write-off of deposits paid for acquisition of equity fund MWW BR AR REI N 2Ee
investment 27,840 -
Exchange difference P& 5% =58 31,204 (152,644)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital £iE& & EHHNKEERESRE 471,020 1,403,666
Increase in properties under development for sale and BRERPSEMERGEMEEN
properties held for sale (6,468,142) (4,843,845)
Increase in other inventories HapzE®Em (74) (103)
Increase in accounts receivable JE Y BR SR 38 0 (59,743) (42,804)
Increase in deposits paid, prepayments and BEATIES T RIE K E R U
other receivables FKIFIE N (2,171,167) (1,477,574)
Increase in accounts payable JE 1~ BR R385 N 1,885,458 2,323,444
Increase in contract liabilities aRAEEM 1,528,348 10,006
Increase in accruals, deposits received and other payables fEzt & A - B Ui & K& E b et
FRIEE N 1,586,492 1,033,110
Cash used in operations KEEETAMNE S (3,227,808) (1,594,100)
Income taxes paid EREHR (304,706) (427,330)
Net cash used in operating activities REFTBRARS FE (3,532,514) (2,021,430)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z- S+ -_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-F T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T

Investing activities REZTE
Placement of restricted bank deposits FHRERHRITFR (5,718,845) (11,744,531)
Addition to investment properties REBREME (1,297,733) (222,186)
Advances to related parties M) BA B 77 AT EA R (6,685,189) (2,884,728)
Placement of short-term time deposits with original maturity 7FRER =1 A A 1B —F R 5| 28

beyond three months but within one year SR=RER (262) (261,500)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment HBEWE  BERXE (3,169) (10,822)
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREYESRIE 44,814 53,457
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits REVEZ R HIIRITIER 7,075,926 12,340,892
Repayment from related parties RN T B 6,439,082 2,884,537
Repayment from a non-controlling interest JEE RS BN 125 2,894
Withdrawal of short-term deposits with original maturity RERER =@ AL EE—FAEHD

beyond three months but within one year HHEHR 261,762 600,476
Interest received [SALENSS 78,617 48,390
Dividend income received B U B A - 22,800
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment — H &% - BE &R &S 508 - 263
Net cash inflow from disposal of a subsidiary HE—HBWBRARFMERERAFE - 236
Net cash from investing activities RETEMBRESFHE 195,128 830,178
Financing activities REEE
Repayments of borrowings BEEE (8,017,972) (8,396,973)
Repayments of bonds BERESH (509,000) (2,111,877)
Interest paid B AT A (2,297,674) (2,086,878)
Dividend paid ERRE - (696)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEE (17,196) (15,284)
Repayment of convertible bonds EEBRRES (599,313) -
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITEF NS RIE - 1,593,740
Proceeds from new borrowings %ﬁLWEﬁﬁ BRIE 10,814,985 9,767,027
Advances from related parties RE BT 2K 3,630,370 1,101,729
Repayment to related parties M) A 75 B (2,883,312) =
Proceeds on disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries HENBARIBD RS ZFIBHRIEA 1,135,652 165,431
Issue of new shares upon exercise of share options T RE AR AE LA BE AT 3T AR - 1,212
Net cash from financing activities REEEMENESEE 1,256,540 17,431
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2022 = A ¥ L= =
ey s i 02 GARSREBR

2022 2021

—E-—F T —F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AR®ET T

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents HERESEEYRDFHE (2,080,846) (1,173,821)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEERSEWHLE 5,233 (10,268)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FEYRERESEEY 3,645,548 4,829,637

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRESRESEEY 1,569,935 3,645,548

Represented by: b=

Cash and cash equivalents HekREEED 1,569,935 3,645,548
Add: Fixed deposits with original maturity date more m:REHEAZR=EAE

than three months but within one year DPR—FHEHTR - 261,500

Bank balances and cash RITERRES 1,569,935 3,907,048
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GENERAL

LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
Company'’s registered office and principal place of business in Hong Kong
are Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands and Unit 2501, NEO, 123 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong respectively. Its ultimate controlling party is
Mr. WONG Hong King (“Mr. Wong"), the father of Ms. HUANG Jingshu,
the Chairman of the Company, and Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan, an Executive
Director of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 45.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB™), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 -
2020

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the Committee
of the International Accounting Standards Board, including Lessor
Forgiveness of Lease Payments (International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 16 Leases, which is
relevant to the Group.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs
and the Committee’s agenda decision in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont'a)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Cont'd)

2.1

2.2

Impacts and changes in accounting policies on application of
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business combinations
for which the acquisition date was on or after 1 January 2022.
The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) instead of Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010),
add a requirement that, for transactions and events within the
scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify
the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination and add an
explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent
assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 - 2020

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The annual improvements make amendments to the
following standards:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes
substantial modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower
includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or the
lender on the other’s behalf.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group applies
the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged as at the date of initial application, 1 January 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Conta)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Cont’d)

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 - 2020 (Cont'd)

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS
16 removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement
relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to remove
any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

2.3 Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the Committee -
Lessor Forgiveness of Lease Payments (IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and IFRS 16 Leases)

In October 2022, the Committee published the agenda decision
related to the accounting for a rent concession where the lessor
legally releases the lessee from its obligation to make specifically
identified lease payments. Some of these lease payments are
contractually due but not paid and some of them are not yet
contractually due. The Committee concluded that, before the
rent concession is granted, the lessor applies the impairment
requirements in IFRS 9 to the operating lease receivable, the
measurement of expected credit losses (“ECL”) should include the
lessor’s expectations of forgiving the related lease payments. In
addition, the lessor accounts for the rent concession on the date
it is granted by applying: (a) the derecognition requirements in
IFRS 9 to forgiven lease payments that the lessor has recognised
as operating lease receivables; and (b) the lease modification
requirements in IFRS 16 to forgiven lease payments that the lessor
has not recognised as an operating lease receivable.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had no
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont'a)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts!
2020 and February 2022

Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

and HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKAS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants®
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies!

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates!
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction'
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors
of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Conta)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue hut not yet effective (Cont'd)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the
“2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on
the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current
should be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that the
classification should not be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the
requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been modified
by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that only
covenants with which an entity is required to comply with on or before
the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants
which are required to comply with only after the reporting period do not
affect whether that right exists at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure requirements
about information that enables users of financial statements to
understand the risk that the liabilities could become repayable within
twelve months after the reporting period, if the entity classify liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to
defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying with
covenants within twelve months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying the
2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020
Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity applies
the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the 2022
Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that
period.
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2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Cont'a)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the
%2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) (Cont'd)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's right to defer settlement for bank
and other borrowings of RMB6,066,751,000 and domestic corporate
bond of RMB888,808,000 are subject to compliance with certain
financial ratios within 12 months from the reporting date. Such borrowings
were classified as non-current as the Group. Upon the application of the
2022 Amendments, such borrowings will still be classified as non-current
as the covenants which the Group is required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the end of the
reporting date and such borrowing will still be classified as non-current.

Except for as disclosed above, the application of the 2020 and 2022
Amendments will not result in classification of the Group’s other liabilities
as at 31 December 2022.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity applies
the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and
to judge whether information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group but may
affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant accounting policies.
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2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Conta)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.
An accounting policy may require items in financial statements to be
measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty - that is, the
accounting policy may require such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead be estimated.
In such a case, an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting
estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the
latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is
retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the going concern basis which assumes the continuity of normal
business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement
of liabilities in the normal course of business. Management
continues to closely monitor the liquidity position of the Group,
which includes the sensitivity analysis of forecast bank and cash
balances for various factors (including the number and selling price
of residential properties and commercial buildings sold) over the
short and medium term to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. S4B BRZGHREERTIES:
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING BUR (#)

POLICIES (conta)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Cont'd)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has borrowings of RMB8,178
million, senior notes and bond of RMB3,598 million, and debt
component of convertible bonds of RMB993 million that are
repayable within one year at the end of reporting period. At the
same date, the Group has cash and cash equivalent amounted to
RMB1,570 million. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Group repaid public senior notes with carrying amount of
RMB3,398 million as at 31 December 2022. The Group might not
have sufficient working capital to operate if such borrowings and
convertible bonds are required to be repaid or redeemed and all
other alternative operating and financing plans as described below
cannot be implemented as planned. These conditions indicate that
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
cash flow forecasts which cover a period of not less than twelve
months from the date of the end of the reporting period.

Cash flow forecasts, which assume the continuity of normal
business activity, indicate that the Group will have sufficient
liquidity to meet its operation, existing contractual debt obligation
and capital expenditure requirements for at least twelve month
period from the date of the end of the reporting period. Such cash
flow forecasts include the following assumptions:

(i) The Group will continue to actively adjust sales and pre-
sale activities to better respond to market needs, and make
efforts to achieve the latest budgeted sales and pre-sales
volumes and amounts. The Group will maintain continuous
communication with the major constructors and suppliers
to arrange payments to these vendors and meet all of the
necessary conditions to launch the pre-sale. The Group
will also continuously enhance collection progress from
customers and banks in respect of the property sales and
pre-sales;

(i) The Group will continuously comply with financial covenants
and other terms and conditions of the borrowings,
including timely repayment of principle and interests of
the borrowings. In addition, the Group has been actively
negotiating with certain financial institutions so that the
Group can secure project development loans for qualified
project development through pledge of equity interests in
certain subsidiaries and assets of the relevant projects and
secure working capital loans through pledge of the Group’s
other properties if required;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Cont'd)

(i) The Group is currently considering the loan facility provided
by bank with amounts not less than RMB1.5 billion. The
relevant loan facility is currently undergoing the internal
approval procedures of the bank, based on the best
estimation of the directors of the Company, the approval for
the loan agreement will be obtained from the bank in the
near future;

(iv)  One of the convertible bonds of approximately US$78
million, embedded with early redemption option, which will
be matured in first half of 2023, is assumed to be renewed
and such early redemption option is expected not to be
exercised by the convertible bondholders within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period;

(v)  The RMB denominated domestic corporate bonds with an
aggregate principal amount of RMB200 million, embedded
with retractable options, which shall be matured after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates as set out in the
offering memorandum, are assumed not to be retracted by
the corporate bondholders within twelve months from the
end of the reporting period;

(vi)  The existing outbound guarantee facility arrangement with
the banks in relation to the fund transmission from the
People’s Republic of China (excludes Hong Kong, Macau
and Taiwan) (the “Mainland China”) to Hong Kong is
assumed to be feasible and effective, based on the past
historical records;

(vii)  The related parties of the Group have agreed not to demand
for repayment for non-trade amounts of RMB1,571 million
as of 31 December 2022 until the Group has the financial
ability to do so; and

(viii)  The Group is currently considering the loan financing offers
provided by an equity fund investor with amounts not less
than US$500 million with the loan periods not less than 3
years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. S4B BRZGHREERTIES:
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING BUR (#)

POLICIES (conta)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Cont'd)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether management of the Company will be able to achieve its
plans and measure as described above. Whether the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern would depend upon the
Group’s ability to generate adequate financing and operating cash
flows through the following:

(i) successfully adjust sales and pre-sales activities to achieve
budgeted sales and pre-sales volumes, successfully arrange
payments to constructors and suppliers on schedule and
meet all of the necessary conditions to launch the pre-sale,
and timely collect the relevant sales proceeds;

(i) continuously comply with financial covenants and other
terms and conditions of the borrowings, successfully and
timely secure necessary loans from financial institutions;

(iii)  successfully draw down necessary funding from the
borrowing facility granted and renew existing borrowings and
certain convertible bonds, etc.; and

(iv)  successfully entered into the borrowing facility with the
equity fund investors.

Taking into account all assumptions and plans as described above,
the directors of Company are of the opinion that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to maintain its operations and to
pay its financial obligations as and when they fall due for at least
twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The directors
of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group fail to achieve a combination of the above-
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to continue to
operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
reduce the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their realisation
amounts, to provide for financial liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively, if applicable. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Cont'd)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it
to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Basis of consolidation (Cont'd)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of
deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the set of
activities and assets is determined not to be a business and no
further assessment is needed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Cont'd)
Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to properties under development
for sale and the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the
basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a
transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

When an asset acquisition is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired
processes are considered substantive if they are critical to the
ability to continue producing outputs, including an organised
workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to
perform the related processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are considered unique
or scarce or cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or
delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or
after 1 January 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in
June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for transactions
and events within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in
which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed
in a business combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Cont'd)
Business combinations (Cont'd)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at
the acquisition date. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Cont'd)
Business combinations (Cont’d)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Cont'd)
Business combinations (Cont'd)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed
directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see above),
and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Gooadwill (Cont'd)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-
generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a
cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the joint venture. Changes
in net assets of the joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group'’s
interest in that joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

3. &
BUR

ﬁﬂb

illﬂ

e M BRI E

ﬁﬁﬁ%ZF%Eﬁ&i%%ﬁ

OB (D)

HERBERSELBURBSELBMAR
REFREELBMAR  EEHERRRAR
ABBZEGESHE EARBHERSELSE
(R EELEEMARFN—EREELE
) AMEBE  FTHERESREMHER
B(RBLEEEMN) @AREREBL (KR
SEAEMAR) BOWBLEENE -

AEEREARBHE RN REERREEZRE
BEER T XA ©
RES & A]

BERRAE-EBA R B YiEA KRE
HIREZ AT T R B & R BEFERESR
%ﬂ HTﬁEh&E BRKEHARY
ﬁm%ﬁ EHEEERREHENX
H;ﬁ%ﬂﬁzxﬁﬁﬁ AR ZRER
TE

AENRINER  EERBERESSHER
ALERE RIS - AE QAR AERESE
BRI SRR TR A EAEERELUERT
%ﬂﬁi%&%#%ﬁ%% Bz e BUR R
ﬁ°&V%‘£ RE & AR ZIRE THIRK A
RERE ISR RER R B ER - W EER
ERRNEEEEEE QR ZEREEME TR
HMELAR - AL QAR ZEEFEES (B
ZREMEARERIN TSR EEEE
FEUAEERE B RESAMEEHAS
ERER ° WARBEATEN G E AR ZEEBE
$%@Fé§@7%ﬁ%ﬁk@%&ﬁ§%i
BRAEBNELAREEFEED LS
RiER)  ASEETBREREIGHE— i%
B BREINSEBABRNEEBAZFMAZEE
SHETEETHREEQRI L F2HE -

g (FE)HEREARLIT 85

—=—

—EFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Investments in joint ventures (Cont'd)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes a joint
venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in a joint venture
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint
venture are recognised in the consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not related
to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

For property management service, as a practical expedient, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the entity has
a right to invoice, as the Group has a right to consideration from a
customer in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to
the customer of the entity’s performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)
Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains
a significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for
the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The relevant interest
expenses during the period between the advance payments were
received and the transfer of the associated goods and services are
accounted for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Contract costs
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an
asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised
is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the assets relate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of rental premises that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Leases (Cont'd)
The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:
. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
are presented within “investment properties”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Leases (Cont'd)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Leases (Cont'd)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Leases (Cont'd)

The Group as a lessor (Cont'd)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

For rent concession under which the Group legally releases the
lessee from its obligation to make specifically identified lease
payment, of which some of these lease payments are contractually
due but not paid and some of them are not yet contractually due,
the Group accounts for the portions which have been recognised
as operating lease receivables (i.e. the lease payments which
are contractually due but not paid) by applying the ECL and
derecognition requirements under HKFRS 9 and applies lease
modification requirements for the forgiven lease payments that the
Group has not recognised (i.e. the lease payments which are not
yet contractually due) as at the effective date of modification.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. When a fair value gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in
profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Foreign currencies (Cont'd)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal of
the foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. For
properties under development for which revenue is recognised over
time, the Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as the
properties are ready for the Group’s intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income”.

ma

~

e M BRI E

BBBRZEHEERTESS

BZ gﬁ (&)

3.2

TESRBEE)

yh=a

B RS AESEREARE (ARA—BR
ERMERARTEREAHENEE) BEE
BMZBERAGFAREEEZRA EEE
EXHMEERERERGAHER I - 5Lk
BEEARSNERTOVENS - ARERY
EURARAREZBHEHERER  @8RY
EREERABEER -

EMREREET ARERERESEHER
DREARXN 2 FEEEST ARETE R
EEEAEL R —REE - EREEERIE
BERBEMXA 2 TR R E MR IZE W
A BRERERMEZEERARNE

A Mt B R ARG A L A A iR 2 A

27
i

BN EREARE S ST BT
B e Rl e S SIS HRARS - T S RERASR

ERBHEEELRHEE @ sRAEEERMH
I 48 R SRR B A A B BB B 15 R Bh M FE UK 2
RAMA Z BRAT R RE - FERK A MR SRR A AR
BEPER - ZEMBNEMBEAIETZ
5l -

g (FE)HBEREARAIT 95

—ECCFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of
the termination benefit and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of
the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Share-based payments (Cont'd)
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions (Cont’d)
Share options granted to employees (Cont'd)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium.

Shares/Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or
services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains
the goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of
the goods or services received are recognised as expenses (unless
the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Taxation (Cont'd)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment property over time, rather than through sale,
except for freehold land, which is always presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition
of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision to the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease
modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition exemption
are recognised on the date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than freehold lands and properties
under construction as described below). Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Construction in progress in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at
cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than freehold land and construction in progress over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Property, plant and equipment (Cont'd)

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of that
item (including the relevant leasehold land classified as right-of-use
assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in “property revaluation reserve”. On
the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation (including properties under construction for
such purposes).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the
Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
development comprises development expenditure including
professional charge directly attributable to the development and
borrowing costs, and these costs are capitalised as part of the
carrying amount of the investment properties under development.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A leased
property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised
if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a
finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit
or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

If a property becomes an owner-occupied property because its
use has been changed as evidenced by commencement of owner-
occupation, the fair value of the property at the date of change in
use is considered as the deemed cost for subsequent accounting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment (Cont'd)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash presented on the consolidated statement
of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer
meeting the definition of cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less) and restricted
deposits arising from pre-sale of properties that are held for
meeting short-term cash commitments. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash as
defined.

Properties under development/properties held for sale

Properties under development for sale which are intended to be
sold upon completion of development and properties held for
sale are classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land
element which is measured at cost model in accordance with
the accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties under
development for sale/properties held for sale are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a
specific identification basis including allocation of the related
development expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost to
completion and costs necessary to make the sales. Costs necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to
the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Properties under development/properties held for sale (Cont’d)

Properties under development for sale are transferred to properties
held for sale upon completion.

The Group transfers a property from properties under
development/properties held for sale to investment property when
there is a change in use to hold the property to earn rentals or/and
for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Any difference between the fair value of the property at
the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised
in profit or loss.

Other inventories

Other inventories comprising consumable stores for own
consumption which are recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories
are determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which
the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).
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3.

3t

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. Z4 BB RGEEBRETIESH
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ()
POLICIES (contd)

A

(A5

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont'd) 32 FEGTBE(E)
Contingent liabilities KAE &
A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events SARBERBRBEASHELEEHRERNIRS
but is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of B DHRBITZEABTAUERTERS
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle BBz K ETRING ©

the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the WASEEBEREETET BHAEMSHE
part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties ENEEEHERIABE  BEXRNGEH
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the HIREPHER ©

consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow AEERETEUEERS IS ALER
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable. A EIRINAG o (WA RER ERt — B RIEADK
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic REABERERIE B BARREENE  RRK
benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a BEEL ] SE AT AR AZE BB R TN - RBIRAT]
contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated e IR E B MM E AR S M WERPHER
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change A o

in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances
where no reliable estimate can be made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Cont'd)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will continue to be held in the investment
revaluation reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the other income line item in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Contd)

(i)~ Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on financial assets (including accounts receivable, deposits paid,
other receivables, amounts due from a joint venture, related
companies and non-controlling interests, restricted bank deposits
and bank balances) and other items (lease receivables and
financial guarantee contracts) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for account receivables
without significant financing component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

0]

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has
a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit
rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Cont'd)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk
since initial recognition of a loan commitment, the Group
considers changes in the risk of a default occurring on
the loan to which a loan commitment relates; for financial
guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. S4B BRGEEBRRTIESHH
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ¢ )
POLICIES (conta)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.

For financial guarantee contracts, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor
in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is
guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss
that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL for certain accounts receivable are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when formulating
the grouping:

B HEERERIREE BRI 5 EREIH
TR EF GBI R M IEE (&

)

HHEEBENG 2 RER

BHEEBRNGERENFRIE &
HWERRE (MR BORBOBEXRIEE) &
BAORRE KB - BRI RELE
KRB FHE TIRRE L BIE R ATHE M &
FHETT - HHEER RN MG RRER
R RNz €5 - HIRBELEREE
WER CEEERE -

—RME FHEEBERREADOE
XN FAREENABEEHRERE R
AEBEBRBURDOHREREZHHZE
£ WIRN AR E EE N ERA X
IR - RHEERYFIAT S - AREE
BHMEEERNRESRERRREEY
B E LA F 165 5T B E B KR
EANESRE B -

RHBREREOME  AREEERY
ANERERTEGRBER T HARLN
R Bt BREEEBRREMNFAEA
PEAEEBREZARANRRERER
SEBHARTAA - BEFASERNEA
TR Z FA 2 FE o

Rt RBRER RBRBEREER (205
BERBEEER)  &TREERNZ
FEPEMCEBRRBEEEETIAE

BB E - AKERGIE D AR
E BT RRRL

o Past-due status; . B EAROR,
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and . BHEANMESL - HAERITE &
o External credit ratings where available. . AAMINBEETR -

114 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont'd)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of accounts receivable where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

%éﬂj%ﬁi Bﬁ%I BHE-Z-_—_F#+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. S4B BRGEEBRRTIESHH

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING e §
POLICIES (cont'd)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont'd) 3.2 FEGHBE(E)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accounts payables, other payables,
borrowings, debt component of convertible bonds and senior notes
and bond are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial
guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair
values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont'd)

Convertible bonds contain debt and derivative components

A conversion option that will be settled other than by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Group’s own equity instruments is a conversion
option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative
components are recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods,
the debt component of the convertible loan notes is carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The derivative
component is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan
notes are allocated to the debt and derivative components in
proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to
the derivative component are charged to profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs relating to the debt component are included in
the carrying amount of the debt portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible loan notes using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of a financial
liability with substantially different terms as an extinguishment
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new
financial liability. A substantial modification of the terms of an
existing financial liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable
to the financial difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition
of a new financial liability.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont'd)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities (Cont'd)

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present value of the
cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of
any fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for
as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised
as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when
such difference is less than 10 percent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities and equity (Cont'd)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities (Cont'd)

When the contractual terms of a convertible instrument are
modified, such as extending the tenure, change in exercise price of
the underlying options, change in option date of underlying options,
the revised terms would result in a substantial modification from
the original terms, after taking into account all relevant facts and
circumstances including qualitative factors, such modification is
accounted for as derecognition of the original financial liability and
the recognition of new financial liability. The difference between the
carrying amount of financial liability derecognised and the fair value
of consideration paid or payable, including any liabilities assumed
and derivative components recognised, is recognised in profit or
loss.

Senior notes and bond

Senior notes and bond issued by the Group that contains both
liability, early redemption option and interest rate adjustments
(which is closely related to the host contract) is not separated into
host contract and embedded derivative on initial recognition. At
the date of issue, the senior notes and bond are recognised at fair
value.

In subsequent periods, the liability components of the senior notes
and bond are carried at amortised cost using effective interest
method. The early redemption option of senior notes is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that related to the issue of the senior notes and
bond are included in the carrying amount of the senior notes and
bond and amortised over the period of the senior notes and bond
using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are described
in note 3.2, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the directors of the Company have determined that
certain of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2022
amounting to RMB31,961,987,000 (2021: RMB20,557,386,000)
situated in the Mainland China are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. The presumption that the carrying amounts of certain of the Group’s
investment properties situated in the Mainland China are recovered
entirely through sale has been rebutted and the deferred tax on the
changes in fair value of these investment properties is recognised
according to the relevant tax rules. For remaining investment properties
amounting to RMB8,717,030,000 (2021: RMB8&,632,968,000), the
presumption that the carrying amounts of these investment properties
measured using fair value model were recovered entirely through sales
was not rebutted and no deferred tax on the changes in fair value of these
investment properties is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties with the aggregate carrying amount as at 31
December 2022 of RMB40,679,017,000 (2021: RMB29,190,354,000)
are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed by independent
qualified professional valuer. The fair value of the investment properties
was determined by reference to valuations conducted on these properties
by an independent firm of property valuer using property valuation
techniques which involve certain assumptions. Changes in assumptions
may result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties which are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and affect the carrying amount of these properties included in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Information about valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of investment properties are
disclosed in note 14.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the income from property development, property
leasing and provision of comprehensive services, net of business tax and
other sales related taxes and after deduction of any discounts.
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont«d)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

35 R 5 HEH 0
FAREEZREDHT

2022 2021
—=E-— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Sales of properties Y HEE 1,211,312 3,392,354
Revenue from hotel operation, property management ~ KEBEEEL - MEBTIERE &
service and other services H A AR 0 U 2 427,567 343,030
Revenue from contracts with customers KREREP &AM 1,638,879 3,735,384
Rental income e A 702,042 642,633
2,340,921 4,378,017
Timing of revenue recognition from contracts with R E E P& AW 85 B
customers
At a point in time H A E 2 RER 1,211,312 3,392,354
Over time BE & B ] 152 427,567 343,030

Sales of properties

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of properties, the
relevant properties specified in the contracts are based on customers’
specifications with no alternative use. Taking into the consideration of
relevant terms, the legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the
Group concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable right to
receive payment prior to transfer of relevant properties to customers.
Revenue from sales of residential properties and commercial buildings
is therefore recognised at a point in time when the completed property
is transferred to customers, being at the point that customer obtains the
control of the completed property and the Group has present right to
receive payment and collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group receives an upfront payment, ranging from RMB10,000
to RMB924,000 (2021: RMB10,000 to RMB500,000) for different
properties from customers for the subscription of properties and such
amount will be treated as the deposits from customers after signing
the sale and purchase agreement. However, depending on the market
conditions, the Group may offer customers a discount compared to the
listed sale price, provided that the customers agree to pay the rest of the
consideration earlier.

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of properties, the
expected duration of satisfying the performance obligation of which
is within one year, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed as permitted under HKFRS 15.

The Group considers the advance payment contains no significant
financing component and accordingly no adjustments of the amount of
consideration would be made.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (conta)
Rental income

Revenue, include both fixed and variable rents, generated from leasing
of commercial properties, office premises, apartments and car parks, is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16.

Revenue from hotel operation, property management service and other
services

Revenue from hotel operation and property management service is
recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation, as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group performs.

All hotel operation service is for periods less than one year. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

For property management service, the Group elected to apply practical
expedient by recognising revenue in the amount to which the Group has
right to invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

In identifying its operating segments, the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers, generally follow the
Group’s service lines, which represent the main products and services
provided by the Group. The Group has identified the following reportable
segments under HKFRS 8:

- Real estate development and sales: sales of properties

- Commercial property investment and operations: lease of
commercial properties, office premises, apartments and car parks

- Comprehensive services: hotel operation, property management
service and other service income

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
these products and service lines requires different resources as well as
marketing approaches.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (contd) 5. WaEkosEER @
Segment revenue and results PHENEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by NTAAERREERNEFRSEE SR E R E
operating and reportable segment: BRI DT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEr —ZFE - —F+ —_A=+—HIFFE
Commercial
Real estate property
development investment  Comprehensive
and sales  and operations services Total
Eih ER R [GEL/ES
REHE REHELKE mERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®TR AR®T AR®T
Revenue: Wz
From external customers REINEF 1,211,312 702,042 427,567 2,340,921
Inter-segment revenue DR E — 17,452 135,256 152,708
Total segment revenue DEW S AR 1,211,312 719,494 562,823 2,493,629
Reportable segment profit A2/ EEF 271,007 640,047 121,597 1,032,651
For the year ended 31 December 2021 AR -—F T HA=1T—HIFE
Commercial
Real estate property
development investment  Comprehensive
and sales  and operations services Total
B Hh EE A 3% [SE3ZES
RIHE BEmgE e R @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTIT ARBFIT AREFIT
Revenue: s -
From external customers KREIINBEF 3,392,354 642,633 343,030 4.378,017
Inter-segment revenue el g = 23,469 112,836 136,305
Total segment revenue DW= EEE 3,392,354 666,102 455,866 4,514,322
Reportahle segment profit AE2FRSERER 1,498,882 581,983 107,535 2,188,400

7 2R 38 5 42 HL R 9 T8 2 R BRAE AT ©

Inter-segment sales are at mutually agreed terms.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont'a)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss

The Group does not allocate fair value change of properties under
development for sale/held for sale upon transfer to investment properties,
fair value changes on investment properties, fair value changes on
derivative component of convertible bonds, other income, other gains and
losses, depreciation, finance costs, share of results of a joint venture and
corporate expenses to individual reportable segment profit or loss for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment by the chief
operating decision makers while the investment properties are allocated
to the segment of “commercial property investment and operations” for
presenting segment assets.

The accounting policies adopted in preparing the reportable segment
information are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3.2.

RE MR AR M EE
R RS EEH

AEHRSHNE BR2HIK

AEBITEREBZLERRE RN ZERSERE
RAAMEERESENERNBERTHE FE
MENRABERZY REVENAAEELZS
HMBRESITET AR AR BEES  Hl
A~ Efbas R EE - TE - BERAS - BIE—HE
ERREBERATIRAXIREBYAZRSEZE
@ MEENERERSBEENEZHEY
ERBEHEZGE DR -

BHEAZHOBERARAZ S BREAREER
MY FE3.2FTit 2 & At R AR o

2022 2021
—E=-C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREETTT
Revenue W &
Reportable segment revenue A 2o Eh 2,493,629 4,514,322
Elimination of inter-segment revenue HE D EEWE (152,708) (136,305)
Consolidated revenue e WS 2,340,921 4,378,017
Profit 27
Reportable segment profit A 2RO EEF) 1,032,651 2,188,400
Recognition of change in fair value of properties under BB BEREPFEWE FEWES
development for sale/properties held for sale upon KREMHEZ AN BEEEBHER
transfer to investment properties 2,355,969 2,787,454
Fair value changes on investment properties BEMENRRBEEEZ (301,833) (220,021)
Other income E A 97,372 98,391
Other gains and losses H bl ek K518 (50,644) (48,111)
Depreciation nE (77,949) (73,438)
Finance costs BbE B AR (1,786,564) (1,710,896)
Share of results of a joint venture Eih—EEERREEA 2 2)
Fair value changes on derivative component of AMREFITETEE D8
convertible bonds DREEEZE (7,357) 83,674
Corporate expenses NGILEEB-3 (582,107) (655,665)
Consolidated profit before tax RBLATAR & B F) 679,536 2,449,786
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (conta)
Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by reportable and
operating segment, no liabilities are presented as the information is
not reportable to the chief operating decision makers in the resource
allocation and assessment of performance:

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

W R 2BEFR =)
PEEERARK
DT AR BN 2 RS E D HEBIS WAESHT -

HRBARERDELFHRRAEZLERRE
EREE ABTE2IZEEHN:

Segment assets DEEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFIT
Assets BE
Real estate development and sales EHEREREES 48,754,245 43,209,976
Commercial property investment and operations EEMFEREELE 40,707,002 29,212,394
Comprehensive services A R 325,885 314,205
Reportable segment assets AEROEEE 89,787,132 72,736,575
Goodwill S 231,602 231,602
Equity instruments at fair value through other BEAnBEFARMEERZEZ
comprehensive income AT B 371,963 450,423
Bank balances and cash (including restricted RITHEBRIRS (BREZRH
bank deposits) RITER) 3,605,005 7,287,068
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E 617,557 551,812
Interest in a joint venture and amount due R—EEE R AN R RER
from a joint venture —M& & QRIFIEA 528,370 528,372
Corporate assets RAEE 4,562,964 3,156,201
Consolidated total assets IREBAEE 99,704,593 84,942,053

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, all assets are allocated to operating
segments other than goodwill, equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income, bank balances and cash (including
restricted bank deposits), deferred tax assets, interest in a joint venture
and amount due from a joint venture, and corporate assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

3.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (contd)
Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located on the Mainland China, Hong Kong,
the United States of America (“USA”) and the Kingdom of Cambodia
(“Cambodia”). Revenue from external customers are mainly generated
from the Mainland China for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021. Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets.

e BHRRME
B3R D EE R

i & & K

AEBNEBURTEAM B EZFRERE
(XD ERHRIE(RBE) BE_FT—_—
FERZFZ—F+ZA=1+—HILFE KRB
EPMKRETIZRETEAM AEENFRSE
EEHREENMELERT -

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

Mainland China PR A 32,780,583 21,291,253
Hong Kong H55 8,518,727 8,407,011
USA ESE 180,812 175,216
Cambodia RIFE 599,643 701,874
42,079,765 30,575,354

Note: Non-current assets excluded goodwill, restricted bank deposits, equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income and deferred
tax assets.

Information abhout major customers

No major customers contributed over 10% of the total sales of the Group
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Hiet - ERBDEETEERE  SRBRITHER BROAE
Bt ARt E RS AT ARRERIREE

FTEEFEHR

BE-_T-_—GR-_FT-_—F+-_F=+—HIE
B ETERFHAEERHERBHI0%

OTHER INCOME Hag A
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Interest income B WA 65,425 69,217
Dividend income SN 22,808 22,800
Government grants (Note) BRI RG (B 7E) 9,139 6,374
97,372 98,391

Note: It mainly represented cash received from unconditional grants by the local
government to encourage the business operations in the Mainland China.

Biat - ZeBEREHMT BT RSB B A ER L
T 2 DO SR IR M R BE PR IR &
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B M AR MR

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

7. Hfttlzs

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

kE#E

2022 2021
—E=-= —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBET T
Impairment loss recognised for accounts receivable, net & Ut BR R E BT B FERF B (36,385) (68,873)
Foreign exchange (loss) gain, net P 5 (B 18) Wz $ 58 (31,204) 6,396
Write-off of deposits paid for acquisition of WL ERAESRE T
equity fund investment ZiRE (27,840) =
Loss on non-substantial modification of domestic RBARBIERZIFERNEEEIR
corporate bonds (note 31) (Kia£31) (2,394) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME  BEREEZER (23) (8)
Gain on non-substantial modification AR ES 2 IFEREE W
of convertible bond (note 30(a)) (K12£30@@)) 23,252 =
Gain on early redemption of convertible bonds REBR MR ES 2 W
(note 30(b)) (H1:£30(b)) 12,613 -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary o E M B A R A M as - 3,569
Others HAit 11,337 10,805
(50,644) (48,111)
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. WERRAK
2022 2021
—E-= —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBF T
Interest on: A
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 1,754,571 1,498,182
Convertible bonds AmRES 165,526 193,594
Senior notes and bond BERERES 474,529 481,490
Lease liabilities HEBRE 13,849 11,281
Less: Amount capitalised in investment properties W BREREEMERERS
under development and properties under HEMEERN 2 2"
development for sale* (621,911) (473,651)
1,786,564 1,710,896

* The finance costs have been capitalised at rates ranging from 1.00% to

19.90% (2021: 1.30% to 13.75%) per annum.

* BB AR TR F B E1.00%E19.90% (Z T = —F :

1.30%%E13.75%) BA1L -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9. BRBAEF
2022 2021
—E=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTT
Profit before tax is arrived at after charging (crediting): K&t Al & F T &% (GHA) ¢
Cost of properties held for sale recognised as expense  H& 2 /4 5 Sz B 13 & ) 2£ H) ik AR 940,305 1,893,472
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y BERBRETE 78,709 73,873
Less: Amount capitalised in investment properties W BRTERREMERBERES
under development and properties under FEMEERNMLz e
development for sale (760) (435)
77,949 73,438
Gross rental income from investment properties KEMEMSHEERALE 702,042 642,633
Outgoings in respect of investment properties that BERFREAHESKRAZ
generated rental income during the year KEMENREZ (61,995) (60,650)
640,047 581,983
Expense relating to short-term leases MHAERBEER 4,365 2,025
Auditor’s remuneration Z SR 2 3,546 2,558
Staff costs 8 TR
— Directors’ emoluments (note 11) —EEHM (A1) 8,453 10,466
— Salaries and other benefits in kind —Hre REMEYFZ 453,500 391,886
— Amount recognised as expense for —ERABBRRBAK AR NS
retirement benefit costs 33,294 35,004
Less: Amount capitalised in investment properties W BEERISEMERERES
under development and properties under FEMEENMEN ST
development for sale (119,809) (113,538)
375,438 323,818

g (FE)HEREARLH
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B M AR MR

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

10. FRIBHiRAX

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR%TR AREF T
Current tax BVERRY 18
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax —HP BB EMERH
(“EIT") (MBI (a) 27,990 175,401
— PRC withholding tax on dividends distributed — B AR D IRR S/
by subsidiaries FETEE 120,163 =
— Under provision in prior year —BEFERETZ - 58
148,153 175,459
Mainland China LAT R A3+ IR (E R
([ LI EFR )
— Current year —ARFE (b) 89,551 200,309
Deferred taxation (note 18) RERIE (M 5218)
— Current year —KREFEE 738,357 739,101
Total income tax expense Frisfif s #58 976,061 1,114,869
Notes: Atz
(a) Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (a) RIBPEAREMBECEMETE ([DEMERE])
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate REEMGHREERGN 8 —TTENF—-—H—H
of the Mainland China subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards. #8 - FER R A R AR E A25% °

(b) Under the Provisional Rules on LAT Implementation Rules of the Mainland (b) BER—AAAEF—A-++tBEHENPEANM
China implemented on 27 January 1995, all gains from the sales or transfer I ERE/TERGIERME - 1A REHE S ENF
of land use rights, buildings and their attached facilities in the Mainland B At A S {5 FR A - 18T I EL AR R AR i T R 1S A UK
China are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on = AR IR ERT - BRI E R (B8
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less EMEMSTIER AR L - ST AR AR
deductible expenditures including cost of land use rights and all property MEBEMEERBAS) LREXGTE - B30%E60%

development expenditures.

EE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contd)

Pursuant to the Cambodia tax laws, a subsidiary of the Group is entitled
to preferential tax treatment with full exemption from Cambodia Corporate
Income Tax for three years from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2022. No
estimated assessable profits for the period from 1 April 2022 to 31
December 2022 and therefore no Cambodia Corporate Income Tax has
been provided for both years.

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for as the Group had no

e M BRI E

10. FREHRAX @)

BRERBETEL  A£EN—EHRNBARIEZZS—N
FNA—BRBRE-_T_—_F=ZA=+—HI=@AF
EZEMKERGE EXAEACRBRELEMS
HeB-E-_—_FHNA—BHRE=E-_ZT-_—_F+=-A
=+ —HEMYEARGETERBTAT - AR E
FEHERTIERCEMGRATIREE -

F B 7S 52 18 50 P 8] 6 2 3 SR AR AT i B IR ER TR & A

estimated assessable profits for both years.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

UL I S BB ST AH R

REFFTSHAX A RS BER NIRRT AT

tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: BRINT -
2022 2021
—E_— —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®ET T
Profit before tax R B B &2 A 679,536 2,449,786
Tax at the Mainland China EIT at 25% (2021: 25%) 1225% 9 B A Hh 1> AT S LA =R
(ZZF=——% :25%) 169,884 612,447

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 7~ AT 074 B sz 89 5t 76 52 28 511,275 310,237
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes BEFRBANKRESZE (111,680) (29,992)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERREBENHREZE 136,557 70,270
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised AL AERHIEER (1086) (448)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not RER AR E RFERE 2 B2

recognised 11 274
Tax effect of temporary difference arising from AR 53 R F) B TR 0 A B B A B

withholding tax for undistributed profits FIEENBETE 202,113 =
Mainland China LAT charge R B 9 3 - S 3R (E R S 89,551 200,309
Tax effect of Mainland China LAT charge FEIRH T HISERS E e SRS (22,388) (50,077)
Under provision in prior year BAFEREBTR - 58
Others Hh 844 1,791
Income tax expense for the year AEEMBHEAX 976,061 1,114,869

g (FE)HEREARLH
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:éﬂ'l;_l‘_; é EZI- i% ﬁ 15):2 l}ﬂ- 'EI For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE-Z-_—_F#+-_A=1+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 1. EEREEME
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=M<
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 9 (2021: 10) ENSEMNIG(ZE-—F: 108)EE8H
directors are as follows: EVEBH AT

Equity- Contributions

Salaries settled to retirement
and share-based benefit
Fees allowance payments scheme Total
MREERE
BB 32 A5 RKEH
ok HeREH HME FTEIHR st
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

it AR®FT  AR®TR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR

2022 —E-CEF

Executive directors BTEE

Ms. Huang Jingshu B RL - 1,382 - 56 1,438

Mr. Tang Shouchun EEELE (a) - 2,239 - 112 2,351

Mr. Ye Xingan E@ELELE - 2,016 - 75 2,091

Mr. Huang Hao Yuan BERTE - 1,614 - 75 1,689

Ms. Li Yufei e | (d) - 177 - 9 186

- 1,428 - 327 1,755

Non-executive director FHTES

Mr. Chen Wei Sheng BREELE - - - - -

2022 —EB-_CE

Independent non-executive ~ BYFHTES

directors

Mr. Wang Jing B ¢t 224 - - = 224

Ms. Hu Gin Ing i 250 - - = 250

Mr. Mo Fan ENEE 224 - - = 224
698 - - - 698
698 1,428 - 327 8,453
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

11.

(a)

e M BRI E

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (cont'd) 1. EEREEME =)
Directors’ emoluments (Cont'd) (a) EEZ=REEM< (&)
Equity- Contributions
Salaries settled to retirement
and share-based benefit
Fees allowance payments scheme Total
MRS E
PARR R £ 15 BRI
e e o2 op0] SRR @5t
NOTES RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Wiz AREFT AREFT ARETFT AREFTL AREFT
2021 —T_—F
Executive directors WITEZ
Ms. Huang Jingshu EG G = 2,731 = 122 2,853
Mr. Tang Shouchun EEELE 6) = 2,156 = 108 2,264
Mr. Ye Xingan EETRE = 1,962 = 62 2,024
Mr. Huang Hao Yuan "EERLE = 1,545 = 62 1,607
Mr. Siu Chi Hung B LE (b) - 995 - 50 1,045
- 9,389 - 404 9,793
Non-executive directors FHTESR
Ms. Li Lihong FRALE (b) - = = = -
Mr. Chen Wei Sheng REELAE () = = = = -
2021 —EZ-F
Independent non-executive  BUFRITEE
directors
Mr. Wang Jing LA 216 - - - 216
Ms. Hu Gin Ing HBELL 241 = = = 241
Mr. Mo Fan EALE 216 = = = 216
673 - - - 673
673 9,389 - 404 10,466
Notes: ok

(a) Appointed and acted as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company

on 21 March 2016.

(b) Resigned on 20 September 2021.

(c) Appointed and acted as the Non-executive Director of the Company
on 20 September 2021.

(d) Appointed and acted as the Executive Director of the Company on 1

June 2022.

(@ WRIZZE-—R"FZA=-+—AEZEAERAK
RAETHRHAEH,

by RZTE=Z—FAA=-+HEE-

(d) R-—E - —F A AEZRTLEAEARR
HITES -

g (FE)HEREARLH
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B M AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont) 1. EEREEME )
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Cont'd) (a3 ESREEME(E)
Except Mr. Chen Wei Sheng (2021: Ms. Li Lihong and Mr. Chen HEZZT-__F+-A=1+—HILFE KK
Wei Sheng) who agreed not to receive remuneration during their BEXE(ZTEZ—F ZBARTRREE
service period as the non-executive director, no other directors S ) AEREEER AR T KEERIENTT
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the year ended EEZ2MEN  MEEAEERNEXREME
31 December 2022. The executive directors’ emoluments shown AL - ERFIIIMTEENHE BEER
above were for their services in connection with the management ERADNARAEESHIRERGOIRM - L
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-executive FKASEHITE R KRB IERMITEFTNME T
director’s and independent non-executive directors’ emoluments BEEEEARR B E SRS 2 R EIREN -
shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no BHE_ZT-_—_fK-_F-_—F+-A=+—H
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors as an IEFE  AEEMERNESHEREH - N
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation TERBMAREBSINAREBZ KRB ER
for loss of office. BB (E -
(b)  Employees’ emoluments h) EEME
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the RERN  AEBRAUGaSFMEEEF 8218
year included 4 directors (2021: 4 directors). Details of the AZEER(ZTE-—F 14%) HE2_T——
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2022 of the T A=+ —BUEFESRT —RIWEARFE
remaining one highest paid employee who is neither a director nor ENFEEETHRABZ &= T NES 2FHBF
chief executive of the Company are as follows: BT -
2022 2021
—E=-= —ET-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARB T
Salaries and allowance 2y DS @=aa:ly 3,014 2,660
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme RIREFE B3R 151 133
3,165 2,793
The number of the highest paid employee who is not the directors NFTIMNeHE 2 WIERRREEZ H= %
of the Company whose remuneration fell within the followings Bl B A ST :
bands is as follows:
2022 2021
—E-C—F — T —F
Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”) 3,000,001 to 3,000,001t ([ l) =
HK$3,500,000 3,500,000/ 7t - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7t 24,000,000/% 7T 1 -
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e M BRI E

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

FR-F-_—F

12. DIVIDEND 12. BE
The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of any RABESFTRBEREBE=_ST =
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. Jr A=+—HLEFERBEEMBS -
13. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BR(EE)BF

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

AT BB E

AR RIBR NS B REAR RS (BB 2R THER

2022 2021
—E=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTIT
Earnings &R
(Loss) earnings for the purposes of basic (loss) RETEFRER (BE) BT &
earnings per share (Eﬂﬁ) & (730,147) 1,152,576
Effect of dilutive potential (loss) earnings in respect of & fE#E% (E518) B F ¥ A N &IE
EpfZ
— Convertible bonds — AR ES - 3,543
(Loss) earnings for the purposes of diluted REtE GRS (BE) &2F &
(loss) earnings per share (Eﬂ,ﬂ) 27 (730,147) 1,156,119
2022 2021
—E=-= T - —4F
Number of shares ®RHEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares of the ARFEERER (BE) BRI
Company for the purpose of basic (loss) earnings ARRIEBIRINEFHE
per share 5,097,703,975 5,097,557,126
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in respect of &7 #58 E @A S A TR IBHFE
— Share options — BERR = 13,429,053
— Convertible bonds — A RRES - 133,685,286
— Convertible preference shares — AI AR B ST IR - 3,404,575,241
Weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Rt E SREE (BER) BFIMN
Company for the purpose of diluted (loss) earnings $ B A NAE 15 8
per share 5,097,703,975 8,649,246,706

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31
December 2022 does not assume the conversion of outstanding
convertible bonds and convertible preference shares (2021: certain
outstanding convertible bonds) of the Group as the conversion would
result in a decrease in loss per share (2021: increase in earnings per
share). Moreover, the computation of diluted loss per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company’s options because the exercise price
of those options was higher than the average market price for shares for

the year ended 31 December 2022.

FRABRELR(ZE=—

(ZZ=—%: SRANEM)

BRZEBRAERETE -

HEEBE T —F+-A=+—HIEFENETKR
BrEmE ﬁﬁfﬁj$$%@%ﬁ5ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂ}ﬁ%1§
BT R AT R
Tﬁﬂﬂaﬁ)%){@ Jﬁl%ﬂ?ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂ%%ﬁﬁy
o BESN Z
::¢+ A=1+—RLFERRABRENITE
Fn#ﬂ%ﬁ?i’]mfﬁ AT E A E B R I

HREZE=

g (FE)HEREARLH
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B M AR MR

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices, residential properties and retail
stores under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of one to twenty years (2021: one to
twenty years), with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial
period held by lessees only.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease
arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective functional
currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain any
residual value guarantees or any lessee’s option to purchase the property.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total cash outflow for
leases classified as investment properties is RMB31,045,000 (2021:

RMB26,565,000).

14.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HItFE

REME

AEERELLHERLZHBAE - FEVER
TEEE HeEEAXN - EERE—RNT A
—EZAF(ZT=—F:—E+F) - EFHEA
BEHHBESHELRZEVHEHR 2 BHOEF -

HAMMAEENAEEERE AN EBE
HASEGEREEZHMAZIINERR - HES
HUTTESEARNBEBEERIEEATEESH
MEHEREERE

HE-_T-_—#+_-_A=+—HIFE HEAK
BEYEZHAEZRSRHBTEAARES1,045,0007T

—ET-—F: AR¥26,5650005T) °

Investment

Completed properties under

investment development
properties at fair value Total
RARER
BExER ARZBESD
BREME BREME st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR® T AR T
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—4¢—H—H 22,726,094 441,065 23,167,159
Additions NE 70,982 228,590 299,572
Transfer from properties under EREEREPEFEWE W)
development for sale (note) - 4,060,400 4,060,400
Transfer from properties held for sale R AREYE W)
(note) 2,185,324 - 2,185,324
(Decrease) increase in fair value RIBRNERZ AREE
recognised in profit or loss, unrealised ORt ) 180 - RER (234,342) 14,321 (220,021)
Disposals HE (53,457) - (53,457)
Exchange adjustments fE 5 A (248,623) = (248,623)
At 31 December 2021 and RZBZ—F+=—R=+—H
1 January 2022 rE—ZE-_—_F—HF—H 24,445,978 4,744,376 29,190,354
Additions NE - 1,297,733 1,297,733
Transfer from properties under EREEEPEEWE (W)
development for sale (note) - 9,701,101 9,701,101
Transfer from properties held for sale ERBFEEMEHZE)
(note) 137,400 - 137,400
Transfer from property, plant and BEAVE  BREREH
equipment 7,296 - 7,296
(Decrease) increase in fair value RIBRNERZ AREE
recognised in profit or loss, unrealised CRA) N - REIR (709,005) 407,172 (301,833)
Disposals HE (44,814) - (44,814)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment B =¥ - E L&E (78,165) - (78,165)
Exchange adjustments PE 5 # % 769,945 = 769,945
At 31 December 2022 N-ZE-_—_F+-A=+—H 24,528,635 16,150,382 40,679,017

Note:

Included in transfer from properties held for sale/properties under

development for sale, fair value gain of approximately RMB2,355,969,000
(2021: RMB2,787,454,000) have been recognised at the date of transfer in

the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-_—_F+-_A=1T—HIFE

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta)

All the completed investment properties are rented out under operating
leases or are held for capital appreciation purposes.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties with aggregate
carrying value of RMB40,679,017,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB29,190,354,000) were arrived at on the basis of valuations carried
out on those dates by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited, which is a firm of independent qualified professional
valuer not connected to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities under completed investment properties has been
recognised (2021: RMB77,386,000 for both right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities at the date of the inception of the leases). As 31
December 2022, the carrying amount of investment properties that were
leased out under subleases amounted to RMB259,430,000 (2021:
RMB308,580,000). During the year ended 31 December 2022, income
from subleasing these properties amounted to RMB37,646,000 (2021:
RMB39,986,000) and a fair value loss of these properties amounted to
RMB49,150,000 (2021: a fair value gain of these properties amounted to
RMB52,994,000) was recognised in profit of loss.

For completed investment properties, the valuations have been arrived at
using income capitalisation approach and direct comparison approach.
For income capitalisation approach, the market rentals of all lettable
units of the properties are assessed by reference to the rentals achieved
in the lettable units as well as other lettings of similar properties in the
neighbourhood. The capitalisation rate adopted is made by reference
to the yield rates observed by the valuer for the similar properties in the
locality and adjusted based on the valuer’'s knowledge of the factors
specific to the respective properties. Direct comparison approach is
arrived at by reference to comparable market transactions and suppose
that evidence of relevant transactions in the market place can be
extrapolated to similar properties, subject to allowance for variable factors.

14.

A M RRME

REWE &)

FEERRREVEHERBLEHERERRE
AIBEEWMEFE

RZZE-_—_F+_A=+—H A&EEEARLE
A AR ®40,679,017,000c (ZTE = —F: ARK
29 190,354,0007T) 2 I E M ¥ 2 A i BETIRE M

BEITEETGHRBAERAANZBATETHM
BEN ZARBENEERY EBH 2B LAERE
HEGERTT o

HE_Z_—_F+_A=+—HLFE HMEER
EEREENEBE TNFERAREERTEEAR (=
T-—F RHEERKBY FERAREERTEESR
BB ARE77386,000T) - M_ZE-—F+_A
—t+—A RESHABAHAKREVERAEAAR
#259,430,0007T (= Z = —F : AR 308,580,000
) BEZT_F+A=F+—HLEFE X
Ao R EMENWE B ARE37,646,0007T (ZF

——% : AR¥39,986,0007T) * MZEMER DR
BEEBE/ARBL9,150,000C (ZT=—F : A

ZE QR EENR

FEM&Z £ AR 52 994,0007T) *
N {E\ﬁn‘:’:ﬁgwu °©

HETKIREMEMS - ZAEETRARAE R
HERBRLBOFETT - MBABRHEEME - ¥
¥AMARHEENNmERS V2RI HHEEM
AR BB AR E R Et H BB ESMESET
FHE e RAZ BN RTD2RE R RN
BmEWRBEHEMAANSDENSELETHE - B
BLBORNSEANELBRTSER S » LREAIRE
M5 NAARE X 5 Z P B R LAY S0 h i - 1R
BERHAERE -
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta)

For investment properties under development that are measured at fair
value, the valuations have been arrived at residual approach and direct
comparison approach assuming that the investment properties will
be completed in accordance with the development proposals and the
relevant approvals for the proposals have been obtained. The key inputs
in the residual approach include the market value of the completed
investment properties, which are estimated with reference to sales
evidence of similar properties in the nearest locality, with adjustments
made to account for differences in locations and other factors specific
to the respective properties based on the valuer's judgement. Costs of
development are also taken into account including construction costs,
finance costs and professional fees, as well as developer’s profit margin
which reflects the remaining risks associated with the development of the
properties at the valuation date and the return that the developer would
require for bringing them to completion status, which is determined by
the valuer based on its analyses of recent land transactions and market
value of similar completed properties in the respective locations. Direct
comparison approach is arrived at by reference to comparable market
transactions and suppose that evidence of relevant transactions in
the market place can be extrapolated to similar properties, subject to
allowance for variable factors.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and
best use of the investment properties is their current use. The fair values
of certain investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid or
accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.
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14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRI E

FR-ZF-_—F+-_A=+—H8 &%
EXrSREMEZAABEAETAZEZHAH

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (contd) 14. BEWME »
The major inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Group’s major A ——
investment properties as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are set out

below: BER T :
Investment properties

held by the Group in the

Relationship of

consolidated statement Fair value  Valuation technique Significant unohservable
of financial position hierarchy  and key inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
TABE@A

REEHBRREERR AREE YEEAAEE

HESERENRENE R REXHRIZRAGE IETTEERAYE 2B BRE

Completed investment
properties

ERRBRENE

Completed investment Level 3 Income Capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking into account The higher the A'slight increase in the
properties located in the Approach the capitalisation of rental income capitalisation rate, capitalisation rate
Mainland China with an potential, nature of the property, and the lower the fair used would result in
aggregate carrying amount The key inputs are: prevailing market condition, of a range value. a significant decrease
of RMB13,924,565,000 (1) Capitalisation rate; and from 2.0% t0 6.0% (31.12.2021: in fair value, and vice
(31.12.2021: (2) Monthly market rent. 1.5% t06.0%). versa.
RMB13,833,520,000)

URFEABNETKEE F=H  BABKRHE A RERMCBRMANEN  DELE BRI EYR FAB AR =g
W% EEAEAARS REMTR  BRCLER20%E  RAEBEBE- RAGEHARE
13,924,565,0007 (= % FEHABBRNOT 6.0%(ZZ—E+-A=1—H: BRERE Rz
Z—F+ZA=+-8: (1) BXbLE: R 1.5%%6.0%) TR o
AR#13,833,520,0007T) (2 mEAM-

Monthly market rent, taking into account
the completion time, location, and
individual factors, such as frontage and
size, between the comparables and the
property, at an average of a range from
RMB12 to RMB664 (31.12.2021:
from RMB7 to RMB511) per square
metre (“sqm”) per month on gross
floor area basis.

5 ARG R AT A LR Y S B 5 R
2R TR - (1B R RARE
FEERE  NEEERARLESA
GEAR(EFKD EFANTAR
BLTE ARB6AT (ZE=—F
TZR=+T—R: ARBTTZAR
#B117T) °

The higher the monthly
market rent, the
higher the fair value.

A significant increase in
the monthly market rent
used would result in
a significant increase
in fair value, and vice

Versa.
s AEMR PR S A AR
ARBEYS - MEEHALEE
REEM K2R

g (FE)HEREARLH
—ECCFFR
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

(Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_ZT-—_F+-A=1T—RHILFE

14. REWXE»

Relationship of

consolidated statement Fairvalue  Valuation technique Significant unobservahle
of financial position hierarchy ~ and key inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
TAREB A

REAUBRARR AffEE YEAMNEE

HASERENRENE S8 HERNRIEAAEE FETUBERAHE 2% BRE

Completed investment Level 3 Direct Comparison Approach  Selling prices per sqm based on The higher the selling A significant increase in
properties located in the market observable transactions prices per sqm, the the selling prices per
Mainland China with an The key input is: of similar properties, of a range higher the fair value. sgqm used would result
aggregate carrying amount Selling price per sqm; from RMB74,000 to RMB85,013 in a significant increase
of RMB2,007,400,000 (31.12.2021: from RMB74,000 to in fair value, and vice
(31.12.2021: RMB85,013) per sqm on gross floor versa.
RMB1,991,040,000) area basis.

URRBERMNETKE F=&  BEBRELBRE BRUDENABETSXSETE BTAREEERE BIIREEERAK
BNE BEAERAR METRHERR  NRERER & AREEES  BENBEERAR
#2,007,400,0007C (=& FEGABENT EEGFHRNFARB74,000E BEABEN R
Z—F+ZR=+—-R: BYRARHEER: AR#85013L (ZE=—%+=A IR
AR #1,991,040,0007T) =1+—H8: AR®74000tEARE

85,0137T) °

Completed investment Level 3 Income Capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking into account The higher the A'slight increase in the
properties located in Approach the capitalisation of rental income capitalisation rate, capitalisation rate
Hong Kong with an potential, nature of the property, and the lower the fair used would result in
aggregate carrying amount The key inputs are: prevailing market condition, of 2.6% value. a significant decrease
of RMB7,997,715,000 (1) Capitalisation rate; and (31.12.2021: 2.5%). in fair value, and vice
(31.12.2021: (2) Monthly market rent. Versa.
RMB7,920,091,000)

URBEBHNETKEEN F=H  BWABRHER BAREBRMCASBNEN WERE BERCHERS - iliow N d = dIN
¥ RELEAARE RERMTR - BAELER2.6% AR BEME - RAGEHRARE
7,997,715,0007t (=% FEGAHBENT (ZBZ—F+ZA=t—8: ERERE R
——E+ZRA=+-8: ) BARMEHE: R 25%) ¢ TR o
AR #7,920,091,0007T) %A o
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Monthly market rent, taking into account
the completion time, location, and
individual factors, such as frontage and
size, between the comparables and the
property, at an average of a range from
RMB 210 to RMB490 (31.12.2021:
RMB280 to RMB310) per sqm per
month on gross floor area basis.

mEAREHARAELBRMEENE
2RI - B REEHANR
BEEERZ NEEARAHEE
BRAGTARTEANTARK210T
EAR¥AOT(ZE-—F+_A
=+—0: AR¥280TE ARK310
L) °

The higher the monthly
market rent, the
higher the fair value.

A significant increase in
the monthly market rent
used would result in
a significant increase
in fair value, and vice
versa.

F T 95 A A 1 4
MEEBRAEE

REEIN - R 2T
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

e M BRI E

14. REWE #)

Relationship of

consolidated statement Fairvalue  Valuation technique Significant unohservahle
of financial position hierarchy  and key inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
TABEEA

REEHBRREERR AREE YEANAEE

HEKERENRENE ER REEMRIZGABE IEFTEEBHARE 2B BRE

Completed investment Level 3 Income Capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking into account The higher the Aslight increase in the
properties located in Approach the capitalisation of rental income capitalisation rate, capitalisation rate
Cambodia with an potential, nature of the property, and the lower the fair used would result in
aggregate carrying amount The key inputs are: prevailing market condition, of a range value. a significant decrease
of RMB598,955,000 (1) Capitalisation rate; and from 8.75% 10 9.75%) (31.12.2021: in fair value, and vice
(31.12.2021: (2) Monthly market rent. 8.5% t09.5%). versa.
RMB701,327,000)

UARBERNETHRE F=H  BWABKHEE i REACHQWAES  WEE BXhE#E - AR A=/ E
nE BERAEAARYE BEREAMTR BREULEAENT RABEBE RABERAAE
598,955,0007T (ZF=— FEHAHENT 875%%9.75% (ZE=—F+=A BRERE Rz
FTZA=T-H: AR (1) BAELE: K =+—H :85%%9.5%) ° UEAE
#701,327,0007T) (2 mEAM-

Monthly market rent, taking into account ~ The higher the monthly A significant increase in

the completion time, location, and
individual factors, such as frontage and
size, between the comparables and the
property, at an average of a range from
RMB101 to RMB115 (31.12.2021:
RMB97 to RMB110) per sgm per
month on gross floor area basis.

miE ARG RUAL B EEY X
AR TR - 2 REERNR
BEEERE NREERAEE
BABTARTEANTARKIOLT
ZARBIST (ZE=—5+=A
=+—HB: ARBITTZEARKELLO
) °

market rent, the
higher the fair value.

s AEEE
ARBEYS -

the monthly market rent
used would result in

a significant increase

in fair value, and vice
versa.

PR S AEARE
MEBHAAEE
REEM k2R
o o

g (FE)HEREARLH
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

14. REWE o)

Relationship of

consolidated statement Fairvalue  Valuation technique Significant unobservahle
of financial position hierarchy ~ and key inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
TAREB A
REAUBRARR AffEE YEAMNEE
HASERENRENE S8 HERNRIEAAEE FETUBERAHE ZBR BRE
Investment properties under
development that are
measured at fair value as at
31 December 2022
RZB-Z%+ZH
=t-ARAAEETE
ZERRPRENE
Investment properties under  Level 3 Residual Approach Gross development value on completion  The higher the gross A'significant increase
development located in the basis, taking into account the development value, in gross development
Mainland China with an The key inputs were: completion time, location, and the higher the fair value used would result
aggregate carrying amount (1) Gross development individual factors, such as frontage and value. in a significant increase
of RMB6&5,600,000 value; and size, between the comparable and the in fair value, and vice
(31.12.2021: (2) Developer's profit property, of RMB986,100,000. Versa.
RMB353,000,000) margin.
Developer's profit margin, taking
into account the comparable land
transactions and progress of the
property, of a range from 12% to 15%.
URPERMNERTRE F=HK EEE REKEE A  BREEELHRT BREEELS FABREEEAR
M EEAEAARE BUBMEEZMERBRIRE  RABEES EmMEEHARE
685,600,0007T (ZF=— FEHABENT UERGEANPESEERR BAEEN R2

F+-A=+-B: AR
#353,000,0007T)

Annual Report 2022

1) BREEE R
2) FEBMEE-

(31.12.2021: Direct
Comparison Approach

The key input is: Selling price
per sqm)

(ZB=—F+ZA=t-
B BEELEE

IEBHARENT  §Fh
KHEER)
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# AR #986,100,0007T ©

B RATEN BRI I RMEER -
REBFEER/NFI2%E15% °

(31.12.2021: Selling prices per
sgqm based on market observable
transactions of similar properties, of a
range from RMB2,701 to RMB3,518
per sqm on gross floor area basis.)

(ZZ-—%+-A=+—H: REHE
UMENIBRTERHETNET
FAKBEBE  NREAEARES
ERFANTFARE2101TEARE
35187 °)

(31.12.2021: The
higher the selling
prices per sqm,
the higher the fair
value.)

(ZZE=—%+=A
=t-B:8¥%H
KHEBRES -
AREESR )

TR o

(31.12.2021: A significant
increase in the selling
prices per sqm used
would result in a
significant increase
in fair value, and vice
versa.)

(Z2=—-%+ZA
=+—R:8THKRH
EERABEMEEH
AREEAREM K
2T )
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14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M RRME

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

14. REY=X )

Relationship of

consolidated statement Fairvalue  Valuation technique Significant unohservahle
of financial position hierarchy  and key inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
TABEEA

REEHBRREERR AREE YEANAEE

HEKERENRENE ER REEMRIZGABE IEFTEEBHARE 2B BRE

Investment properties under  Level 3 Residual Approach Gross development value on completion  The higher the gross A significant increase
development located in the basis, taking into account the development value, in gross development
Mainland China with an The key inputs were: completion time, location, and the higher the fair value used would result
aggregate carrying amount (1) Gross development individual factors, such as frontage value. in a significant increase
of RMB440,882,000 value; and and size, between the comparable and in fair value, and vice
(31.12.2021: (2) Developer's profit the property, of RMB1,543,180,000 versa.
RMB330,976,000) margin. (2021: RMB773,316,000).

URFEAMNERTRE =&/  BEE REREE B ERREEST R BREEEYS - FABREEEBEAR
n% ERAEAARYE BUBYEEZMER 2 BRIRE  RAEEYS - BMSEBARE
440,882,0007 (ZF=— ERABENT U ERGEHATRESRERE EREEM R
FTZA=T-H: AR (1) BRZEE: R BAR1,543,180,0007 (ZF=— UEAE
#%330,976,0007T) 2) REBAEE- F: AR¥773,316,0007T) °

Developer's profit margin, taking The higher the A'significant increase
into account the comparable land developer’s profit in developer's profit
transactions and progress of the margin, the lower the margin used would
property, of a range from 12% to 15% fair value. result in a significant
(2021: from 12% to 15%). decrease in fair value,

and vice versa.

BARAALBR LR S RDEES - BEBHNEEE FAREBENEXK
REBNEXRANTI2%E1% (= AREESE- EEMBEEHAR

—F 1 12%Z15%) ° EERERSD R
IR

Investment properties under  Level 3 Direct Comparison Approach  Selling prices per sqm based on The higher the selling A significant increase in
development located in the market observable transactions of prices per sqm, the the selling prices per
Mainland China with an The key inputs were: similar properties, of a range from higher the fair value. sgm used would result
aggregate carrying amount (1) Selling price per sqm; RMB33,788 to RMB40,394 (2021: in a significant increase
of RMB15,023,900,000 and RMB33,007 to RMB38,348) per sqm in fair value, and vice
(31.12.2021: (2) The risk discount factor on gross floor area basis. versa.
RMB4,060,400,000)

URFEAMNERTRE =&  ERELBE REBUDENTEETSFEEN 8T Xﬁ%%%ﬁ BEARHEEBRA
n¥ - BRAEAARYE BYAREEER NREERAE & AAGEHES. BENBEILR
15,023,900,0007t (=& FEGAHENT LT HRNFAREIZ7BLEA BEEKREEN R
——f+=A=1+—-AR: (1) BYAKHEEER kK RBI03UT(ZE=—F: ARK IR
AR %4,060,400,0007T) 2 BERERAZR 33,0077 E AR #38,3487T) ©

There were no transfers in or out of Level 3 during both years.

The risk discount factor, taking into
account the signing completion rate
of relocation agreement with original
residents and the expected time to
complete the housing demolition,
relocation and settlement.

RREIR A =S RERERETHRE
i TRERTHRERERE - HhiE
REE ZBHRRH -

The higher the risk
discount factor, the
lower the fair value.

ERERAZES
DAEEBE -

g (FE)HEREARLH

A'significant increase in
risk discount factor
used would result in
a significant decrease
in fair value, and vice
Versa.

EE S SE YN
MEEHRAREE
ABRD  R2ZH
R o

BRI EE A KB, -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

15. 1% - BERZRHE

Leasehold
[and and Machinery ~ Computer
Leasehold huildings and  software,
Freghold Hotel [and and in the electronic fumniture ~ Construction
[and propety  huildings ~ Mainland Building Motor equipment and in
inUSA inUSA in HK China ~ improvements vehicles  and others firtures progress Total
hEA%
B%A X8 BREE  HELH RERET HEMRE
EEtH  EENE  1HREF kBT BREE RE REREE GAREE  £RIE Eh
RMB000 RMBOO0 ~ RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMB'0O0 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETR  ARETT ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARMTR ARBTT ARETT ARMTR
0T FiR
At 1 January 2021 R-F--%-f-A 15,797 204814 520,459 411,209 79,708 25609 30544 26,104 2181 1316441
Exchange adjustment EiA% (269) (3,550) - - - 9) - (70) - (3.8%)
Additions hE - - - - - 644 5461 3374 1,353 10,822
Transfer upon completon S E - - = = 1872 = - - (1872) =
Derecognised on disposel of asubsidiary A E-ENBAARA LR - - - (188%) - - - - - (188%)
Disposalsfuriten off & /#i - - - - - (1618) (377) - 5 (19%)
At 31 December 2021 KB -E+-A=1-A 15,528 201,264 520,459 392310 81,580 24,646 35,618 29408 1662 1302475
Exchange adjustment ERaE 1,426 18,700 = = = = = 282 = 20408
Addftions hE = = - - - 632 550 1,206 7l 3,169
Transfer upon completon R ER = = - - - - - 85 (885) =
Transfer from nvestment properties BRENZER 1)

(note 14) - - 78,165 - - - - - - 78165
Transfer to investment properties (nofe 14) ~ EEAZRENE (W14 - - - (8,807) - - - = = (8.807)
Disposalsrten of HE /Hi - - - - - - (35) (112) - (467)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-%+-A=1-H 1694 219,964 598,624 383503 81,580 25218 3813 31,669 1558 134943
DEPRECIATION Vi3
At 1 January 2021 R-F--£-f-A - 31926 5,672 200991 40441 21,060 21269 22501 - 384,860
Exchange adjustment EiA% - (887) - - - 9) - (49) - (945)
Provided for the year FERE - 9,771 25,562 17318 14588 2011 1,562 3,009 - 73813
Eliminated on disposalof a subsiciary NE-BHEA RS - - - (1027) - - - - - (1027
Eliminated on disposalsfwriten of HE/HEcEs - = - - - (1,366) (358) - - (1,724)
At 31 December 2021 R-E--%+-A=1-H - 46816 51,034 217092 55,029 21,6% BAT3 25507 - 445847
Exchange adjustment EiA% - 4268 - - - - - 20 = 4488
Provided for the year FERE - 10,247 21678 16,178 16,793 2393 1682 3,778 - 78,709
Transfer to investment properties (nofe 14) ~ BEZRENE(Hi214) = - = (6,035) = - = = = (6,035)
Eliminated on disposalsfurtten of e/ g - - - - - - 37 (107) - (444)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-%+-A=1-H - 61,331 78912 2123 711822 24,049 29818 29,39 - 522,565
CARRYING VALUES 5Af
At 31 December 2022 R-E-%#+-A=1-H 16954 158,633 519,712 156,268 9,758 1229 5995 2211 1558 872,318
At 31 December 2021 KB -F+-A=1-A 15528 154,448 469225 175,218 26,551 2950 7145 3901 1,662 856,628

144 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRI E

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (conta) 15.

16.

The carrying amounts of owner-occupied leasehold land and buildings,
situated in the Mainland China and Hong Kong (“HK”), at the end of the
reporting period included both the leasehold land and building elements
in property, plant and equipment, as in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, allocations of the carrying amounts between the leasehold land
and buildings elements cannot be made reliably.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for freehold
land in USA and construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

Hotel property in USA

Leasehold land and buildings
in the Mainland China

Leasehold land and buildings
in HK

Building improvements

Motor vehicles

Machinery and electronic
equipment and others

Computer software, furniture
and fixtures

5% to 10%

Qver the shorter of the term of the lease,
or 2% to 5%

Over the shorter of the term of the lease,
or 2% to 5%

10% to 33Y,%

20% to 25%

10% to 33Y,%

20% to 33,%

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/AMOUNT DUE FROM A 16.

JOINT VENTURE

M- - BERRE®

HRARAREERABRERFEHAEI MEET
MAOWMDE - MEPROEZTLNDE A REE
(BN zEREAELHREFTHADNE BEK

REAHEE L REFH -

EXprat 2 W - BB R R EEE (IR EELZ KA

B

ELVE/ES

R ERz BE T
RiEF

NREFEHELH
RigF

BFEE

N

W R E T RELEAM

SEEEN  RAREE

R MR TIRRIN) TIABRERIATE R

5%210%
HEHS2%E5%
(ABFEE R2E)
HEHH2%ZE5%
(AB & BAE)
10%=33Y,%
20%225%
10%%33Y,%

20%=%=33Y,%

R-—ESERrANER BR—B&

& N AR

2022 2021

—E=-C T

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

k3 AR® T ARBTT

Cost of investment in a joint venture R—EEE QR ZIZREKAK (a) 9,520 9,520

Share of post-acquisition profits and other FE (R W B 18 AR R EAth

comprehensive income, net of dividends ZENE - R KEZ RS

received (3,468) (3,466)

6,052 6,054

Amount due from a joint venture EU—R & &R a R E (b) 522,318 522,318

g (FE)HEREARDE 145

—ECCFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

16. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/AMOUNT DUE FROM A
JOINT VENTURE (conta)

16.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

R-—EEERANER BR-—BES

ENTFE 2

Notes: Bt
(a) Particulars of a joint venture as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as (a) R R -—F+_A=+—H—HE4&
follows: ERRKFBEAT
Place of Proportion
Form of establishment of voting right and
business and Paid-up percentage of
Company name nature operation capital interest held Principal activity
ERRAE
AR LR B3/ 331 RIREELH BRBRE BEAAL LA TEEH
RMB'000
ARBTT
Shenzhen Anyuan Industrial Established Mainland China 23,800 40% (2021: 40%) Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (“Anyuan”)
RITETEEERERAA)
AT TEEERERAR (R (74va FEIAM 23800 40%(ZT=—% :40%) MEER

(b) Amount due from a joint venture represents advances to a joint venture
which is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed repayment terms. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the settlement of the advances is
neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

e M BRI E

16. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/AMOUNT DUEFROMA 16. A—BE&E A RMNER EBR—B4
JOINT VENTURE (cont) &N BRI FRIE ()
Summarised financial information of Anyuan after adjusting for any TXHBELITER SRR EMEEMAZER
differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying BERBE  URESAMERRREELHE
amount in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:
2022 2021
—E-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREF T
Non-current assets IERBEE 29 29
Current assets MBEE 558,018 557,823
Current liabilities wmEEE (542,918) (542,718
Included in the above amounts are: T AL FRIE ¢
Properties under development for sale TRPEEWE 439,902 439,702
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 98,005 98,010
Amount due to a shareholder A — R R IE 522,318 522,318
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FEBREREZARILE 5 5

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

N EFBEMBBZREERNGEP B RRERZAE
REEGEREEZ SR

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR¥ETT

Net assets of Anyuan LZILEEFE 15,129 15,134
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Anyuan AEBRZT#EB 2 2K 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Anyuan REBNEIT 2 ERREE 6,052 6,054

g (FE)HEREARLH
—ECCFFR

)

147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

17. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

BRARBEEFAHMEZE RS ZRA

2022 2021
—==-= —ZT-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFIT
Investments in: RTINS EZKE
— Equity securities listed in the Mainland China — R B A T 2 AR AE B 5
(Note 1) (Kt5t1) 336,992 406,557
— Equity interests in certain unlisted companies —RETIHEEMARZKE
(Note 2) (H1i22) 34,971 43,866
371,963 450,423
Notes: HiaE -

Note 1:  The above listed equity investment represents 0.4% equity interests in
an entity listed in the Mainland China.

Note 2:  The amount represent 10% unlisted equity interests in a bank in the PRC
and 1% equity interest in a fund management company in the PRC.

These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held for
long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company have elected
to designate these investments in equity instrument as FVTOCI as they
believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy
of holding the investment for long-term purposes and realising their
performance potential in the long run.
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Notes to the Consolidated Finag:ial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022 = =
o e R E B R MY R

18. DEFERRED TAX 18. ELEHIE
The movements in deferred tax assets (liabilities) arising from temporary TREBEANRLIHREESE (BB NESHWNT :

differences are as follows:

Withholding
tax for Valuation  Accelerated
undistributed  on investment tax  Fairvalue Accrual Pre-sale
Tax losses profits ~ properties  depreciation  adjustments for LAT deposits Others Total

AAEAE  REME  MERE OAEE EHid
HEER  HRNR e i RE AER  REES L &3t
RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBIOOO
ARETR ARBTL ARRTT ARETR ARBTZ ARETR ARETR ARETL ARMTR

At 1 January 2021 R-E-—%5-f-H 65,658 (33050) (2429510)  (259,608) (26,745) 394,490 84914 (76497)  (2,280,348)
Credt (charge) to the profit or oss RERFA GIR) (i 10)

(note 10) 60,913 - (680,297) (56,959) - 24,012 (67,183) (19587)  (739,101)
Credt o other comprefensive income RERZERRTA = = = = 12709 = = = 12709
Balance as at 31 December 2021 RZF--F+-f=1-H

a3 126,571 (33050) (3,109807)  (316,567) (14,036) 418502 17731 (96,084)  (3,006,740)
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—F-f-H 126,571 (33050) (3,109807)  (316,567) (14,036) 418502 17731 (96,084)  (3,006,740)
Credt (charge) to the profitor loss REgEA () (#210)

(note 10) 35,689 (202113)  (663,001) (57,033) - (7,569) 35,403 104 (858,520)
Withholding tax paid BAENH - 120,163 - - - - - - 120,163
(Charge) creditto other comprehensive R E 2T (%) 5 A

income - - (1,131) - 19613 - - - 18482
Balance as at 31 December 2022 RZEZZE+ZA=1-H

L5 162,260 (1150000 (3,773939) (373,600 5577 410933 53,134 (95980)  (3,726,615)
The following is the analysis of the deferred taxation balances for financial MU BREBNMS @ BLEFIBLHR OO ¢

reporting purposes:

2022 2021

—E—= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARETTT

Deferred tax assets FEEFRIBEE 617,557 551,812
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIERE (4,344,172) (3,558,552)
(3,726,615) (3,006,740)
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18.

DEFERRED TAX (conta)

The EIT Law and its implementation rules impose a withholding tax
at 10%, unless reduced by a tax treaty or arrangement, for dividends
distributed by the Mainland China-resident enterprises to their non-
Mainland China resident corporate investors for profits earned since 1
January 2008. Under the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement,
a qualified Hong Kong tax resident is entitled to a reduced withholding
tax rate of 5% if the Hong Kong tax resident is the “beneficial owner”
and holds 25% or more of the equity interests of the Mainland China
enterprise directly. Since the Group controls the quantum and timing of
distribution of profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China,
deferred tax liabilities are only provided to the extent that such profits are
expected to be distributed in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has unused deductible temporary
difference amounted to RMB28,473,000 (2021: RMB28,429,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such temporary
difference due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of RMB2,083,479,000 (2021: RMB1,394,919,000) available to
offset against future profits. For the year ended 31 December 2022, a
deferred tax asset had been recognised in respect of such tax losses
amounting to RMB649,040,000 (2021: RMB506,284,000) and no
deferred tax asset had been recognised in respect of the remaining tax
losses of RMB1,434,439,000 (2021: RMB888,635,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses of RMB350,878,000 (2021: RMB203,024,000) will
expire in the following years ending 31 December 2022, other losses may
be carried forward indefinitely:

18.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-T-—F+-A=+ALFE

3 FIE B 18

EEMBRZEAREERRARE B —FTTNF—
A— A B A E R %5t AT EREE H W FE T
B fE RIFEIEE D IRE S AIZ10% BTN
Z‘R(B?—?HETF%RIE\ HMRZBERR) - RiFAME

BHPEEBHRY  ERIEaEEAILER
%EEPWﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁtﬂ:ﬁﬁ%E’Uéﬁ%%i’ﬁ}ﬁ‘%
ERABLBRIENHR EE%HM - ARAEE ]
22 1) 53 R 7S = 581 A e B8] A 3 ) Y JBB 2 ) Y9 22 61 Y B
EBRERHRESIABBEARBARA EHES
IV BB BRI

R-BE-_—F+_A=+—H AEBEEARHHA
ML =5 AR08 473000 (ZBE=-—%F: A
R #28,429,0007T) ° FF R 2R & F) 5 R 9 A~ 7] 788
M AESERZEEREEERRCHEEE -

REREEIR  ANEE A HIK AR RABF Z RE AR
HEB A ARK?2 083,479,000 (ZE=-—F : AR
#1,394919,0007t) - HE-_ZT_—F+_A=+—
BIEEE - S SHiEEE A RE649,040,0005T (=
T — —4F : AR¥506,284,0007T) i R IE Ik 7 18 &
ERARKRKBRRTEIED - R ERLEHB
THE1B AR ¥1,434,439,0007T (—FE - —F : AR
888,635,0007T) FERIELEF B EE - AER KBS
BeEEEARK350,878,000T (ZE-—F: AR
#203,024,0007) R TEHE-"TE-—F+—- A
=t+—BIZFERER - mEMEIER A ER A

B

2022 2021
—EC-F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARETF T
2023 :Z\::E 285 1,216
2024 —ENF 13,929 13,422
2025 —E-hF 81,575 81,575
2026 —E-REF 106,811 106,811

2027 —E4LF 148,278
350,878 203,024
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

18.

19.

DEFERRED TAX (contd)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from
1 January 2008 onwards. The PRC withholding tax is applicable
to dividends payable to investors that are “non-PRC tax resident
enterprises”, which do not have an establishment or place of business
in the PRC, or which have such establishment or place of business but
the relevant income is not effectively connected with the establishment or
place of business, to the extent such dividends have their sources within
the PRC. Under such circumstances, dividends distributed from the PRC
subsidiaries in respect of profits earned from 1 January 2008 onwards to
non-PRC tax resident group entities shall be subject to the withholding
income tax at 5%, if applicable. As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of the PRC subsidiaries amounted to RMB16,955,567,000 (2021:
RMB17,150,718,000). Deferred taxation has not been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
RMB14,655,567,000 (2021: RMB16,489,718,000) as the Group has
set aside such fund for the business development in the PRC and is able
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Included in the properties under development for sale as at 31
December 2022 is carrying value of RMB41,207,735,000 (2021:
RMB39,885,564,000) which represents the carrying value of the
properties expected to be realised after twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. The Group’s properties under development for sale are
mainly situated in the Mainland China and Hong Kong.

18.

19.

A M RRME

3SR TH ()
REFECEFAENE A —FF/\F—A—B8
A B O 0 P R 2 B T R 0 R T

BlomEBMRERNENEREREBEER
TEIZREEZRS  ZEHTENBEREE
MBI BB RS R ARAZERELE
FinE - BHEBRAER CEZERBHERDE
B EUEERENVRETREAR - E#ZFB
AT HEHBRARRE —ETNF—H Bk
BzBNAETFEREEREEERREZREA
B5%Z BE (wE ) M FEMmAEHR - R2F -
F+-A=+—8 BRERBARKRYIKENE
B2 B ZF AR/ A R%16,955,567,000T (= F
——%: AR#17,150,718,0007T)  if & 7 18 IF 4%
RGAMBRRTATEMNBARRABIEGE
2= 88 A R #14,655,567,0007T (ZE=Z—F : AR
#16,489,718,0007T) st - W MmN AL E A
BERESARTREEREY - WG ERERZ
BOAER > MERERN AR SR AR -

BRPEEUR

R-B_—_F+_A=+—R JAERTFENE
Z BREE/AR®41,207,735,0007T (ZE = — % -
AR #39,885,564,0007T) + ThTEHIR #R & B R 5t
TEARFTBAZYWEREE - AEB 2 BHRT
FENETEVRNTEARBRERE

Analysis of leasehold lands: HELHZ DT -
2022 2021
—B—— T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETIT
Carrying amount BREE 4,880,421 5,108,055
Total cash outflow e m B 828,790 1,057,081
Additions NE 7,036 2,159,359

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual
values are determined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold
land component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands
taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

FE T2 BREE TR AR R 5T E R AT
BEBETE BEWNETAMET MBS 2 @at
HEEBBE LR E_ZFR_T=-_—F+=
A=+—RH2@EEE  BERHE LR e
BHH -

g (FE)HEREARLH
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21.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

20. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 20. SEWE
The Group’s properties held for sale are situated in the Mainland China. REBEFEMEMAFE A o
Analysis of leasehold lands: HE Lo oM
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFIT
Carrying amount BREAE 331,724 527,208
The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured at cost less any TAE Tt 2 BREE TR AR W T & REMR
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual BMEBEGE EEWETAEE T MBS 2G5
values are determined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold HEEE LA ERZE_ZFrR_F=_—F+=
land component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands A=+—HBz@&sRE HEREE L niTiRnE
taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31 December R o
2022 and 2021.
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 21. FEUWERFX
2022 2021
—E—C —ET-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Accounts receivable from: FEWBRRR B -
— Contracts with customers —-BFPAH 41,360 25,089
— Lease receivables —HEEWRIE 165,819 124,503
Accounts receivable JE W BR 5K 207,179 149,592
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (146,488) (110,103)
60,691 39,489

As at 1 January 2021, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to RMB16,719,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

21.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (contd)

Accounts receivable represent receivables arising from sales of properties,
rental income from leasing properties and comprehensive services
(including hotel operation and property management). For the receivables
arising from sales of properties, they are due for settlement in accordance
with the terms of the relevant sales and purchase agreements. For the
receivables arising from rental income from leasing properties, monthly
rents are normally received in advance and sufficient rental deposits are
held to minimise credit risk. For accounts receivable generated from hotel
operation, the credit term is payable on demand. For accounts receivable
generated from property management, receivable generally have credit
terms of 30 to 60 days (2021: 30 to 60 days). All accounts receivable
are denominated in RMB. The ageing analysis of the Group’s accounts
receivable, based on invoice dates for rental income from leasing
properties and comprehensive services and the terms of relevant sales
and purchases agreements for sales of properties, is as follows:

21.

e M BRI E

FE U BR K (42)

RUWEREHEE  HEVNEFNHEHSBA NGRS
R% (BRBEELERMEER) W EWKFIE - 314
EMEELNBUFIEME  ZEFARDRIEIARE
BEBHGREBEN - AEEMENESBAE
EHENFIRM S - S AESBERERI - LHE
AROESESUREEERR - sbEELEEE
KRR E - EEHNVARERIN - WEER
P S e MR SR (E B H — R AB30Z60R (Z B = —
F 1 30260K) © A RUFRFIAAREHE - A&
B W RS R REBEEMENES WA R
ERBEZAHMURBEDEHEEEHRGRD
ran T

2022 2021

—E-C —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR®TT

Within 1 month 1EAR 41,367 27,183
1 to 12 months 1Z£1218 A 18,734 8,397
13 to 24 months 13£24f& A 590 3,909
60,691 39,489

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s accounts receivable
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of RMB19,324,000
(2021: RMB12,306,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. For
balance of RMB2,718,000 (2021: RMB7,079,000) has been past due 90
days or more, it is not considered as in default due to the long-term/on-
going relationship and good repayment record of the counterparties. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

RZBZ—F+—A=+—H ' st ATKERKIRER
K 2 TR AR AME A ARKE19,324,0007T (= F
——&: AR¥12,306,0007T) 2 FEUWGIE - RERE
AE@H - HRERISZHEFRY FBEBERERE
LEFGEHET  ULaH D BB0RA I 2 &
R AR 718,000t (ZZ = —4F : AR¥E7,079,000
L) WARWRBEL - NEBVWERZSEBRITEE
(OIS

g (FE)HEREARLH
—ECCFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_ZT-—_F+-A=1T—RHILFE

21. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (contd) JE W BR R ()
The movement in the allowance for credit losses is as follows: EEBHBRBREESHNT
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREF T
A 1 January R—HA—H 110,103 41,230
Impairment loss recognised, net ERRREEEFE 36,385 68,873
At 31 December ®w+=—A=+—8H 146,488 110,103

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group applies the
HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL for accounts receivable
based on lifetime ECL. Accounts receivable have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the historical observed default rates
have been adjusted by forward looking estimates.

BE_Z-—"§R-"FT-—F+-A=+—HLF
B REBEBEEMEMELNFSRNBLTTE
REFEBEREEBRFERKEFNEREE
B8 - B RIEXKREE BRI BRE LB
RENESME WG -

22. DEPOSITS PAID, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 22. EffEE  AAREREMERRE
RECEIVABLES

2022 2021

—E-C —E-—F

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

it AR¥TR AR®ET T

Deposits paid and prepayments B KRB FKIE (a) 2,453,972 2,183,011

Other receivables b U SRIB 179,012 169,117

Amounts due from related parties FEUR EEHsE A T 5IE (b) 203,789 233,775

Amounts due from non-controlling interests FEURIEIE Hxﬁé S3KI8 (c) 1,148,533 13,006

Total et 3,985,306 2,598,909
Notes: Hiaz -

(a) The balance mainly represents prepaid construction costs of
RMB1,292,116,000 (2021: RMB1,249,418,000) to the contractors for the
Group’s property development projects, urban renewal service prepayment
of RMB575,279,000 (2021: RMB305,199,000) to an independent third
party for the Group’s urban renewal projects, and prepaid contract costs
amounted to RMB59,402,000 (2021: RMB10,028,000).

(b) Amounts due from related parties, in which the ultimate controlling party
has beneficial interests, are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

(c) The balance as at 31 December 2022 mainly presented the remaining
consideration receivables to be received from a non-controlling interest
of RMB1,135,652,000 arising from the disposal of 8% of equity interest
on Shenzhen Sida Industrial Co., Limited, a subsidiary of the Group.
Such amount has been settled subsequent to the end of reporting period.
In addition, amount due from non-controlling interests amounting to
RMB10,006,000 (2021: RMB10,131,000) is secured by equity interests
held by the non-controlling party, interest bearing at 6.37% (2021: 6.37%)
per annum and repayable on demand. Remaining balance of amount due
from non-controlling interests is non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.
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#575,279,0007T (= T = — 4 : A R#305,199,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

23.

24.

e M BRI E

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS 23. ZREWITERK
2022 2021
—z—-= T —%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTT
Pledged bank deposits for bank loans MRTEFURRRITER 1,078,426 2,547,603
Funds under regulation by banks for specific purposes IRITEEEIETEAENES 801,366 628,871
Pledged bank deposits for mortgage (Note) IR B R RITIF R (A 2E) 146,369 196,683
Performance deposits for construction contracts BESONENZS 1,437 4,184
Others HAb 7,472 2,679
2,035,070 3,380,020
Classified as: E V-
Current mE 1,671,732 2,840,020
Non-current JEMED 363,338 540,000
2,035,070 3,380,020
The effective interest rates of restricted bank deposits are in the range of R RGBT RERFFEHG N F0.01%£E3.03% (=
0.01% to 3.03% (2021: 0.01% to 3.58%) per annum. The pledged bank T —F:0.01%%E3.58%) ° IIFREITFRAGR AR
deposits will be released upon the settlement of relevant bank borrowings. IRITEE BB ERR -
Note: The balance represents bank deposits pledged to secure the mortgage et - ZAESRIERBUSMYEE KT L OEIS M E LK
granted to buyers of properties. HERITIFR ©
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 24, SRITERKES

As at 31 December 2022, included in bank balances and cash was a
fixed deposit of nil (2021: RMB261,500,000) with original maturity period
of more than three months but within one year.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0.30% to
3.58% (2021: 0.01% to 2.25%).

RZBE-_—F+-_A=+—H RITEHEREE
BRI AAZR=ZEARLR—FZ2EHERS
T(ZE=——F : AR¥261,500,0007T) °

IRITREBIEM BRI R B - FIEN T0.30%%3.58%
T4 :001%FE2.25%) °

g (FE)HEREARLH
—ECCFFR
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25. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable mainly represents amounts due to contractors and
government authorities. Payment to contractors is made by reference
of progress of the respective construction work and agreed milestones.
Payment to government authorities is made by reference to the agreed
milestones for payment of land premium.

25.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

P BRK

ENBRARE RIS ABH BT HENIR - &
NERBHFIAZERMBRRIIZEE LG E 22
e - BN BFHERIA2Z A BN L EE R

e BIZREAE o

2022 2021

—E=-= T

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T ARBET T

Accounts payable FETBR K 5,449,855 3,642,441
The following is an ageing analysis of accounts payable presented based FERERRIREEABRETHRROMZSNT

on the invoice date:

2022 2021

—E=-= T

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T ARBET T

Within 1 month 1MEAARA 4,233,541 2,680,964

1 to 12 months 1Z12{8 A 1,021,957 770,407

13 to 24 months 1322418 A 122,773 113,386

Over 24 months BiB241E A 71,584 77,684

5,449,855 3,642,441

The average credit period for purchase of construction materials ranged
from six months to one year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

26. ACCRUALS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER

e M BRI E

BT8R  ERREREMENRE

PAYABLES

2022 2021
—E-—F —T-—F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR¥TF T AREF T
Rental deposits received BElkHeEe 188,967 212,200
Receipts in advance B RIE (a) 992 7,478
Other payables and accruals Hfb B R ERTE A 630,724 601,484
Amounts due to related parties FE ST R8s 5 SRR (b) 1,570,850 1,101,729
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEAT ISR AR 25 TR (c) 2,099 2,453
2,393,632 1,925,344

Notes: Bt -
(a)  Asat 31 December 2022 and 2021, receipts in advance consist of rental (@ R-E-_—FER-_T-_—F+-A=+—8  FBEX

(b)

(c)

considerations received in advance from customers.

Amounts due to related parties, in which the ultimate controlling party has
beneficial interests, are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Amounts due to non-controlling interests are non-trade nature, unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

HEEBRAsATPKRZBASRE -

(b) ENEETFA(GRRERTRETREEEGDE
BIERZIHE  BER RS RARBEREER -

HafEnm)

() ENEEREZFEBIERSHUE  BEF 28K
BIREKER -

g (FE)HEREARLH
—ECCFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES EEAE
2022 2021
—=E_— —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBET T
Sales of properties YIEHE 2,879,294 1,354,922
Hotel operation and property management service B JEEERMEBERS 7,992 4,016
2,887,286 1,358,938

The significant increase in contract liabilities in the current year was
mainly due to the advances received from customers in relation to sales of
properties resulting an increase in contract liabilities of RMB2,557 million.

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to
RMB1,348,932,000.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the
respective years relates to carried-forward contract liabilities at the start of
the respective years.

AEEARABEREEMDEEHRRYEHED
WEPZBFEHARBEEMARE2557AET

RZZE-Z_—F—A-—B ARABEAARY

1,348,932,0007T °

TRITNEFEEREZFEN AEARAE

HEZBAEHE -

2022 2021

—E-C —E -

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBFIT

Sales of properties YIS 1,032,658 1,289,632
Hotel operation and property management service B E & E R MEEIEIRG 4,016 3,361
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HEEE
Lease liabilities payable: EfEEAE:
2022 2021
—E—= —E-_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®ETT
Within one year —FRA 13,269 17,196
Within a period of more than one year but AERR—FETBBRE
not more than two years 6,616 13,269
Within a period of more than two years but ABAMTETBRRT
not more than five years 27,367 23,659
Within a period of more than five years RHBART 100,027 110,351
147,279 164,475
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 B AR B EIW R 1218 A A E A
months shown under current liabilities EY -] (13,269) (17,196)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months HAJERE B EL 121 A &2 2E
shown under non-current liabilities B2 A 134,010 147,279
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease FERRIEE B &/ INHE TR & 5T = B8.73%
liabilities is 8.73% (2021: 8.83%). —E - —F:883%) °
29. BORROWINGS 29. (BE&
2022 2021
—E=-= —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®ET T
Borrowings comprise: BEESE:
— Variable rate bank loans —ZBIRITER 22,759,510 19,676,583
— Fixed rate bank loans — BT FERITER 1,991,483 1,571,952
— Fixed rate other borrowings — EEF & M E R 4,120,955 3,745,196
28,871,948 24,993,731
Analysed as: DT
— Secured —FHEM 25,149,973 24,064,326
— Unsecured —EE A 3,721,975 929,405
28,871,948 24,993,731
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

29. BORROWINGS (Contd) 29. BE&
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTR ARBFIT
Borrowings repayable within a period of: EEAERATHEAERE
— Within 1 year ——FR 6,036,880 5,948,796
— More than 1 year, but not exceeding 2 years — BB —FEIRAME 8,641,606 5,763,572
— More than 2 years, but not exceeding 5 years —BBMFEEREIRAF 10,038,151 9,768,853
— More than 5 years —RFLAE 2,014,315 2,466,800
26,730,952 23,948,021
Borrowings that contain a repayment on demand clause B & EREEERZEBE (IR
(shown under current liabilities) but repayable: BAE) - AR TS HBANES
— Within 1 year ——FR 2,140,996 858,480
— More than 1 year, but not exceeding 2 years — BB —FEIRME - 187,230
Total borrowings wEE 28,871,948 24,993,731
Less: Amount due within one year shown under current & : RBI B EE FR —F R H
liabilities Z I8 (8,177,876) (6,994,506)
Amount due after one year R —F 1% B H 2 78 20,694,072 17,999,225

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional currencies
of the relevant group companies (i.e. RMB, US$ and HK$) except certain
bank and other borrowings amounting to RMB2,694,592,000 (2021:
RMB2,419,366,000) are denominated in HK$, and RMB2,806,874,000
(2021: RMB3,293,584,000) are denominated in US$.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-_—F+-A=+—HItFE

29.

BORROWINGS (cont'd)

For bank loans denominated in HK$, the effective interest rates are
ranging from 3.51% to 11.00% (2021: 1.30% to 6.00%) per annum. For
bank and other loans denominated in RMB, the effective interest rates are
ranging from 4.85% to 19.90% (2021: 4.25% to 8.50%) per annum. For
bank loans denominated in US$, the effective interest rates are ranging
from 2.83% to 10.00% (2021: 1.46% to 13.75%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2022, certain secured bank loans with aggregate
amount of RMB7,391,330,000 (2021: RMB5,944,586,000) and certain
secured other borrowings with amount of RMB2,562,973,000 (2021:
RMB2,077,473,000) are secured by the equity interests of subsidiaries of
the Group (see also note 41).

As at 31 December 2022, a secured bank loan with aggregate amount
of RMB243,761,000 (2021: RMB221,092,000) was secured by certain
equity investment held by Mr. Wong, the ultimate controlling shareholder.

As at 31 December 2022, certain secured bank loan with aggregate
amount of RMB745,000,000 (2021: RMB642,340,000) were secured
by personal guarantees of Mr. Wong and Ms. Huang Jingshu, executive
director and chairman of the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, certain secured bank loan with aggregate
amount of RMB7,978,615,000 (2021: RMB7,283,731,000) were
secured by personal guarantee of Mr. Wong.

As at 31 December 2022, certain secured bank loan with aggregate
amount of RMB929,850,000 (2021: RMB734,400,000) were secured by
personal guarantee of Ms. Huang Jingshu.

As at 31 December 2022, certain secured bank loan with aggregate
amount of RMB3,329,210,000 (2021: RMB2,160,000,000) were
secured by personal guarantee of Mr. Wong and a non-controlling interest
of a subsidiary of the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, certain secured bank loan with aggregate
amount of RMB537,500,000 (2021: RMB528,500,000) were secured by
personal guarantees of Mr. Wong and Ms. He Yaxing, the spouse of Mr.
Wong.

As at 31 December 2022, certain secured bank loan with aggregate
amount of RMB223,325,000 (2021: nil) were secured by personal
guarantees of Mr. Wong, Ms. Huang Jingshu and Mr. Huang Hao Yuan.

As at 31 December 2022, certain secured bank loan with aggregate
amount of RMB46,000,000 (2021: nil) were secured by personal
guarantee of Mr. Huang Hao Yuan.

As at 31 December 2021, a secured bank loan with aggregate amount of
RMB3,196,500,000 was jointly secured by properties owned by a related
company controlled by Mr. Wong, 600,000,000 convertible preference
shares of the Company owned by Mr. Wong, equity interest of that related
company, and certain properties of the Group. Such bank loan was repaid
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

29.

A M RRME

-4C 7

FUBTAHENRTERME  ERFNENF
3.51%%11.00% (ZZF = —% : 1.30%%£6.00%) ° #
NAREAHENRITREMERT S - BERENEN
F4.85%%19.90% (Z T = —%F : 4.25%%8.50%) °
HRAETHEONRTERME EEFMNEXNF
2.83%%10.00% (ZZT=—%F : 1.46%%£13.75%) °

R-ZT-_—F+-_A=+—H8 ETHEKMLRTE
HuasHE AR 391,330,000 (ZEZ—F: AR
#5944,586,0007T) K& TEEBEMEE AR
2,562,973,0007T (ZZ = —4 : AR#¥2,077,473,000
J0) BAS BB A R 2 R (B RS
¥41) o

RZBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H —S£FEFRTE
RELFEARE243761,000T (Z S ——F: ARK
221,092,0007T) HERLIERIRR | R EFFE2E T
AR FEIR & (EH AR o

RZZB-—F+-A=+—H BTHEMRRTE
NS FARKET45,000,000T (ZFE=—F : AR
642,340,00070) B AEERARRMITEEREIFER
BRET 22+ 2 (B A FERVEIE R -

RIEBE-_—_F+_A=+—H HTHEWRTE
NEEFEARKT7 978615000 (ZE=-—F: AR
#7,283,731,0007T) B & 76 & 2 8 A R IEIE IR -

RZBE-_—F+-_A=+—H HFTEEBRTE
A4S F AR KI29,850,000C (- —F : AR
734,400,0007T) R =R AT 22+ 2 (B A B AR VEHE 3 o

RZBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H HTHEEBRTE
RiE4FEARK3 329,210,000 (ZE=—F: AR
#2,160,000,0007T) A& S 4 2 B AR R AR E—
fE BB A A 2 FEAE AR RS EIE IR o

RZZB-—F+-A=+—H BTHEMRRTE
KB ARWES37,500,000T (ZE=—F : AR¥
528,500,0007) AE LA RFERE Z BRI EELZ L
ZAEAFERAEEA o

RIZE-—F+-A=+—H HTEEARTER
BEHEARMK223,325000 (ZE-—F : M) AR
T4 BHA LT REEREEZ BARRELRR -

RZEBE-_—F+-_A=+—H HTHEEBRTE
HiasEE ARL6,000,000C (CE-—F E)HE
VERICE Z B AERIEER -

RZBE-_—F+-_A=+—H —S£FE[RTE
Ria4 5 A R¥E3,196,500,0007T B & 5t A 154 2 78
Bt A BIFTER < Y% - |4 £ %A 2600,000,000%
ARRABMBRELER  ZBEH AR CREREAEE
ZETHRELRER ZBTERERBEZ
TF+ A=+t HLEFEREE-

BE(FE) HERBERAT
S5
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

30. AR ES R ATRRKRES

TTETEE

CONVERTIBLE BONDS pa)
(a) Debt component of convertible bonds () FEREFEKILS
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T AR®ET T
Net carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BHNEEFE 1,462,252 1,419,974
Interest expense FMERX 165,526 193,594
Interest paid EAFLE (107,381) (114,953)
Repayment and early redemption BRRIERER (599,313) -
Non-substantial modification of New CB 2018 M_ZE—\FamikEsz
IFEREE (23,252) -
Exchange difference & & =% 95,357 (36,363)
Net carrying amount as at 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—B®EEmFEE 993,189 1,462,252
Less: Amount due within one year shown under BB BEE TR —FAEH
current liabilities Z I (993,189) (1,462,252)

Amount due after one year

W—EF & 28 2 FO8

(1)

On 6 November 2016, the Company entered into
a Convertible Bonds Subscription Agreement (the
“Agreement”) with an independent third party, Chance
Talent Management Limited (the “CB Subscriber”).
Pursuant to the Agreement, the CB Subscriber agreed
to acquire the Convertible Bond (the “2018 CB”) with
aggregate principal amount of US$100 million (equivalent
to RMB686 million) at interest rate of 5.5% per annum,
payable by the Company semi-annually in arrears from the
issue date, with initial conversion price of HK$2.76. The
maturity date is on the second anniversary of the issue
date. The 2018 CB were issued to the CB Subscriber on 18
November 2016.

The holder of the 2018 CB (the “Bondholder”) has the
right to convert the 2018 CB in whole or in part into
shares at any time on or after the issue date of the 2018
CB up to the respective maturity date. 264,946,889
(2021: 264,946,889) new shares will be issued upon full
conversion of the 2018 CB. An adjustment had been made
to the conversion price from HK$2.76 to HK$2.695 on
21 July 2017 as a result of the dividends paid since the
convertible bonds were issued.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(a) Deht component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

1)

(Cont'd)

On 17 January 2018, the Company received a notice
from the CB Subscriber, requesting for the conversion of
the 2018 CB in the principal amount of US$10,000,000.
Accordingly, the Company has allotted and issued
28,794,063 conversion shares to the CB Subscriber at the
conversion price of HK$2.695 per conversion share.

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$2.695 to HK$2.636 as a result of allotment of ordinary
shares, allotment of convertible preference shares and the
dividends paid during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$2.636 to HK$2.574 as a result of the dividends paid
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

On 3 October 2018, the CB Subscriber, the Company and
Mr. Wong entered into the Deed of Extension to extend the
maturity date of the 2018 CB to 18 November 2020.

The 2018 CB will be redeemed on maturity at a value equal
to the amount equal to the aggregate of (a) the aggregate
principal amount of such outstanding 2018 CB; (b) any
accrued but unpaid interest on such outstanding 2018 CB
on the redemption date (other than default interest); and
(c) (if the sum of the amounts referred to above (a) and (b)
fall short of making up an internal rate of return of 8% on
the aggregate principal amount of 2018 CB) such additional
amount which would make up an internal rate of 8% on the
aggregate principal amount of 2018 CB.

On 18 November 2020, the CB Subscriber, the
Company and Mr. Wong entered into the 2020 Deed
of Extension to further extend the maturity date of the
remaining outstanding 2018 CB to 18 May 2022 and
amend certain terms of the 2018 CB (the “2018 CB
Amendments”), including amendments to maturity date,
certain amendments regarding the undertaking given by
the Company to the CB Subscriber and the Bondholder.
Save for the 2018 CB Amendments, all other terms and
conditions of the 2018 CB shall remain in full force and
effect.

e M BRI E

30. RESFRATMKRESITET AR

LN
7T (&)

(a) TRREZEBRD (&)

1)

(&)
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(a)  Deht component of convertible bonds (Cont’d)

(1)

(Cont'd)

Under the 2020 Deed of Extension, the parties thereto
agreed to, amongst others, the following principal
amendments:

(i) the maturity date of the 2018 CB will be changed
from the date falling on the fourth anniversary of the
issue date to the date falling on the sixty-sixth month
from the issue date;

(i) the undertaking given by the Company to the
CB Subscriber and the Bondholder that the
shareholders’ equity of the Company should not be
less than RMB10,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in
any other currency) will be changed to not less than
RMB11,500,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other
currency); and

(i)  the undertaking given by the Company to the CB
Subscriber and the Bondholders that the ratio of the
Company’s total assets to shareholder’s equity is not
more than 3.6:1 will be changed to the ratio of the
Company'’s total debts (excluding contract liability
arising out of sale of properties) to the Company’s
total assets is not more than 75%.

The 2018 CB Amendments was effective on 18 November
2020. Based on the conversion price according to 2018
CB Amendment and assuming full conversion of the new
Convertible Bonds (the “New 2018 CB”), an aggregate
of 216,846,307 (2021: 216,846,307) new shares will be
allotted and issued by the Company.

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$2.574 to HK$2.505 as a result of allotment of ordinary
shares, allotment of convertible preference shares and the
dividends paid during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(a) Deht component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

1)

(Cont'd)

On 18 May 2022, the CB Subscriber, the Company and Mr.
Wong entered into the 2022 Deed of Extension to further
extend the maturity date of the remaining outstanding
New CB 2018 to 18 May 2023 and amend certain terms
of the New 2018 CB (the “New 2018 CB Amendments”).
Save for the New 2018 CB Amendments, all other terms
and conditions of the New 2018 CB shall remain in
full force and effect. The New 2018 CB Amendments
include but not limited to the following terms: (i) the
redemption of US$20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB130,895,000) of the outstanding principal amount
of the New 2018 CB, together with the corresponding
applicable internal rate of return pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the convertible bond subscription
agreement (the “CB Subscription Agreement”) in an
amount of US$3,116,216 (equivalent to approximately
RMB20,914,000), by the Company from the CB Subscriber
being completed on or before 18 May 2022; (ii) the first
instalment of the administrative fee pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the CB Subscription Agreement in an
amount of US$375,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB2,517,000) being paid in full by the Company to the
CB Subscriber on or before 18 May 2022 and (iii) the
payment of the accrued interest on the New CB 2018 in
an amount of US$1,909,178 (equivalent to approximately
RMB12,813,000) by the Company to the CB Subscriber on
or before 18 May 2022. The amendments under the 2022
Deed of Extension become effective as from 18 May 2022.
Conditions above have been fulfilled during the year ended
31 December 2022.
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B M AR MR

30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(a)  Deht component of convertible bonds (Cont’d)

(1)

(Cont'd)

Under the 2022 Deed of Extension, the parties thereto
agreed to, amongst others, the following principal
amendments:

(a)  the payment arrangement of the administrative fee
will be changed from being payable annually in
arrears from the second anniversary of the issue
date to the administrative fee on the outstanding
principal amount of the New 2018 CB held for the
relevant period being payable on 18 May 2022 and
18 November 2022; and

(b)  the maturity date of the New 2018 CB will be
changed from the date falling on the sixty-sixth month
from the issue date to the date falling on the seventy-
eighth month from the issue date.

Further details of the terms and conditions of the 2018 CB
and New 2018 CB were disclosed in the announcements of
the Company dated 6 November 2016, 8 November 2016,
18 November 2016, 3 October 2018, 18 November 2020
and 18 May 2022 respectively.

The New 2018 CB contains two components, debt
component and derivative component. The effective interest
rate of the debt component is 14.09% (2021: 14.09%) per
annum. The derivative component is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of conversion option is HK$2,968,000
(equivalent to RMB2,651,000) (2021: HK$1,949,000
(equivalent to RMB1,594,000)) as at 31 December 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(a) Deht component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

)

On 10 May 2018, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Gemstones International Limited (the “Issuer” or
“Gemstone”), and the Company together with its eighteen
subsidiaries acting as guarantors entered into a Convertible
Bonds Subscription Agreement (the “2018 Agreement”)
with a third party, Global Affluence Holding V Limited (the
“2018 Subscriber”). Pursuant to the 2018 Agreement, the
2018 Subscriber agreed to acquire the convertible bonds
(the “2023 CB") with aggregate principal amount of US$100
million (equivalent to RMB675 million) at interest rate of
4.0% per annum, payable by the Issuer semi-annually
in arrears. The maturity date is on the fifth anniversary
of the issue date. The 2023 CB were issued to the 2018
Subscriber on 17 May 2018.

The bondholder has the right to convert the 2023 CB in
whole or in part into shares at any time on or after the issue
date of the 2023 CB up to the date falling seven days prior
to the maturity date. 208,776,595 new shares will be issued
upon full conversion of the 2023 CB based on the initial
conversion price of HK$3.76. Adjustments had been made
to the conversion price from HK$3.76 to HK$3.68 as a result
of the issue of Second 2023 CB and the extension of 2018
CB during the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, adjustments
had been made to the conversion price from HK$3.68 to
HK$3.594 as a result of the dividends paid.

The 2023 CB will be redeemed on maturity at a value equal
to 124.012214% of the outstanding principal amount of the
2023 CB, together with any accrued and unpaid interest.

The bondholder has the right by written notice at any time on
or after 17 May 2020, the second anniversary of the issue
date of the 2023 CB and before maturity, require the Issuer
to redeem all or some only of such bondholder’'s 2023 CB at
a gross yield of 8.00% per annum.

On 19 June 2020, the Company, the Issuer and the
bondholder have agreed to amend certain terms and
conditions of the convertible bonds (the “New 2023 CB”,
and amendments are namely “2023 CB Amendments”),
including amendments to the put option date, the
conversion price, the interest rate and early redemption
amount. Save for the 2023 CB Amendments, all other terms
and conditions of the 2023 CB shall remain in full force and
effect.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta) T (&)
(a)  Deht component of convertible bonds (Cont’d) (a)

(2)  (Contd)

The 2023 CB amendments of terms and conditions were set

as below:

Original terms
RERR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_ZT-—_F+-A=1T—RHILFE

30. TRRESFRATBKESITET AR

ARRESEEHD
2 (&)
R =F A BRERER] 2GR RIE
HEZINT
Amendments
B3

Put option date
RoL AR

Conversion price

B {E

Interest Rate

e

Early redemption amount

On or after 17 May 2020
—E-ZFRA+EAKZE

HK$3.594 per share
IR 1D3.59478 T

4.00 per cent. per annum

RERE4.00%:t 8

An amount such that the bondholders
would realise a gross yield of 8.00% per
annum on the principal amount of the 2023
CB from the 17 May 2018 to the date of
early redemption

F%%*ﬁ/\‘f BT \EREA++LAHE
CRIED B T - = FaaRES
$%ﬁﬁ;ﬂu8 00% B FEWRmEEIR 2 £ 58

The 2023 CB Amendments was effective on 29 June 2020.
Based on the conversion price according to 2023 CB
Amendment and assuming full conversion of the 2023 CB,
an aggregate of 261,666,666 (2021: 261,666,666) new
shares will be allotted and issued by the Company.
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On or after 17 May 2022
—E-—_FRA+tBmHZE

HK$3.000 per share
A% 173.0007% 7T

4.00 per cent. per annum from 17 May
2018 (inclusively) to 18 June 2020 and 5.00
per cent. per annum from 19 June 2020
(inclusively)
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An amount such that the bondholders would
realise a gross yield of 8.00% per annum on
the principal amount of the 2023 CB from 17
May 2018 to 19 June 2020 and a gross yield
of 9.50% per annum on the principal amount
of the 2023 CB from 20 June 2020 to the date
of early redemption
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(a) Deht component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

)

(Cont'd)

In addition, the Issuer paid the bondholders a make-
whole amount in cash such that the 2023 CB holders
would obtain a gross yield of 8.00% per annum on the
principal amount of the 2023 CB from the issue date to
19 June 2020, amounted to US$8,896,000 (equivalent to
RMB62,639,000) as a result of the 2023 CB Amendments.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, New 2023
CB has been partially repaid by the Issuer with principal
amount of US$22,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB143,128,000).

Further details of the terms and conditions of the 2023
CB were disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 11 May 2018 and 19 June 2020 respectively.

The New 2023 CB contains two components, debt
component and derivative component (including the
conversion option and the early redemption option that are
not closely related to the host). The effective interest rates of
the debt component is 14.15% (2021: 14.15%) per annum.
The derivative component is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit and loss.

The fair value of early redemption option is US$2,641,000
(equivalent to RMB18,393,000) (2021: US$1,356,000
(equivalent to RMB8,645,000)) as at 31 December
2022. The fair value of conversion option is US$246,000
(equivalent to RMB1,716,000) (2021: US$573,000
(equivalent to RMB3,652,000)) as at 31 December 2022.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(a)  Deht component of convertible bonds (Cont’d)

)

On 16 September 2018, Gemstones entered into a
Convertible Bonds Subscription Agreement (the “2018
Second Agreement”) with an independent third party,
Pioneer Festive Limited (the “2018 Second Subscriber”).
Pursuant to the 2018 Second Agreement, the 2018 Second
Subscriber agreed to acquire the convertible bonds (the
“Second 2023 CB”) with aggregate principal amount
of US$50 million (equivalent to RMB341.8 million) at
interest rate of 5.0% per annum, payable by Gemstones
semi-annually in arrears. The maturity date is on the fifth
anniversary of the issue date. The Second 2023 CB were
issued to the 2018 Second Subscriber on 28 September
2018.

The bondholder has the right to convert the Second 2023
CB in whole or in part into shares at any time on or after
the issue date of the Second 2023 CB up to the date falling
seven days prior to the maturity date. 127,022,653 new
shares will be issued upon full conversion of the Second
2023 CB based on the initial conversion price of HK$3.09.

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$3.09 to HK$3.018 as a result of the dividends paid
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Second 2023 CB will be redeemed on maturity at a
value equal to 136.1% of the outstanding principal amount
of the Second 2023 CB, together with any accrued and
unpaid interest.

The bondholder has the right by written notice at any time
on or after 28 September 2020, the second anniversary of
the issue date of the Second 2023 CB and before maturity,
require the Gemstones to redeem all or some only of such
bondholder's Second 2023 CB at a yield of internal rate of
return of 10.00% per annum.

If a bondholder has exercised the conversion rights attached
to any Second 2023 CB and disposed of any conversion
shares issued as a result thereof, Gemstones will be
entitled to share 30% of the consideration (net of taxes
and brokerage fees) payable to the relevant bondholder in
excess of the agreed preferred return in accordance with the
terms of the Second 2023 CB.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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30. TRRESFRATBKESITET AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(a) Deht component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

Q)

(Cont'd)

On 31 December 2020, the Company and the bondholder
entered into the supplemental agreement to amend and
restate the terms of the Second 2023 CB (the “New Second
2023 CB”), including amendments to the redemption
date at the option of the bondholders and conversion
price (the “Second 2023 CB Amendments”). Save for the
Amendments, all other terms and conditions of the Second
2023 CB remain in full force and effect.

The Second 2023 CB amendments of terms and conditions
were set as below:

Original term
FREARK
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&5

Put option date
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The Second 2023 CB Amendments was effective as
from 31 December 2020. Based on the conversion price
according to Second 2023 CB Amendment and assuming
full conversion of the Second 2023 CB, an aggregate of
133,685,286 (2021: 133,685,286) new shares will be
allotted and issued by the Company.

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$3.09 to HK$2.936 as a result of dividends paid during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

In addition, Gemstones shall pay the bondholders a make-
whole amount in cash such that the Second 2023 CB
holders would obtain a gross yield of 10.00% per annum on
the principal amount of the Second 2023 CB from the issue
date to 31 December 2020, amounted to US$6,500,000
(equivalent to RMB44,813,000) as a result of the Second
2023 CB Amendments.

The New Second 2023 CB will be redeemed on maturity at a
value equal to 112.91% of the outstanding principal amount
of the New Second 2023 CB, together with any accrued and
unpaid interest.

Further details of the terms and conditions of the New
Second 2023 CB were disclosed in the announcements of
the Company dated 17 September 2018 and 31 December
2020 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, New Second CB
2023 with principal amount of US$50,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB325,290,000) has been fully repaid.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF

(b)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_ZT-—_F+-A=1T—RHILFE

30. TRRESFRATBKESITET AR

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (cont'a) &)
Derivative component of convertible honds () TFERESITEIARS
2022 2021
' —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Net carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BHNEEFE 26,251 111,612
Derecognition of derivatives BIERITETA (12,613) -
Loss (gain) arising on changes in fair value AR EEEBFELENEIR
(Uhzs) 7,357 (83,674)
Exchange difference fE R ZE% 1,765 (1,687)
Net carrying amount as at 31 December R+-—A=+—BEEFE 22,760 26,251
Less: Amount due within one year shown under B R BEE TR —F AN
current liabilities 2 I8 (22,760) (26,251)

Amount due after one year

R—EF&R B2 FH

(1)

The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation of
the New 2018 CB at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as
follows:

The fair value of the derivative component of New 2018
CB as at 31 December 2022 derived by using the Binomial
Option Pricing Model were approximately RMB2,651,000
(2021: RMB1,594,000). It was determined by the
directors of the Company with reference to the valuation
performed by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited,
a firm of independent professional valuer with appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of
similar derivative instruments with reference to market
values. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group recognised the fair value loss of RMB879,000 (2021:
fair value gain of RMB20,565,000) in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The inputs used in the Binomial Option Pricing Model
adopted by the independent professional valuer in
determining the fair values of derivative component at the
respective dates were as follows:
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT OF
CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(b)  Derivative component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

)
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The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation of 2 MNZEBE_—_Fr-_ZT-_—=+=A
the New 2023 CB at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as =T —HEH T _=FrRRELFE
follows: TEERERAN T ERBRAOT :
The fair value of the derivative component of New 2023 M- - —FAMREFTETIAES S
CB as at 31 December 2022 derived by using the Binomial R —F+ZA=+—BKAZHE
Option Pricing Model were approximately RMB20,109,000 NEREEEMITEZ AR BEOAA
(2021: RMB12,297,000). It was determined by the R#20,109,0007C (ZE=—F : AR
directors of the Company with reference to the valuation 12,297,0007T) - BASE A AAIES
performed by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited, BEJEBARTEER R FETHMG
a firm of independent professional valuer with appropriate EmMETE  ZARHEEEEBERNE
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of VEEMGERM BELXEMEAREL
similar derivative instruments with reference to market Elﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@%ﬁ HZE
values. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the = __¢+ A=t—HL&E" $$
Group recognised the fair value loss of RMB6,478,000 REREBERTERAAEBEBEA
(2021: fair value gain of RMB32,196,000) in the E%6,478,000773(—7‘:_ﬂ5 CRARE
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Bz A R#32,196,0007T) °
The inputs used in the Binomial Option Pricing Model By HEGEMNSEREE T =
adopted by the independent professional valuer in FARERTET AR S AR EER
determining the fair values the derivative component of the FrEtmvey —1a\ Bl B R A FT A Y
2023 CB at the respective dates were as follows: BABEAT ¢
At 31.12.2022 At 31.12.2021
R-g== R-B=-—4&
+=BA=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H
Share price AR (B HK$1.29 HK$1.37
1.297%8 T 1.37%87T
Exercise price 1158 HK$2.91 HK$2.91
2918 T 29187t
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B X 0.00% 4.45%
Volatility IR 66.98% 38.65%
Discount rate ALER & 19.671% 13.686%
Risk free interest rate 2B A1 4.579% 0.509%
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the R HEZTZ-_F+ZA=1+—HLHF

Group recognised the gain on early redemption of the
convertible bonds included in other gains and losses
of RMB12,613,000 for New Second CB 2023 in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss upon redemption on
23 March 2022. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Group recognised the fair value gain of RMB30,913,000
for New Second CB 2023 in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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BOHmE_H_T_=FAHRRES
% RRFES ﬁEM e il [l AT 4 AR (&
% 2 Wz A R #12,613,0007T 3 5+ A 47
eREARZHEMRERER -BE-T
TFt A=t -HLEFE  KA&EE
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31. SENIOR NOTES AND BOND

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

3. BERBRES

2022 2021
—=E_— T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBET T
Senior notes and bond comprise: BEEBRRESBRE
— Public senior notes —AHEBLEEE 3,398,260 3,137,586
— Domestic corporate bond —BARRES 1,088,316 1,594,134
4,486,576 4,731,720
2022 2021
—E—— T —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR®ET T
Net carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—B®NEEFE 4,731,720 5,366,051
Issue of new senior notes and bonds BIIHELEBERES = 1,593,740
Less: Early redemption of domestic corporate bond B IRBTEEBIR AR BESR (509,000) -
Add: Interest charged during the year e FREMBRFLE 474,529 481,490
Less: Interest paid w o BAAFLE (502,006) (523,973)
Less: Repayment BN - (2,111,877)
Non-substantial modification of domestic RERNRRIEHFMIEEAEE
corporate bonds 2,394 -
Exchange differences P& & =58 288,939 (73,711)
Net carrying amount as at 31 December R+—A=+—HmEEFE 4,486,576 4,731,720
Less: Amount due within one year shown B omBBEE TR —F AR
under current liabilities Z I8 (3,597,768) (1,394,867)
Amount due after one year R —FE 1% B H 2 58 888,808 3,336,853
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

31.

SENIOR NOTES AND BOND (cont'd)
US$ denominated public senior notes due in 2023

In 2020, the Issuer (as defined in note 30) issued exchange and issue
senior notes (“New Senior Notes”) with the aggregate principal amounts
of US$470,000,000 (equivalent to RMB3,271,156,000).

The New Senior Notes are:

(a) carried interest at rate of 12% per annum and interest is payable
semi-annually in arrears on 10 March and 10 September of each
year, commencing from 10 September 2020 and will mature on
10 March 2023, unless redeemed earlier pursuant to the terms
thereof;

(b)  senior in right of payment to any existing and future obligations of
the Issuer expressly subordinated in right of payment to the New
Senior Notes;

(c) at least pari passu in right of payment with all unsecured,
unsubordinated indebtedness of the Issuer (subject to any priority
rights of such unsecured unsubordinated indebtedness pursuant
to applicable law);

(d)  guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the
Company (collectively the “Guarantors”) on a senior basis, subject
to certain limitations;

(e)  effectively subordinated to the secured obligations if any, of the
Issuer and the Guarantors, to the extent of the value of the assets
serving as security therefor; and

(f) effectively subordinated to all existing and future obligations of the
subsidiaries of the Company other than the Guarantors.

31.

BARBRES
SEFHMURTHEZ ANELER
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e M BRI E

T_TF BIOTAERRMEI0) B#TA248

#8 /3470,000,000% 7T (188 7° A R #53,271,156,000
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(c)

(d)
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31.

SENIOR NOTES AND BOND (cont'a)
US$ denominated public senior notes due in 2023 (Cont’d)

At any time prior to 10 March 2023, the Issuer may at its option to
redeem the New Senior Notes, in whole but not in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100.0% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes plus
the applicable premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the
Company dated 30 October 2020 (“Applicable Premium”) as of, and
accrued and unpaid interest (if any) to (but not including), the redemption
date.

“Applicable Premium” means with respect to any New Senior Notes at
any redemption date, the greater of (i) 1.00% of the principal amount
of such Senior Notes and (ii) the excess of the present value at such
redemption date of the principal amount of such New Senior Notes on
10 March 2023, plus all required remaining scheduled interest payments
due on such Senior Notes through 10 March 2023 (but excluding
accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date), computed using a
discount rate equal to the adjusted treasury rate plus 100 basis points,
over the principal amount of such Senior Notes on such redemption date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 10 March 2023, the Issuer may
redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the New Senior
Notes with the net cash proceeds of one or more sales of common stock of
the Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of 108.5% of the
principal amount of the Senior Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if
any, to (but not including) the redemption date; provided that at least 65%
of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes originally issued on
the original issue date remains outstanding after each such redemption
and any such redemption takes place within 60 days after the closing of
the related equity offering.

Early redemption option is regarded as embedded derivative not closely
related to the host contract. The directors of the Company consider that
the fair value of the above early redemption options is insignificant at initial
recognition date, 31 December 2021 and 2022.

The fair value of the New Senior Notes at 31 December 2022 amounted
to RMB2,373,187,000 (2021: RMB2,082,622,000). The fair value is
calculated by using the quoted price based on SGX at the end of the
reporting period (or the nearest day of trading).
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31.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE

31.

SENIOR NOTES AND BOND (cont«d)

RMB denominated domestic corporate bond due in 2021 and 2026

On 26 August 2016, a subsidiary of the Company, Zhengxinglong
Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Zhengxinglong”) issued a
domestic corporate bond (the “Bond”) with a principal amount of
RMB2,600,000,000 and repaid in full during the year ended 31
December 2021. The Bond was listed in Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(“SZX"). The interest charged for the year was calculated by applying an
effective interest rate of approximately 6.63% per annum since the Bond
were issued.

On 29 July 2021, China Securities Regulatory Commission has approved
the issue of 2021 domestic corporate bond (“2021 Domestic Corporate
Bond”) with a nominal value of not more than RMB2,100,000,000 by
Zhengxinglong. On 16 August 2021, Zhengxinglong completed the public
issue of the first tranche of the 2021 Domestic Corporate Bond (the
“First Tranche Domestic Bond”) to professional investors with a principal
amount of RMB1,600,000,000. The First Tranche Domestic Bonds were
classified into two types, both with a term of 5 years. The issue size of type
1 was RMB1,400,000,000 with a coupon rate of 8.5% (“Type 1 Bond”),
and the issue size of type 2 was RMB200,000,000 with a coupon rate of
8.8% (“Type 2 Bond”). The First Tranche Domestic Bonds was listed in
SZX.

Zhengxinglong has an option to increase the coupon rate at the end of the
first and third year for Type 1 Bond, and at the end of second and forth
year for Type 2 Bond. Zhengxinglong will make an announcement of the
determination on the coupon rate adjustment and irrespective of whether
adjustment will be made or not, the investor can exercise retractable
option at the end of the first and third year for Type 1 Bond and at the end
of second and fourth year for Type 2 Bond. The interest charged for the
year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of approximately
8.64% per annum since the First Tranche Domestic Bond were issued.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, RMB509,000,000 (2021: nil)
of Type 1 Bond was redeemed partially by bondholders.

The fair value of the remaining First Tranche Domestic Bond as at 31
December 2022 is RMB1,090,940,000 (2021: RMB1,600,000,000) with
reference to the quoted market price on SZX at the end of the reporting
period (the last trading day prior to 31 December 2022).

31.
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32. OTHER CURRENT/NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 32.

Pursuant to the relocation and compensation agreement for urban
redevelopment projects, the Group agreed to compensate the original
residents with completed properties of respective urban redevelopment
projects upon completion of redevelopment. The estimated future
completion cost incurred for construction of these completed properties
is accounted as a provision, with a corresponding increase in properties
under development for sale. The provision will be released upon those
completed properties have been delivered to the original residents.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

HitR® FRBEE

RERTEGER R 2 RBHERS  AEERER
BOE TR IAS T BER R ZCE KM ERRE
RIEHEE BREREEERMEELEZ B RE
TERRAERBEARR - 2RSS EARE
e BEBRERERIMNZEFD TR MERRE

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. k&
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Number Number
of shares HK$'000 RMB'000 of shares HK$'000 RMB'000
R EE TET AR%TR BRiAEE TET ARETT
Authorised share capital ADAEERA
of the Company:
Ordinary shares of SREECOLET
HK$0.01 each AL AR 30,000,000,000 300,000 240,000 30,000,000,000 300,000 240,000
Issued and fully paid share AARBETK
capital of the Company: BRBRA :
Ordinary shares of SREECOIBT
HK$0.01 each FEER
At 1 January R—B—H 5,097,703,975 50,976 42,465 5,096,903,975 50,968 42 458
Exercise of share options TR B AE (f77235)
(note 35) - - - 800,000 8 7
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 5,097,703,975 50,976 42,465 5,097,703,975 50,976 42 465
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

34. RESERVES

34. f#HE

e M BRI E

2022 2021

—E-C —E-—F

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Kt ARBTT ARBFT

Share premium f& 175 (B 7,163,036 7,163,036
Convertible preference shares AT R AR AB 5 IR (i) 5,999,201 5,999,201
Other reserves H b (ii) (3,134,531) (3,134,531
Exchange reserve R (91,910) 291,723
Investment/property revaluation reserve ®E MESGHHFHE (11,116) 44,336
Share option reserve (note 35) BB R (B77£35) 202,571 202,571
Statutory reserve AR (iii) 423,679 415,358
Retained profits IREE & A 14,166,635 14,905,103
24,717,565 25,886,797

Notes:

The movements of the Group’s reserves for the year are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements.
The nature and purpose of the reserves are as follows:

(i)

On 30 November 2015, the Company issued convertible preference
shares (the “2015 CPS”) at issue price of HK$2.06 per share, of which
3,413,473,023 CPS were issued to Mr. Wong for aggregate consideration
of HK$7,031,754,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB5,959,114,000) as
consideration for the Transaction as defined in note 34 (ii)(b).

Key terms of the 2015 CPS

Holders of the 2015 CPS will be entitled to receive notices of and to
attend the general meetings of the Company but are not permitted
to vote unless a resolution is proposed to vary the rights of holders of
the 2015 CPS or a resolution is proposed for the winding up of the
Company;

Holders of the 2015 CPS have the right to convert each 2015
CPS at any time into one ordinary share of the Company without
the payment of any additional consideration. The holders may not
exercise the conversion right if upon the conversion, the percentage
of ordinary shares held by the public will fall below the minimum
public float requirement under Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules. The
shares that are issued upon the exercise of the conversion right of the
2015 CPS are not subject to any restriction;

The 2015 CPS cannot be redeemed by the Company or its holder;

Holders of 2015 CPS will have priority over the holders of ordinary
shares of the Company on the assets and funds of the Company
available for distribution in a distribution of assets on liquidation,
winding-up or dissolution of the Company;

Hiat -

AEEFAZ B HEDREEMBRR 2 GAREEHRT
25 EEzZEERAENAT

(0

prA

—AFt+—A=1tH AREARERETE
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5,959,114,0007T) © AR SR E (F & R M aE34(i0)
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34. RESERVES (contd)

Notes: (Cont'd)
(i) (Cont'd)
Key terms of the 2015 CPS (Cont'd)

o Subject to compliance with all applicable laws and the article of
association of the Company, each 2015 CPS shall confer on its
holder the right to receive a preferred distribution from the date of the
issue of the 2015 CPS at a rate of 0.2% per annum, payable annually
in arrear. Such preferred distribution is non-cumulative. The board
of directors may, in its sole discretion, elect to defer or not to pay a
preferred distribution. No interest accrues on any unpaid preferred
distribution. If the board of directors of the Company elects to defer
or not to pay a preferred distribution, the Company cannot pay any
dividends, distributions or make any other payment to any ordinary
shares of the Company.

On 7 February 2018, the Company entered into the Convertible Preference
Shares (the “2018 CPS”) subscription agreement with Silver Sure (BVI)
Investments Limited, an independent third party to the Group as the 2018
CPS subscriber pursuant to which the 2018 CPS subscriber agreed to
subscribe for 132,564,669 new CPS at an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$389.47 million (equivalent to RMB325.56 million). The
allotment and issue of 2018 CPS was completed on 21 February 2018.

Key terms of the 2018 CPS

. Holders of the 2018 CPS will be entitled to receive notices of and to
attend the general meetings of the Company but are not permitted
to vote unless a resolution is proposed to vary the rights of holders of
the 2018 CPS or a resolution is proposed for the winding up of the
Company;

o Holders of the 2018 CPS have the right to convert each 2018
CPS at any time into one ordinary share of the Company without
the payment of any additional consideration. The holders may not
exercise the conversion right if upon the conversion, the percentage
of ordinary shares held by the public will fall below the minimum
public float requirement under Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules. The
shares that are issued upon the exercise of the conversion right of the
2018 CPS are not subject to any restriction;

o The 2018 CPS cannot be redeemed by the Company or its holder;
and

o Holders of 2018 CPS will have priority over the holders of ordinary
shares of the Company on the assets and funds of the Company
available for distribution in a distribution of assets on liquidation,
winding-up or dissolution of the Company;
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34. B
faz

(i)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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(&)
(&)
“E-RFAHRELERZ ETBERE)

. HHEMAEMERRARAEBRERZMEE
% BR-F-AFAURREERHETH
FHEAEN BT _Z—AFABRRESL
B B2 920.2% 2 F R R WHB LS IK - I
REBFFRIN - FELEDRTAIRME - EF
SR 2ENBEREBEREERTIXNELENIK
EMRZEEDIRL T B - HARAE
ERRBEERTINELDIK  BIARF
AE AR AR B EBBOR HERBRE - 5
RS H AR EL AR AT

RZT—N\F=A+tB  ARFEEIBBVIEESR
AR (AAEEZBIE = RIEA-T—\Fat
BB SEARRIEA) ST AR B AR (=T — \Fa]
BREEAR]) RERE - Bt — T N\FABRRE
ERARBARBABRELN3S47EEE T (FHER
AEM325 56 F BT ) iR 132,564,6690% 31 1] #1 A 2
Sk e ZT—N\FAIRRELRZEZRBITHR =
—NE-A=-+—H%K-

- N\FABRRELERZ ERER

. —Z-N\FARRESRIEE ARA R
ARBBRAGBEL HEARRBRRAE -
BN TRFEOERN  RIEMEZMRE
REEI T N\FURERBERFEEAN
RSB AR BERIERREER -

. —Z-N\FABRREEREE ABEERS
BER_ZF-N\FAURRELRERL KA
RNRVEBARARAD - T BASNERBEIMUE -
HREERER  ARALAFHERERENZED
LIRS E AR BIEE8.0816 2 B IE A RIFAER
E 0 AR B AT IEE - TE=F—N\
FrRAIMREER 2 BRBRETZRNDEBA
AR

U ARBF_F-NFABRBREBERFETAT
AEEN T - NFARRELER K

. ARBEEE  BRIERMDIREER =
E-N\FHBRBREBERFEARARAER
BFEAEEZAARRAESIRZEER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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34. RESERVES (contd)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(i)

(i)

(Cont'd)

The details of the 2018 CPS are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 7 February 2018.

The 2018 CPS and 2015 CPS are classified as equity instruments in the
Group'’s consolidated financial statements as the Group does not have a
contractual obligation to deliver cash or other financial assets arising from the
issue of the 2018 CPS and 2015 CPS.

On 23 January 2020 and 10 August 2020, 13,636,364 and 24,000,000
2015 CPS have been converted into ordinary shares at the conversion price
of HK$2.06 per conversion preference share respectively. No 2015 and
2018 CPS has been converted into ordinary shares of the Company during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Other reserves mainly comprise:

(a) A deemed contribution of an amount of HK$1,007,864,525
(equivalent to approximately RMB806,292,000) by China LVGEM,
the then immediate holding company of the Company, to acquire
approximately 75% of the then aggregate issued share capital of the
Company on 8 May 2014 (the “Acquisition”).

(b) A deemed distribution of an amount of HK$13,785,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB11,682,204,000) to Mr. Wong,
to acquire the entire equity interests in Green View Holding
Company Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Target Group”) (the “Transaction”). The Transaction
was completed on 30 November 2015. The amount of deemed
distribution comprised of issuance of 2,509,342,511 new
ordinary shares at issue price of HK$2.06 per ordinary share of
the Company amounted to HK$5,169,246,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB4,380,717,000), issuance of 3,413,473,023
convertible preference shares at issue price of HK$2.06 per
convertible preference shares amounted to HK$7,031,754,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB5,959,114,000), and cash
consideration of HK$1,584,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,342,373,000).

34. REE

(i)

(ii)
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34. RESERVES (contd)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(ii)

Other reserves mainly comprise: (Cont'd)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The difference between the aggregate amount of share capital
and share premium of the Target Group and the Company at
the completion date of the Transaction, which amounted to
approximately RMB433,106,000.

On 28 December 2018, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with Mr. Wong to subscribe 90.1% equity interests in
Copious Favour Holdings Limited (“Copious Favour”), an investment
holding company wholly owned by Mr. Wong and Copious Favour
indirectly holds 44% equity interests in Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao
Investment Co., Ltd (“Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao”), which is a 51%
owned indirect subsidiary of the Company. Upon completion of
the subscription on 28 December 2018, Copious Favour became
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, while the Group’s
equity interests in Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao increased from 51% to
90.64%.

The difference between subscription amount and the attributable net
liabilities being acquired was included in other reserves.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, LVGEM Suzhou Real
Estate Investment Company Limited (“LVGEM Suzhou”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group as the purchaser entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with the non-controlling shareholder
of Prosper View Group Limited (“PVGL”), an investment holding
company non-wholly owned by the Group, to acquire remaining 49%
equity interest of PVGL at the consideration of RMB29,410,000.

Upon completion of the transaction on 15 January 2020, PVGL
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, while the
Group's effective equity interests in Prosper View increased from
51% to 100%. The difference between the consideration and the
non-controlling interests acquired was included in other reserves.
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34. RESERVES (contd)

35.

Notes: (Cont'd)
(ii) Other reserves mainly comprise: (Cont’d)

(f) On 25 August 2020, Greater Bay Area Intelligent City Limited, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“the Subscriber”),
Affluent Trade Investments Limited (“Affluent Trade”), Multiple
Ally Limited (“Multiple Ally”), and Victor Success Investments
Limited (“Victor Success”), and Mr. Wong, entered into subscription
agreements (“Subscription Agreements”). Upon completion of the
share subscription, Affluent Trade will be owned as to 70% and
30% by the Subscriber and Mr. Wong respectively, Victor Success
will be owned as to 75% and 25% by the Subscriber and Mr. Wong
respectively, and Multiple Ally will be owned as to 75% and 25%
by the Subscriber and Mr. Wong respectively and ICDL and its
subsidiaries became non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group.

The difference between the consideration paid which was nil by way
of share subscription and the attributable identifiable fair value of
the net asset acquired on those additional equity interest of 55%
of RMB8,496,395,000 were included in other reserves as capital
contribution by Mr. Wong.

(iii) As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the Mainland China,
certain subsidiaries of the Company in the Mainland China are required to
maintain a statutory reserve which is non-distributable other than upon the
liquidation of the entity. Transfer to this reserve is made out of profit after tax
of the Mainland China subsidiaries’ statutory financial statements which are
prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in
the Mainland China.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 14 November
2005 expired on 13 November 2015. On 2 June 2016, the Company
adopted a new share option scheme (the “Scheme”) at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 2 June 2016.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the board of directors may, at its discretion,
invite any executive or non-executive directors including independent
non-executive directors or any employees (whether full-time or part-
time) of the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies;
any discretionary objects of a discretionary trust established by any
employees, executive or non-executive directors of each member of the
Group or its associated companies; any consultants, professional and
other advisers to each member of the Group or its associated companies
(or persons, firms or companies proposed to be appointed for providing
such services); any chief executives or substantial shareholders of the
Company; any associates of any director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company; and any employees (whether full-time or
part-time) of substantial shareholders of the Company, provided that the
board of directors may have absolute discretion to determine whether or
not one falls within the above categories, (together, the “Participants” and
each a “Participant”), to take up options (“Option(s)”) to subscribe for
shares at a price determined in accordance with the paragraph below.
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In determining the basis of eligibility of each Participant, the board of
directors would take into account such factors as the board of directors
may at its discretion consider appropriate.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the date on which the Scheme is adopted, after which
period no further Options will be granted but in all other respects the
provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and effect, and Options
which are granted during the life of the Scheme may continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant.

The exercise price of a share in relation to each Option granted under the
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the board of directors and
notified to a Participant and shall be at least the highest of:

(a)  the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the business day on which
an offer is accepted by the grantee or if such date of acceptance
by the grantee is not a business day, the immediately preceding
business day;

(b)  a price being the average of the closing prices of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date on which an
offer is accepted by the grantee (provided that the new issue price
shall be used as the closing price for any business day falling within
the period before listing of the shares where the Company has been
listed for less than five business days as at the date on which an
offer is accepted by the grantee); and

(c)  the nominal value of a Company’s share.
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35.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (conta)

The total number of shares, which may be issued upon exercise of all
Options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of shares in issue on the date of commencement of dealings in
the shares on the Stock Exchange (“Scheme Mandate Limit”), unless
the Company obtains an approval from its shareholders. Options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating such 10% limit. As at 1 January 2022 and 31
December 2022, the total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme was 285,800,000 shares, representing approximately 5.61% of
the total shares as at the date of the annual report.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Scheme, the maximum
number of the shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding Options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed
30% of the total number of shares in issue from time to time.

Unless approved by the shareholders, the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.

Offer of an option (“Offer”) shall be deemed to have been accepted by
any Participant (the “Grantee”) who accepts an Offer in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme and the option to which the Offer relates shall
be deemed to have been granted and to have taken effect when the
duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the Offer duly signed
by the Grantee together with a remittance in favour of the Company of
HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the granting thereof is received by
the Company within 30 days from the date upon which the Offer is made.

In respect of any particular option, the period within which the option
may be exercised by the grantee shall be a period to be determined by
the Board at its discretion and notified by the Board to each grantee, and
such period shall not be more than 10 years from the date on which such
option is granted.

On 28 June 2016, the Company granted share options under the Scheme
to certain Participants which will enable the Grantees to subscribe for a
total of 285,800,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of the Company.
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HE_Z-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE
35. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (cont'd) 35. ARG EEFHFMN =)

Details of the Options granted by the Company pursuant to the Scheme AARMBREZT AR L NERENRN T —F+=
and the Options outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December A=+—HBERZE=Z—F+=—A=+—HHEKRTE
2021 are as follows: WERESFEET

Number of options
ERE%E

Balance at Transfer Granted Exercised Lapsed Balance at Exercise
Date Exercisable 1 January during during during during 31 December price per
of grant period 2022 the year the year the year the year 2022 share
RZF=ZE
RZB-Zf tZA
-B-A =t-A
RiiAE TRHE Was  REAEER  REARL  RERTE  RERXN hEs  SROKE
(dd/mmyyyy) (dd/mmAyyyy) HKS
B/B/®  B/R/% B

Executive directors (Note 1)~ HTEB (HiiE1) 28/06/22016  268/06/2016t0 10,500,000 = = = - 10,500,000 1.846
27/06/2026
28/06/20162
21/06/2026

Executive directors (Note2) ~ HTEZ (H/i22) 28/06/22016  28/06/2017to 10,500,000 - - - - 10,500,000 1846
21/06/2026
28/06/2017%
27/06/2026

Executive directors (Note ) ~ B1fTE S (Hit3) 28/06/22016  268/06/2018t0 14,000,000 = = = - 14,000,000 1.846
21/06/2026
28/06/2018%
21/06/2026

Employees (Note 1) EaMmZY 28/06/22016  268/06/2016t0 60,750,000 = = = - 60,750,000 1.846
27/06/2026
28/06/20162
21/06/2026

Employees (Note 2) a2 28/06/22016  268/06/2017to 61,110,000 - - - - 61,110,000 1846
21/06/2026
28/06/2017%
27/06/2026

Employees (Note 3) Eams) 280622016 28/06/2018t0 81,480,000 = = = - 81,480,000 1.846
21/06/2026
28/06/2018%
21/06/2026

Others (Note 1) Abmitr) 28/06/22016  268/06/2016t0 3,900,000 = = = - 3,900,000 1.846
27/06/2026
28/06/20162
21/06/2026

Others (Note 2) At (i2) 28/06/2016  28/06/2017 to 900,000 - - - - 900,000 1846
21/06/2026
28/06/2017%
27/06/2026

Others (Note 3) Bt (3) 28/06/2016  26/06/2018 to 1,200,000 = = = - 1,200,000 1.846
21/06/2026
28/06/2018%
21/06/2026

244,340,000 = = = - 244,340,000

Exercisable at the end BRAFHE 244,340,000
of the period
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35. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (conta) 35. LRGN EEEHM =

Number of options

FhiEHa

Balance at Transfer Granted Exercised Lapsed Balance at Exercise
Date Exercisable 1 January during during during during 31 December price per
of grant period 2021 the year the year the year the year 2021 share

N S

RZZ--% T2A

-A-H =1-A
RiAH e MEsn  REREE  RERRL  REROE RERER nEn  BRAKRE
(ddimmiyyyy) — (do/mmiyyy) (Note 4) HKS
B/B/% B/R/% (Hi4) BT

Executive directors (Note 1)~ BITEZ(Ht1) 280622016 28006/201610 10,500,000 = = = - 10,500,000 1846
2710612026
28006120162
2710612026

Executive directors (Note )~ HITEZ(#22) 280622016 28006/2017t0 10,500,000 = = = - 10500000 1846
2710612026
2806/2017%
2710612026

Executive directors (Note 3) ~ HTES(4/23) 28/06/2016  28/06/201810 14,000,000 = = = - 14,000,000 1846
2710612026
2806/2018%
2710612026

Employees (Note 1) BaHZ) 280622016 280061201610 60,750,000 = = = - 60,750,000 1846
2710612026
28006120162
2710612026

Employees (Note 2) a2 28062016 280061201710 61,430,000 = = (320,000) - 61,110,000 1846
2710612026
2806/2017%
2710612026

Employees (Note 3) &) 28/06/2016  28/06/201810 81,960,000 = = (480,000) - 81480000 1846
2710612026
2806/2018%
2710612026

Others (Note 5) Bt (#5) 280062016 28006201610 3,900,000 = = = - 3500000 1846
2710612026
28006120162
2710612026

Others (Note 5) Ay (its) 280622016 28/06/2017 to 900,000 = = = = 900,000 1846
2710612026
2806/2017%
2710612026

Others (Note 5) Bt (#75) 280612016 2806/2018to 1,200,000 = = = - 1,200,000 1846
2710612026
2806/2018%
2710612026

245,140,000 = = (800,000) - 244340000

Exercisable at the end BRAFE 244,340,000
of the period
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Note 1:  The options were vested immediately on the date of grant.

Note 2: The options granted are subject to the vesting period from the date of
grant up to 27 June 2017.

Note 3:  The options granted are subject to the vesting period from the date of
grant up to 27 June 2018.

Note 4:  The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise for share
options during the year ended at 31 December 2021 was HK$2.22 per
share.

Note 5: Others include grantees who were eligible participants other than
executive directors and employees pursuant to the Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no shares (2021: 800,000
shares) were exercised.

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before 28 June
2016, the date of grant, was HK$1.820.

There is no performance condition for the Options to vest.

The fair values of the Options determined at the date of grant using the
Binomial Option Pricing Model were HK$276,156,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB236,030,000). During the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021, no expense was incurred in relation to share options
granted by the Company.

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the best estimate of the
directors of the Company. Changes in variables and assumptions may
result in changes in the fair value of the Options.
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36.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Hong Kong

The Group has joined a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is
registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of an independent trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from the MPF
Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss represent
contributions payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the scheme.

The Mainland China

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the government of the Mainland China. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their employees to
the state-managed retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.

During the year, the retirement benefit scheme contributions amounted
to RMB33,621,000 (2021: RMB35,408,000). No forfeited contributions
have been used to reduce the level of contributions in both years.
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37.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing properties commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristic of
the underlying assets.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt to equity ratio.
For this purpose the net debt is defined as borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents. The Group’s goal in capital management is to maintain a net
debt to equity ratio at a reasonable level. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new
debt financing or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group’s overall strategy in capital management remains unchanged
from prior year.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES

e M BRI E

HHEERBEENBEREE

Categories of financial instruments @I AEER
2022 2021
—E=-= —T=—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®ET T
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets measured at amortised cost REEK AT ENSREE 5,719,348 8,264,773
Equity instruments at fair value through other BARBEFAEMEERREZ
comprehensive income BRAT A 371,963 450,423
Financial liabilities sWmasE
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost R#ERATENCRAE 41,854,022 36,421,859
Derivative financial instruments PTESBMTEA 22,760 26,251
Lease liabilities HEASE 147,279 164,475

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks: currency risk, interest
rate risk, price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management focuses on unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
The Group currently does not have any written risk management policies
and guidelines. However, the directors of the Company meet periodically
to analyse and formulate strategies to manage and monitor financial risks.

The Group is not engaged in the trading of financial assets for speculative
purposes. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is
exposed are described below.

AEFEAZZEMBEAR B¥ER - MXER B
RER FREAREABESRER - AEBEMERR
REEREHENS R MG AR 5K
HAEERBRROEETNZERERE - K%
I3 35 B 0 A AR AR SO R R B SR IR I B B o AR T
ARBEEEHERGE UM RGIEEBAE
B K SRS R o

AEEYEEENRBLSERNEREEREER - &
SEMESNZEZFERBEINAT
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (Cont'd)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

38. IEREENBEERBE®)

38.1 Currency risk 38.1 E¥ER
Certain subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency ARRETHEBRRZEBEER B FENAINE
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which expose the FHE - AEBEEGINER R o ANEERRI
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not have EDRIMNERE R 2 BUR - A BEEESRY
a policy to hedge the foreign currency exposure. However, the ERBRAIMNERE)  WRBZERHEEEI
management monitors the related foreign currency fluctuation = HA A 4 LA B R SME R ©
closely and will consider entering into foreign exchange forward
contracts to hedge significant portion of the foreign currency risk
should the need arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated REBUIINESHE2 B EEREEBBERR
monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date as SHHZIREENT «
follows:
Assets Liahilities
BE =L
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F —ZE_ —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®ET T AR® T ARET T
uss$ x5t 45,030 110,726 3,285,016 3,867,825
HK$ BT 79,204 454,398 2,747,845 2,470,068

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the currencies of US$ and HK$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in RMB against the relevant foreign currency.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to directors of the Company’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items assuming the balances at the
end of the reporting period outstanding for the whole year and
adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates a decrease
in loss (2021: an increase in profit) where RMB strengthen 5%
against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of RMB against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the loss (2021: profit), and the amounts below would be
negative.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (contd)

38.1

38.2

38. MBEREENERKEBZR(

e M BRI E

Currency risk (Cont'd) 38.1
Sensitivity analysis (Cont'd)
2022 2021
—Z=-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTT
us$ ELT
Profit or loss B 121,499 140,891
HK$ BT
Profit or loss B 100,074 75,588
In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is BEERR BRERARTREFARR
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year MBRE DT ARERRANEHINER
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
Interest rate risk 38.2 FIEm

The Group has significant borrowings (see note 29 for details)
with floating interest rate which are exposed to cash flow interest-
rate risk. Certain bank loans and certain other borrowings, certain
restricted bank deposits, certain bank balances, convertible bonds,
senior notes and bond, and lease liabilities (see note 28 for details)
carried at fixed rate which exposed the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. During the year, the Group has not hedged its cash flow
and fair value interest rate risks.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate borrowings at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 (2021: 50) basis
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to directors of the Company’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being
undertaken globally, including the replacement of some interbank
offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk-free rates.
Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk management strategy
arising from the interest rate benchmark reform and the progress
towards implementation of alternative benchmark interest rates are
set out under “interest rate benchmark reform” in this note.

AEBBNERMNEAENERNEE FHIER
fim29) AR\ RMEF AR - HETRITE

FAERETHMES  ETRRARTER &
TRITHES - TRRES  BERBERESFMNU
MEERE (FERME28) EEMETE
WEAREAZ AR BEMEER - FR - K
SEYEITERSRELAABENEXRE

B -

AT GBS A TR IOT B8 R R 45 1R
42 FIEARER - HHTHBRBEHREE
BEREEAEEHKEETRY - WAATE
5 P05 8 4R 5 IR 5 $R P50 (— T = — %
50) AR - RRAATEFLFILAR
AT 2 BB 2 FFA -

EREEFREETFETRA LORE - B1F
VAL 4t 37 <8 o i ) 1) 5 2 (R BF 0 8R 7T R 3647
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (Cont'd)

38.2

38.3

Interest rate risk (Cont'd)
Sensitivity analysis (Cont'd)

If interest rates had been 50 (2021: 50) basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax loss for the year would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB32,964,000 (2021: profit decrease/increase by approximately
RMB25,292,000), net of interest that would be capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

Sensitivity analysis on bank deposits is not presented as the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s exposure to
interest rate fluctuations on bank deposits is insignificant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by
the Group is arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position and the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in
note 42.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its accounts
and other receivables, amounts due from a joint venture, related
companies and non-controlling interests, and amount of contingent
liabilities in relation to the financial guarantees provided by the
Group. The amounts presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position are net of allowances for credit losses, estimated
by the Group’s management based on prior experience and their
assessment of the current economic environment.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and
customers, except for amounts due from a joint venture, related
parties and non-controlling interests of RMB1,874,640,000 (2021:
RMB769,099,000) in aggregate as at 31 December 2022. The
credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the funds have been
deposited with various creditworthy financial institutions located in
Hong Kong and the Mainland China.
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HE-_ZT-—_F+-A=1T—RHILFE

ENBREXKBE®

=@ (&)

i M =320, 50 (B = —4 : 50) fEE
IimFT A KM S ST - REENRKRIZR

REBEEHBREERMF B BOFERBRTIEE
B 0, 4 A R #32,964,0007T (ZF
——F BRI A RE25,292,000
JT) °

RITERZHRESTALRES - AERR
EREAEERITERFE ZEHRA R S[Ti
Ko

fEE & R ROR E R (L

HRRX ST ABRITEERNEERHETEE
R T 4 AN 5= [BE AR B 7% 1R 2K O oK = P L
ERGEPHINARERARESEREREEN
R B & BR AN SR B A 28 E B RS R (R B BV SR
BESEMEL R4 ELRE -

AEEEERBREEREAEAEERRUTE
BRI R AR IE - B4
BRE] - BB A R NIFERE S TR - KA
BERA ﬁ*/\ﬁﬁ%ﬁkﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬁm%%ﬁﬂmﬁ%
FEERRE BaAEEEEERBEETLR
R B R EEIRRR R G E R A -

AEBVEBEAEFZERERR AR5 R
BEBARZ OB ER R T

F+-_A=+—HEK—FEEEQ R - BEES
&#? H%é*%klﬁé#\/&mé}l 874,640,0007T
B /\E?ﬁ%7690990007z)ﬁ$57\\°
RESERRESRPEANMARIFEE

BEE RERRDEENERERR EBE°



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M RRME

38. MBEEBEENBERRKABZR(

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (contd)

38.3 EEEMKXBENMEE)

38.3 Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

As at 31 December 2022, the directors of the Company considered
that the default risk for other receivables, amounts due from a
joint venture, related parties and non-controlling interests is very
low due to their sound credit worthiness, financial position and
historical repayment records.

For amount due from a joint venture, the management of the
Group assessed the profitability of the underlying project of the joint
venture and its recoverability. Due to its profitability, the directors of
the Company considered that the default risk is low.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

For properties under development which are subject to pre-sales
agreements, the Group generally typically provides guarantees to
banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing of mortgage
loans to finance their purchase of the properties for certain amount
of the total purchase price of the property. If a purchaser defaults
on the payment of its mortgage during the term of guarantee,
the bank holding the mortgage may demand the Group to repay
the outstanding amount of the loan and any accrued interest
thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is able to forfeit
the customer’s purchase deposit and sell the property to recover
any amounts paid by the Group to the bank. Therefore, the
management considers it would likely recover any loss incurred
arising from the guarantee by the Group. The management
considers the credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided
to property purchasers is limited because the facilities are secured
by the properties and the market prices of the properties are higher
than the guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model for lease receivables with significant balances individually.

During the year ended at 31 December 2022, the lifetime ECL of
accounts receivables recognised, net of reversal, is approximately
RMB36,385,000 (2021: RMB68,873,000).
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (Cont'd)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_ZT-—_F+-A=1T—RHILFE

BHERAREENBERRBERE@®

38.4 Liquidity risk 384 REBESER

Despite uncertainties mentioned in note 3.1, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its cash flow requirements in the next
twelve months. The directors of the Company are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
to ensure that the Group maintains sufficient reserves of cash
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and medium term
financial liabilities.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the non-derivative financial
liabilities, based on undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on current rates at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay.

Specifically, for term loans which contain a repayment on demand
clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole discretion, the
analysis shows the cash outflows based on the earliest period in
which the Group can be required to pay, that is if the lenders were
to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with immediate
effect. The maturity analysis for other bank borrowings is prepared
based on the scheduled repayment dates.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND

OBJECTIVES (contd)

38.4 Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

e M BRI E

38. MBEBREENBERKRBZ®

384 mEBESEAR(EZ)

0

Total
Weighted Less than After 1 Atter 2 contractual
average 1 year year hut years hut undiscounted
effective oron less than less than After cash Carrying
interest rate demand 2 years 5 years 5 years flows amount
RTR
g —FRyg -FH0E  @WENL ARRE
ERF = BER  WENR  EFEUR IfE REAE REE
% RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARETR AR®Tn AR%TR AR%TR AR¥T:R
2022 —EC-CE
Financial liahilities cREE
Accounts payable JERBR - 5449855 - - - 5449855 5449855
Accruals and other g Epe:tividop-esl
payables - 2,052,454 - - - 2,052,454 2,052,454
Borrowings BE 7.20 12,521,823 9,146,088 11,531,203 2,864,075 36,063,189 28,871,948
Senior notes and bond BARBRES 10.34 3,763,099 984,335 - - 4747434 4,486,576
Convertible bonds Bk ES 14.13 993,189 - - - 993,189  1,015,949*
Leases liabilities HEBE 8.73 25,364 17,971 57,128 134,351 234,814 147,279
Financial guarantee MBRREN (H42)
contracts (note 42) - 2,525,896 - - - 2,525,896 -
27,331,680 10,148,394 11,588,331 2,998,426 52,066,831 42,024,061
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 38. IEREENHEREBEEZ#)
OBJECTIVES (conta)

38.4 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 384 REBELEAR(Z)
Total
Weighted Less than After 1 After 2 contractual
average 1 year year but years but undiscounted
effective oron less than less than After cash Carrying
interest rate demand 2 years 5 years 5 years flows amount
R
MEFH  —FR® —HNE RENRE Cr kA

ERAME BRER  WEUA  AEUR hF®%  RERE REfE
%  RMB0OO ~ RMBO000 ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO  RMB'000
ARETL ARETR ARETL ARETL AREBTR ARETRL

2021 ZB--F
Financial liabilities tReE
Accounts payable AR - 3642441 = = - 3642441 3642441
Accruals and other T E AR EENFE

payables - 1,591,715 - - - 1,591,715 1,591,715
Borrowings BE 547 8,466,691 6,827,032 10,582,150 3,383,110 29,259,483 24,993,731
Senior notes and bond BEARBRES 1010 1,896,189 3512974 - - 5409163 4,731,720
Convertible bonds aRES 13.55 606,672 1,149,260 - - 1,755,932 1,488,503*
Leases liabilities HEARE 8.83 31,045 25,364 55,699 153,750 265,858 164,475
Financial guarantee BBERED (H742)

contracts (note 42) - 1,814,427 - - - 1,814,427 -

18,049,180 11,515,130 10,637,849 3,536,860 43,739,019 36,612,585
* The carrying amount of the convertible bonds disclosed here * LR R AR R EFREE S ERERITE
includes the carrying amount of the related derivative components. THEEDHREE -

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts LEt AMBEREANFIBANIZE B
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle SEBER  AEEREBETHEREIERAS
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that NHE=LE - RBRSHAKREH - A£ER
amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based %*ETF?EF/EE%M‘J‘EZ KIBH AT BE TR o A
on the expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group i EHETAIRE R - BURIS B B B RE
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be W ARR A %%TFEQ‘EETEE’Eﬁﬁ&B?ﬁ
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject RSB 5T A] BE 1% o

to change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood
that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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38. MBEBREENBERKRBZ®

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (contd)

38.4 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 384 FEBESER(E)
The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of term TR BE M B R B SR E R G TE BB SRR
loans with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed BBz MR EER A BRI ST -
scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. The RESBRRBRANFNETENF BFIAE -
amounts include interest payments computed using contractual It ZESEEA LR BB RE K] K
rates. As a result, these amounts were greater than the amounts HEERNFEENSEAES - EXNAEENT K
disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the maturity analysis MR BERBRITTIARAIEITHEERBSEES
above. Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the KENEFER - EEHERSETHEFFIRER
directors do not consider that it is probable that the banks will EATEMB TN A HEE -
exercise their discretion to demand immediate repayment.
The directors believe that such term loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.
Maturity analysis of term loans subject to a repayment on demand M B RERER GO TERERIREEHA
clause based on scheduled repayments is as follows: BB BBE ST ¢
Total
On Less than 6to 1to5  undiscounted Carrying
demand 6 months 12 months years cash flows amount
~MERE AFERE
BEX  DPRAEA +=A —-FZIF REAE BEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTRT ARETR AR®Tn AR%TR AR®TRT AR%Tx
31 December 2022 —E-F
+-A=+-8H - 1,386,247 839,864 - 2,226,111 2,140,996
31 December 2021 —ZT-—F
+-A=+—H - 192,075 688,004 191,088 1,071,167 1,045,710
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (cont'a)

38.5

38.6

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in connection with equity
instrument at FVTOCI. The Group closely monitors the fluctuation
of the trading prices and value of underlying assets and assesses
the impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

If prices of equity security has been 5% higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s investment
revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB13,949,000 (2021: RMB16,891,000).

The Group was also exposed to other price risk arising from the
outstanding derivative financial instruments with predetermined
maturity date. The fair value of these derivative financial
instruments was calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model detailed in note 30.

However, the management considers that the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent market risk as the pricing
model used in the fair value valuation of these derivative financial
instruments which involves multiple variables are interdependent
and the Group’s exposure to fluctuation of the fair value is minimal.

Interest rate benchmark reform

Several of the Group’s LIBOR and HIBOR bank loans will be
subject to the interest rate benchmark reform. The Group is
closely monitoring the market and managing the transition to new
benchmark interest rates, including announcements made by the
relevant IBOR regulators.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (contd)

38.6 Interest rate benchmark reform (Cont'd) 386 FEEEME(Z)

LIBOR LIBOR

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—0 BETEE
(—EHEMEANTERIN BRERE=
T_=FXA=Z+RHBAFTHBIRMEIN FTE
LIBOREEE T~HHAERMEEARE T TH

As at 31 December 2022, all LIBOR settings have been either
ceased to be provided by any administrator or no longer be
representative, except for US dollar settings (other than the 1-week
and 2-month settings) which will be ceased immediately after 30

June 2023. BEAEREKM -
HIBOR HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average (“HONIA")
has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR, there is no plan to
discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has been adopted in
Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

(i)

Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform

The following are the key risks for the Group arising from the
transition:

Interest rate related risks

For contracts which have not been transitioned to the
relevant alternative benchmark rates and without detailed
fallback clauses, if the bilateral negotiations with the Group’s
counterparties are not successfully concluded before the
cessation of LIBORSs, there are significant uncertainties with
regard to the interest rate that would apply. This gives rise to
additional interest rate risk that was not anticipated when the
contracts were entered into.

There are fundamental differences between IBORs and the
various alternative benchmark rates. IBORs are forward
looking term rates published for a period (e.g. 3 months)
at the beginning of that period and include an inter-bank
credit spread, whereas alternative benchmark rates are
typically risk-free overnight rates published at the end of the
overnight period with no embedded credit spread. These
differences will result in additional uncertainty regarding
floating rate interest payments.

BB EFEHEE (THONIA D) B##3A
HIBORM BRI = - W EFEE IEF A
HIBOR - BB B RMZ FIE 7% - BIHIBOR K
HONIA# X RFF# -

> ol T A e b
&N e

(i)

NTRASEABEEENTE2RER

BTN

i R EIR 2 AR B R R R I 3
HABRGRNEHOME - WEAKHE
8T 7B BN EBLBORZ AT A
BEEAAE  RIFERRRK T RBHF
FHEBATRERE  MUSEHEL
FEARIRI S RBETRRI MY RRIMNAIR B o

IBORER &% B (AR & 27 B FERAK
EEZER - IBORBIEERHIRE (Fa031E
) R R ph ez SR 4 w0 BT E =2 23R
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (cont'a)

38.6 Interest rate henchmark reform (Cont'd)

(i)

(i)

Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
(Cont'd)

Litigation risk

If no agreement is reached to implement the interest
rate benchmark reform on contracts which have not
been transitioned to the relevant alternative benchmark
rates (e.g. arising from differing interpretation of existing
fallback terms), there is a risk of prolonged disputes with
counterparties which could give rise to additional legal
and other costs. The Group is working closely with all
counterparties to avoid this from occurring.

Interest rate basis risk

Interest rate basis risk may arise if a non-derivative
instrument and the derivative instrument held to manage
the interest risk on the non-derivative instrument transition
to alternative benchmark rates at different times. This risk
may also arise where back-to-back derivatives transition at
different times. The Group will monitor this risk against its
risk management policy which has been updated to allow
for temporary mismatches of up to 12 months and transact
additional basis interest rate swaps if required.

Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark
interest rates

As part of the Group’s risk management for transition, new
contracts entered into by the Group are linked to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates or interest rates which are not
subject to reform to the extent feasible. Otherwise, the Group
ensured the relevant contracts include detailed fallback
clauses clearly referencing the alternative benchmark rate
and the specific triggering event on which the clause is
activated.

For a floating rate loan that is linked to HIBOR, the Group
had confirmed with the relevant counterparty HIBOR will
continue to maturity.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND

OBJECTIVES (contd)

38.6

(i)

Interest rate benchmark reform (Cont’d)

e M BRI E

38. BEAREENHRRBEZE®

386 FIREEHRE(Z)

Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark (ir)

interest rates (Cont'd)

The following table shows the total amounts of outstanding
contracts and the progress in completing the transition
to alternative benchmark rates. The amounts of financial
liabilities are shown at their carrying amounts and
derivatives are shown at their notional amounts.

As at 31 December 2022

TRETARTHRANWERER TROBIE
EEREENXEE - SREENS
BUREEZY MOTETARINAE
TEZS -

R-B-—_fF+=-A=+—H

Financial instruments Carrying amounts/  Hedge Transition progress for
prior to transition Maturing in notional amounts  accounting financial instruments
BREE
BEANEMIA RELT F 4 E 8 EREHE HHEHZ SHMIABEEE
RMB’000
AR®T T
Non-derivative financial liability
FTELEAE
Bank loans linked to HIBOR From 2023 to 2024 8,235,642 N/A HIBOR will continue till
maturity
HIHIBOREMA K IR1TE K —E-=FZ% TEA H 4B FAHIBORZE
ZENF FIERIE
As at 31 December 2021 NZEBE-—F+=-A=+—8H
Financial instruments Carrying amounts/ Hedge Transition progress for
prior to transition Maturing in notional amounts  accounting financial instruments
IREE
BEANEMIA UL 4 218 EEEE HHEstZE SRTIABEEE
RMB’000
ARBT T
Non-derivative financial liabilities
fTELHEE
Bank loans linked to GBP LIBOR 2022 617,528 N/A Transitioned to Sterling
Overnight Index
Average
ELIEEE| IBOREMAMIRTTER —T-_F i A BEZHRERR
T EE
Bank loans linked to HIBOR From 2022 to 2024 7,678,899 N/A HIBOR will continue till
maturity
EEHIBOREMAHYERTTE K T —FF TiEA 1S HE4E F FAHIBORE
—Z_mF FEARIE
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (cont'a)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

38. MBEREENBRRER®

38.7 Fair value measurement of financial instruments 387 tMIENAAREENE

This note provides information about how the Group determines
fair values of various financial assets and financial liabilities.

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair value,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third
party qualified valuer to perform the valuation or to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at 31 December
R+-A=+-HWAAEE

AW ERHEBARBNAETS AL MAE
ReMAEA R EEOEHR -

MM BHREENME - ARBERO SR TATS
BAREBEE - EfbFIAAEER - AKE
FERISHEBENER M S BRNE - M E
F-RBARE  FEESEZRE=FTAERK
HEMETT B ESRRER 2 HERI RRE
ZEANBIE -

FEEHSEMEELERBENRSREAR
BAREBERNE  TREHABOANETZE
CREERERABAABENEN(LER
FRER A R E Rl R s A BUR) ©

2022 2021
—E--f —T-_—% Fair value Valuation technique(s) and
Financial assets/financial liabilities RMB'000 RMB'000 hierarchy key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)
LREE/LREE ARBTR ARETT AAEE HERGRIZGAHE ZRTHERARE
£
Derivative financial instruments 22,760 26,251 Level 3 Binomial option pricing model The Volatility of the share prices
fair value is estimated based on the determined by reference to the
risk free rate, discount rate, share historical share prices of the
price, volatility of the share prices Company (Note 1).
of the Company, dividend yield and
exercise price.
THEERIA F=-f —EABETEEAANBENRE L2EAARELREEBETHR
BRFE BERE RE KRR ERE LD o
REKE  REERITEERE
$ o
Equity instrument at fair value through 336,992 406,557 Level 1 Quoted bid price in an active market. ~ N/A

other comprehensive income
RAnBEGAEMEEKE
ZBRAIAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 AN 4=
For ey e 31 Dcamber 2022 GARBREMD
38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 38. IXKEREENBERBE®
OBJECTIVES (conta)

38.7 Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Cont'd)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Cont'd)

Fair value as at 31 December
W+-A=+-BMAALEE

2022 2021
—EB--F —Z-—% Fair value Valuation technique(s) and
Financial assets/financial liabilities RMB'000 RMB'000 hierarchy key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)
SREE/SRHAR ARBTR ARBTT  DAEE RERNRIEBABE ZRTEERARE
£
Equity instrument at fair value through 34,971 43,866 Level 3 Market approach by applying market ~ The ratio of market capital to net
other comprehensive income multiples such as the ratio of book value from comparable
market capital to net book value companies is determined by the
from comparable companies and mean of comparable companies
adjusted by discount on lack of as at the valuation date (Note 2)
marketability
BRAEEGARMEE E =R mHE EREAUBKRARZT AEXRARNSEAEEKEF
ZBRATA SREE(MTREAEHRARE E2WEDARMELRRFAIRME
) YRz maREtELY BBz THEET (2
&A%

Discount for lack of marketability
taking into account the external
valuer's estimate on the length of
time and effort required by the
management to dispose of the
equity interest which is determined
as 15% to 20% (Note 2)

EARINERBREEREHER
BB ZERRATE 2BN1E
H2 8 RS SREit i
EETEA15%Z20% (Fi:2)
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (cont'a)

38.7 Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Cont'd)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Cont'd)

Notes:

Note 1:

Note 2:

The higher the volatility of the share prices of the Company, the
higher the fair value of the derivative financial instruments, and
vice versa. For the volatility of the share prices of the Company
used in the fair value measurement for derivative financial
instruments, please refer to note 30.

The higher the ratio of market capital to net book value from
comparable companies, the higher the fair value of the equity
instrument, and vice versa. The higher of the discount for lack
of marketability, the lower the fair value of the equity instrument,
and vice versa. No sensitivity is presented as the directors of the
Company considered that the slight change in relevant inputs
would not have a significant impact to the fair values.

There is no transfer between different levels of the fair value
hierarchy for both years.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

Bt 75 [ B

EENHRERBEE®)

E R+
iz -

Biatl :  AARRERERS  TESRMTANR
ABEAARS  RZTFR - BRITESH
TARABEFEMRBOARBRER
18 - B30 -

Hiat2 . AIALBRARZTSAENMEYREFEL
R@m - BRATANAABEIDS R
ZHAR - RZMGRBUEZTEER K
ATANDABENRE  RZTR A
RADBEERAERBARER Z EMRE
P TEH AR EEEEEATE B
E2IIGURE

RREFE - AREBESRERZ HHEES -

F=MAREEFENHEK

Conversion/early redemption
option derivative

R RABEHETETIR

2022 2021

—E-C —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥BTR ARBFIT

Net carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BREREEE 26,251 111,612
Derecognition of derivatives BIFERITETER (12,613)

Fair value loss (gain) recognised in profit or loss REZERN AL EEEE

(Wras) 7,357 (83,674)

Exchange difference fE R =58 1,765 (1,687)

Net carrying amount as at 31 December R+—A=+—HNEEFE 22,760 26,251
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BHE-Z-_—F#+-_A=1+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 38. IKEAREENBERREBEEZ
OBJECTIVES (contad)

38.7 Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Cont'd)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Cont'd)

Equity instrument at fair value through
other comprehensive income

BRAREEFAEHA
2EKRBEZRATA
2022 2021
—z== T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Net carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BMEREFE 43,866 54,219
Fair value loss recognised in other REAM 2 E K= R
comprehensive income DR BEEEE (8,895) (10,353)
Net carrying amount as at 31 December R+ A=+—BXNEEFE 34,971 43,866
Except for the senior notes and bond as detailed in note 31, the BRI EE31FF Il 2 BAERBE REFIN - AQF]
directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of EERA - A MBS IR AR K AT R
financial assets and liabilities recorded as amortised cost in the MNemEERBENERMERAAREEBEM
consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values. e
The fair value of such financial assets and financial liabilities R EERSRBENARBE(BE=
(categories within Level 3 hierarchy) are determined in accordance BEERNE) HIRBEERERRESREDTH—
with general accepted pricing models based on discounted cash BAREEEAET HFSEENBAZRE
flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount ARMRZZHFEERBAEEIREK -

rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement

of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

3. MEEBEAE2REYHK

TEAAEERELTHELZBEREPFHIE 25

MEFBRRERENFTEEZGARERERD
EAREEYREREZAE -

Debt Derivative
Amounts component of component of
tue to Dividend convertible ~ Senior notes convertible Lease
related parties payables  Borrowings honds and hond honds liabilities Total
FEft TRRES BERE  TRRES
BEARTE EfRE e BESS REF fiEIESS fgaR ffE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R=E-—%-F-H - - 23,864,489 1,419,974 5,366,051 111,612 102,373 30,864,499
Financing cash flows BEURER 1,101,729 (6%6) (66,617 (114953  (1,042,110) - (26,565 (149.212)
Foreign exchange translation HNERE - - (302,323) (36,363) (13711) (1,687) - (414,084)
Inferest expenses fEEx - - 1,498,182 193,504 481,490 = 11281 2,184,547
Fair value adjustment RS - - - - - (83,674) - (83,674)
New leases entered (note 14) BAvZHRE W) - - - - - - 77,386 71,386
Dividend declared EREE - 696 - - - - - 696
At 31 December 2021 KoB--#+2A=t-8 1,101,729 -T2 AT BB 64T 3240198
Financing cash flows BEAMRSR 747,058 - 1122575 (106,694)  (1,011,006) - (31,045) 120,388
Foreign exchange translation HNEBRE (102,315) - 1,001,071 95,351 288,939 1,765 - 1,284,817
Interest expenses feEx - - 175457 165,526 474529 = 13849 2408475
Fair value adjustment NMEERR - - - - - 1,357 - 7,357
Gain on non-substantial modification of T REFFEAZERE
convertible bond - - - (23,252) - - - (23,252)
(Gain on early redemption of REBRTARES 2 WS
convertible bonds - - - - - (12,613) = (12,613)
Loss on non-substantial modification of BRARES FEAEEER
domestic corporate bond - - - - 2,3% - - 2,3%
Non-cash transaction (Note) ¥REXHHE) (175,622) - - - - - - (175,622)
At 31 December 2022 RZF-Z#+-A=1-H 1,570,850 - 28,871,948 993,189 4,486,576 22,160 141,219 36,092,602
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, amount of RMB175,622,000 Wit BEZZ=-=_F+=-A=1+—RALLFE ' ;T AENIE

included in amounts due to related parties has been settled by the same
amount in amounts due from related parties as the Group has a legally

enforceable right to set off such amount.
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40. COMMITMENTS

(a)

(b)

Capital and other commitments

e M BRI E

40. EiIE

(a) EXRHEAMERE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following RMERR - NEEB L TFEE

commitments:

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTTT
Contracted but not provided for: EHEEES L
— Investment properties under development —ERIREYE 1,853,436 385,162
— Properties under development for sale —BEAFEME 5,488,359 5,026,738
7,341,795 5,411,900
Operating lease arrangements (h) REHERH
The Group as lessor
All of the properties held for rental purposes have committed FTERELERACOMERBEE 2T
lessees for the next one and twenty years. BAEAEFRBEA -
Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: MEMERBEMNZNT
2022 2021
—Z=—= T —%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTT
Within one year —FR 786,243 662,623
In the second year B4 664,238 655,177
In the third year F=F 491,363 411,407
In the fourth year FENF 336,566 323,235
In the fifth year FRF 247,790 244 533
After five years AFH% 1,130,982 1,148,914
3,657,182 3,445,889
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41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 41.

(@) Pledge of assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
assets being pledged for bank and other borrowings.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

EEERM

(a)

BEEHA

MN|ERR - AEBEATEES FIEMRIERR
TREMBEZER -

2022 2021

—E-C —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARBFIT

Properties under development for sale BERPSEME 8,705,813 3,519,770

Properties held for sale HEME 377,356 126,421
Equity instrument at fair value through other BARBEFAEMEEmEKE

comprehensive income ZBRATA 336,992 406,557

Investment properties WEME 22,195,544 21,933,016

Property, plant and equipment L ER S 660,355 784,148

Pledged bank deposits EHIRITF R 1,078,426 2,547,603

Other pledged deposits HaERER 164,000 =

33,518,486 29,317,515

Note: As at 31 December 2022, except for assets pledged above, secured
bank loans with aggregate amount of RMB7,391,330,000 (2021:
RMB5,944,586,000) and secured other borrowings with amount of
RMB2,562,973,000 (2021: RMB2,077,473,000) are secured by the
equity interests of subsidiaries of the Group (see also note 29).

(b)  Restrictions on assets

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB147,279,000 are recognised
with related investment properties of RMB259,430,000 as at
31 December 2022 (2021: lease liabilities of RMB164,475,000
are recognised with related investment properties of
RMB308,580,000). The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.
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42,

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had financial
guarantee contracts relating to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
for certain purchasers amounting to approximately RMB2,525,896,000
(2021: RMB1,814,427,000). The guarantees are secured by the
Group’s pledged bank deposits amounting to RMB146,369,000 (2021:
RMB196,683,000).

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default on the mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the
outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and
penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks.

The Group’s guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the earlier of the buyer obtaining
the individual property ownership certificate or the full settlement of
mortgage loan by the buyer.

The directors of the Company consider that it is not probable for the
Group to sustain a loss under these mortgage guarantees as during the
periods under guarantees, the Group can take over the ownerships of
the related properties and sell the properties under default to recover any
amounts paid by the Group to the banks. The Group has not recognised
these guarantees as their fair value at initial recognition is considered
to be insignificant by the directors of the Company. The directors of
the Company also consider that the fair market value of the underlying
properties is able to cover the outstanding mortgage loans guaranteed by
the Group in the event that the purchasers default payments to the banks
for their mortgage loans.

42.

e M BRI E

BBERELN

HEe_Z_—_#+_A=+—HBIFE A&£E
RETEFTNRBERERMBERNVIEERELD
#) B AR #2525896000 (ZE=-—4F: AR
1,814,427,0007T) - B BAERA RSB E P IRIT
FARARYL146,369,000C (ZE=—F: AR
196,683,000t ) fE I -

REBEERER - MZEERERZBHF - AIAEE
RAREERRENNZBERERZOE T BN
RITMEFERA SRS -

AEENERBOABRZBEEFREHASE  BE
BEREUSEAFEM A EEIBEURBEIRIBER (A
BEERE)BRILL -

ARBEERS  AEENERE A KA 8EEZ
ERBERMEZEER MAEBEEHNBERT
AEXEREYMENMERLEEE@YME  AKRE
AEBRARITNOEASE - ARERTEER
RZEERNVNTERENAABELTERKN - &
AEBWARERZEER - ARAEETAR  WE
THREERTRIBES  HRAMENRIATER
IABEHAEBEAEROREZZBER -
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group has the following transactions with related parties during the
year:

(a) Balances with related parties
Details of the balances with related parties at the end of the

reporting period are disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position and notes 16, 22 and 26.

(b)  Key management personnel compensation
The directors are of the opinion that the key management

personnel were solely the directors of the Company. Remuneration
paid to the Company’s directors is disclosed in note 11.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

43. BBA RS
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 44. A BB B R K

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

2022 2021
—E_-— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREETTT

Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RRMIEE 3,381,353 3,381,353
Amounts due from subsidiaries S CINEENGIE /e 11,242,401 10,769,464
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB KR - 16,792
Right-of-use asset FRAEEE 36,806 11,927
14,660,560 14,179,536

Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries N ENGIE /e 7,221,682 4,986,991
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables EES - TE R & E e W RIE 2,310 49,811
Bank balances and cash RITHEBERS 59,152 235,918
7,283,144 5,272,720
Current liabilities =R

Accruals and other payables FEETE B R E e 5RI8 63,342 6,491
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN EPNGIE /S 4,652,183 2,553,383
Borrowings EE 1,945,996 1,804,680
Debt component of convertible bonds AR ESES I D 400,537 498,021
Derivative component of convertible bonds AMRESITET A D 2,651 1,594
Lease liabilities HEB®E 11,720 11,432
7,076,429 4,875,601
Net current assets REBEEZRE 206,715 397,119
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERARBEE 14,867,275 14,576,655

Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Borrowings gg 251,017 229,746
Lease liabilities HEBE 25,200 =
276,217 229,746
Net assets EEFE 14,591,058 14,346,909

Capital and reserves EXRRE
Share capital % 42,465 42,465
Reserves G 14,548,593 14,304,444
Total equity HWRER 14,591,058 14,346,909

g (FE)HEREARLQE 213
—ECCFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M AR MR

44,

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Cont'd)

Note:

Details of the movement in the Company’s reserves are set out below:

Bt :

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

44, KD BB BRI TR @)

AABIEEHRE 2 FBRNAT

Convertible Share
Share preference option Exchange Contributed Retained
premium share reserve reserve surplus profits Total
RAEE TEAREER BRERE ERHE EgEs REBF @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETR AREFT AREF T AREFT
Balance as at 1 January 2021 RZZZ—4-R—-RAz&R 7,161,195 5,999,201 203,207 30,165 (18) 363,655 13,757,405
Profit for the year FERF - - - = - 545,834 545,834
Exercise of share options e 1,841 = (636) - - - 1,205
Balance as at 31 December 2021 R=F=_—F+-A=1+—A
and 1 January 2022 k=T==%—-F—-H
a1 7,163,036 5,999,201 202,571 30,165 (18) 909,489 14,304,444
Profit for the year FERF - - - = = 244,149 244,149
Balance as at 31 December 2022 R-B-_—F+-A=+—H
pa 7,163,036 5,999,201 202,571 30,165 (18) 1,153,638 14,548,593
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e M BRI E

FTEMBRRANFER

RIE-_—FR-_FE-_—F+-_A=+—HBFEK

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—F+-A=1T—AILFE
45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, each of which is a limited liability

company, as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: BRR(HAEBRAR)MEFBHLT :
Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary Effectively
incorporation/ share capital/ attributable Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital equity interests (Place of operations)
BRTRMR
WEARAR AMAL/ RIS LERE/HRES BRELRAER TBEH (20T
Directly Indirectly
E# ]
LVGEM Suzhou HK 156 shares of HK$1each - 100%  Administration vehicle of the Group (HK)
(2021: 100%)
GaEM £ 156k BRAMELIETZRA 100% REAKEAHIMEER)
(ZZ=—%F:100%)
PVGL HK 10,000 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Investment holding (HK)
(2021: 100%)
1B Bk 10000k GREBLIAT 2 RH 100% HERR(EHE)
(ZE=—F:100%)
Suzhou Garden Villa Development & Management  Mainland China (Note (a)) 15$20,550,000 - 95%  Property development and investment
Co., Ltd. (2021:95%)  (Mainland China)
BN GERRAERERARAA hER (H(a) 20550000% T 9% NEXRREE (PEMD)
(Z32-F:9%)
Suzhou New Heritage GF Limited (“SNHGF") Mainland China (Note (a)) 15$26,600,000 - 100%  Property development and investment
(2021:100%)  (Mainland China)
N EREARDA (FMA)) hEIAE (M) 26,600,000%7T 100% WEBRRRE (REMH)
(ZZ=—%F:100%)
Suzhou New Heritage WZA Limited Mainland China (Note (b)) 1S$15,000,000 - 100%  Property development and investment
(2021:100%)  (Mainland Ching)
FM MRS EEERERAT B (3H(b) 15,000,000% 0 100% MEERERITE (PER)
(ZE=—F:100%)
New Heritage WJA Limited Mainland China (Note (b)) 1S$13,000,000 - 100%  Property development and investment
(2021:100%)  (Mainland China)
RIMENERRAR hER () 13,000,000% 0 100% WERRRRE (FEMY)
(ZE=—%:100%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Asset Management Co., Lid. Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB16,000,000 - 100%  Property management service
(2021:100%)  (Mainland China)
MG REEERARAA B (D) ARE16,00000070 100% MEERRE (PER)
(ZB=—%F100%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Hotel Co., Ltd. Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Hotel operation services (Mainland China)
(2021: 100%)
TGS BEERAF B (M3H(b) AR10,00000070 100% EEEERS (ERH)
(ZE=—F:100%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Jiyuan Property Management Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB500,000 - 100%  Property management service
Senice Co., Ltd. (2021:100%)  (Mainland China)
MR e EEREARAR hER () AR500,0007C 100% MEEEMRHK (RERH)

(ZB=—%:100%)
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (contd)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

45. T EMBRRANFERE @)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary Effectively
incorporation/ share capital/ attributable Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital equity interests (Place of operations)
BESIE
WRAREE HRAL/ RIS LERK/EREL BRELERTES TEXH(BRBY
Directly Indirectly
E# B
Shenzhen LVGEM Marketing Co., Ltd. Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Consultancy services (Mainland China)
(2021: 100%)
RTEREHERABRAA HE s (K (b) AR1,0000007T 100% BRI (PE ML)
(ZB=—%F:100%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Property Management Co., Ltd. ~ Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Property management services
(2021:100%)  (Mainland China)
MR NFERRRAA HE R (K ) ARH5,00000070 100% DEERERH(PEMND)
(Z2=—F:100%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Real Estate Development Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB150,000,000 - 100%  Property development (Mainland China)
Co., Ltd. (2021: 100%)
Mg EEHEREERAR o (HEE (b)) ARE150,00000070 100% DEER(PEMD)
(Z3=-5:100%)
Zhengxinglong Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. Mainland China (Note (b)) HK$40,000,000 - 100%  Property development (Mainland China)
(2021: 100%)
ERBRE (R ERAA B (H3E) 400000005 T 100% MxER(RERH)
(ZB=—F:100%)
Shenzhen Longkanghong Investment Development  Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB270,000,000 - 100%  Property development (Mainland China)
Co,td (2021: 100%)
MmERAREERERAR e (i) ARE270,00000070 100% DEER(PEMD)
(Z2=—F:100%)
Huazhou LVGEM Real Estate Development Co.,Ltd. ~ Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB210,000,000 - 100%  Property development (Mainland China)
(2021: 100%)
SRR EREERAR o (HEE (b)) AR210,00000070 100% DE%R(PEM)
(Z2=-5:100%)
Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao Investment Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB1,851,429,172 - 91%*  Property development (Mainland China)
Co.,Ltd.(“Zhuhai Donggiao”) (2021:91%*)
HETERREREARAA (TRERE]) e (K (b)) ANEH1851429,17270 0% NEEE(RERH)
(ZBZ-F:91%)
Zhengyinglong Real Estate (Zhuhai) Co,,Ltd. Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB407,000,000 - 100%  Property development (Mainland China)
(2021: 100%)
ERERHE (58) BRAF nE R (i) ARE407,00000070 100% DEER(FEMD)
(Z2=—F:100%)
Guangzhou Yuejing Real Estate Development Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB10,000,000 - 93%  Property development (Mainland China)
Co,Ud. (2021:93%)
BN EREHEREERAR o (KR (b)) ARE10,00000070 93% MELR(MER)
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e M BRI E

45. ETHHE D MRS 0

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (contd)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary Effectively
incorporation/ share capital/ attributable Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital equity interests (Place of operations)
BETRMR
WEARAR AL/ RIS LERL/ERER BRELRAER TERH(ER0Y
Directly Indirectly
BE [F:
Jianmai Limited (“Jianmai”) BVI 200 shares of US$1 each - 95%  Investment holding (HK)
(2021: 95%)
REERAA(ZE] ABEBRES M0REREELIET R 9% RAER(ER)
(Z3=-F:9%)
Wisdom Concept Development Limited HK 2 shares of HK$1 each - 95% - Property development (HK)
(2021: 95%)
BYERARLA £ WREREBLIETRG %% NELR(FAE)
(Z5=-F:95%)
Qlinda Limited HK 20 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Property development and investment (HK)
(2021: 100%)
Fik 255RIETZRG 100% WERRRRE(FHR)
(ZE=—F:100%)
Gemstones BVI 1 share of US§1 100% - Treasury vehicle (HK)
(2021: 100%)
22 ABEARES 1RIET 2R M 100% REGETIHE(ES)
(ZB=—%:100%)
Zong Asia Investments (HK) Limited HK 1 share of HK$1 each - 100%  Investment holding (HK)
(2021: 100%)
STRE(FE) ARAA £ 1R1IETZ IR M 100% BERR(ER)
(ZB=—%F:100%)
World Margin Limited HK 800,000 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Treasury vehicle (HK)
(2021: 100%)
HRERAR Bk 800000k B REELET LRI 100% REHEIE(ES)
(ZE=—F:100%)
GBAIC BVI 1 share of US§1 100% - Investment holding (HK)
(2021: 100%)
RERBEHM ABEARES 1RIET 2R M 100% RERK(EH)
(ZB=—%:100%)
[CDL HK 10,000 share of HK$1 each = 80%*  Investment holding (HK)
(2021:80%")
B2y £ 10000R B RAELE T2 K1 0% RERR(ER)
(Z5=-F:80%)
Shenzhen Sida Industrial Co., Ltd. Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB171,304,000 - 73.6%*  Property development and investment
(2021:80%*)  (Mainland Ching)
MITIEEEARAA B () ARE171,304,00070 136% NEERREE(REMD)

(ZB=-%:80%")
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (conta)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

45. T EMBRRANFERE @)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary Effectively
incorporation/ share capital/ attributable Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital equity interests (Place of operations)
BESIE
WRAREE HRAL/ RIS LERK/EREL BRELERTES TEXH(BRBY
Directly Indirectly
E# 3
Shenzhen LVGEM Enterprise Management Group ~ Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB300,000,000 - 73.6%*  Property development and investment
Co., Ltd. (2021:80%*)  (Mainland China)
MG RLEERERRRAR B (H3H0) ARE300,0000007 136% NERRRRE(EE)
(Z3=-F:80%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Hexing Real Estate Development  Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB10,000,000 - 73.6%"  Property development and investment
Co., Ltd. (2021:80%%)  (Mainland China)
MR REHEERAR e () ARE10,00000070 136% NEERRRE(EE)
(ZB2=-F:80%)
Shenzhen Lvgem Tiansheng Industrial Co., Ltd. Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB1,286,000,000 - 73.6%*  Property development and investment
(2021:80%*)  (Mainland China)
MITEEAREXERAT B (b)) AR1,286,000,0000 736% NEREREE(BA)

*

Approximate percentage.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 ’?El—!\ é ,E\Zl- i% ﬁ %FZ Bﬂ' %I

BHE-Z-_—F#+-_A=1+—HILFE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (contd) 45. TEWBERAANFERE @

Notes: st -

(a)  This subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign cooperative joint venture under (@ ZWBARREBFENMEZERELATINEGESE
the Mainland China law. NG

(b)  These subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under (b)) ZEWBRARRBEFBEANMEREZLRINEBED
the Mainland China law. o

(c) Except for Zhengxinglong, which issued the First Tranche Domestic Bonds (c) BRIEERE(HR=FE=-—F A+ ABTE—HHE
on 16 August 2021, and Gemstones, which issued New Senior Notes in NEH) REE (MR E3MEKE AR T =FF
2020 as disclosed in note 31, none of the remaining subsidiaries had issued BATHESLER) N NREER - ERKH B AR
any listed debt securities at the end of the reporting period. EEATEM ETHEBHES ©

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the AAREZRE  ERINEZARANBAR =B

opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect the results for HEAEBAFEEENALAEBREERAREY

the year or form a substantial portion of the assets and liabilities of the FEEKE D EERAFEIFEMANBATZ

Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the HIEELREBBRITR -

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+-_A=1+—BHI=FE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (conta) 45. T EMBE QX TNFE =)

Material non-controlling interests

Summarised consolidated financial information of ICDL and its
subsidiaries, and Zhuhai Donggiao that have material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Proportion of
equity interest held by

ERFERER

BEEEHT REWBRRIARKERE (REEE
RIFEB L) 2RV EERBIZEIIMT - TK
PR AR RN B AR RMAHA 2 25 -

Total comprehensive
income (expenses) allocated to

Accumulated
non-controlling

non-controlling interests non-controlling interests interests
AREHEREENERS
FERERHEHRELH WA (X i) 8% R EERER
Name of subsidiary 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
WEARAMR —®-Zf  -TC-f% ZBIZf “Z--F Bz CZ-—fF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBT R AREFT
ICDL and its subsidiaries BERMRERBLR 20%* 20%* 439,595 179,997 5,986,040 3,275,141
Zhuhai Donggiao HERE 9%* 9%* (3,962) (1,362) 154,657 158,619
Individually immaterial BEATBERLES
subsidiaries with non- FEREROMBAR N/A N/A
controlling interests FEH NEf (1,982) 6,250 75,785 77,767
433,651 184,835 6,216,482 3,511,527

*

Approximate percentage
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A R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E__F+_-_A=1+—BI=FE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (contd) 45. FEMBARNFE @)
Material non-controlling interests (Cont'd) BEARFERER(E)
(i)  ICDL and its subsidiaries (i) HEEmi RARE L

2022 2021

—E-C —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETTT

Non-current assets EREEE 15,176,090 4,215,204
Current assets mEEE 33,262,422 26,317,476
Non-current liabilities IFEmBARE (21,213,426) (10,963,522)
Current liabilities mEAE (6,559,654) (3,195,500)

Net assets BEFE 20,665,432 16,373,658
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR B PR R ER RS 14,679,392 13,098,517
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests BEWTZ RS EGERS

of ICDL 5,986,040 3,275,141

Total equity B 20,665,432 16,373,658

Other income H bl A 7,492 18,114
Other gains and losses HEtzm kEE 4 (2,409)

Fair value gain on investment properties WEWEZ AR BEWSE 2,777,270 1,394,330
Expenses X (764,296) (510,162)

Profit for the year FEAF 2,020,470 899,873

Profit attributable to owners of the Company AN A IR R AR AT 1,580,875 719,876

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests IR S RGBT 439,595 179,997

Profit for the year FEAF 2,020,470 899,873
Net cash used in operating activities WL EEFTARE TR (947,943) (787,798)
Net cash used in investing activities KEREMARSFE (162,354) (489,688)

Net cash from financing activities REEHMERSFE 587,593 1,303,336
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’%5—; é EZI- i% ﬁ 15):2 M;J- 'EI For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE-Z-_—_F#+-_A=1+—HILFE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (contd) 45. T EMBEATNFE @)
Material non-controlling interests (Cont'd) BEARFERER(E)
(ii)  Zhuhai Donggiao (i) HEEE
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTR ARBFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE 285,532 182,995
Current assets MENEE 8,008,459 5,233,581
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (3,257,231) (2,097,955)
Current liabilities mEBBE (2,638,844) (878,392)
Net assets BEFE 2,397,916 2,440,229
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AN A PR E(R 2,243,259 2,281,610
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests IR S PR G M 154,657 158,619
Total equity M ARRE 2,397,916 2,440,229
Other income E b A 9,861 586
Fair value gain on investment properties WEMEZ AR EBEKE 23,082 93,476
Expenses X (75,256) (108,608)
Loss for the year FEEBE (42,313) (14,546)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company ARERRE(REE (38,351) (13,184)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests B RE 2 IERIE R (LR
of Zhuhai Donggiao (3,962) (1,362)
Loss for the year FEEE (42,313) (14,546)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEEFTARE TR (907,400) (2,429,802)
Net cash from investing activities WEEDMSREFHE 294,002 219,880
Net cash from financing activities BEEYMSRSFE 708,794 2,648,759
46. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 46. MEHEREE
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company has arranged RIEHRE  ARRELHRAFEBLEE X
the remittance of all necessary funds to the trustee of the New Senior ANEHFIAENEES  UWEEBE-_ZT-_=Z4=ZA+H
Notes for the repayment of all outstanding principal amount and accrued EHBRINATB M AEERNSEREF L - ER
interest before their maturity date on 10 March 2023. The date of AAE-ZS-_—F-AtH BHZEXRZIZFE
remittance is 7 March 2023. Details of the transaction are set out in the BERARRAAE—ES_=F=A+tHZRER-

announcement of Company dated 10 March 2023.
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial statements
for the years ended 2018, 2019 and 2020 as below. For the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2022 which extracted from the annual report 2022 is set
out below.

Financial Summary

MBBE

AEBEREREMBRFECEEAREERARG (FHikEE
ET-N\F ZT-NEFRZTZZEF+A=+—H
HFEZEHEEERMBRR) T - BE_E-_—FR
CEC CFT AT ALFENREE S _FF
iﬁ °

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—F-N\F —T-NF —T-TF —T--F CZB--F
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETRT ARETT AR%Tx
RESULTS ES
Revenue g 4 515,685 6,902,448 5,424,827 4.378,017 2,340,921
Profit from operation "ERF 2,813,503 4,623,298 5,849,185 4,160,684 2,466,102
Finance costs BE AR (657,995)  (1,256,165)  (1,533,101)  (1,710,896)  (1,786,564)
Share of results of a joint venture Bl —HAERREE (8) 2) 2) 2) (2)
Profit before tax IR 2,155,500 3,367,131 4,316,082 2,449,786 679,536
Income tax expense SR (925,097)  (1,617,168) (865,007)  (1,114,869) (976,061)
Profit (loss) for the year FERF 1,230,403 1,749,963 3,451,075 1,334,917 (296,525)
Attributable to owners of the Company RREREEN 1,237,167 1,749,884 3,453,380 1,152,576 (730,147)
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—E-N\E —ET-NEFE —T-TFE —T-—F CZEBZZE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®BTT ARETRT ARETT AR%TxR
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets FERBEE 24171470 26,459,769 25897846 32,349,191 43,664,225
Current assets TEEE 19,240,634 22,276,514 48,369,152 52,592,862 56,040,368
Current liabilities TEERE (11,689,752) (17,760,664) (15,903,122) (19,171,711) (26,772,694)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (20,283,409) (17,940,786) (30,478,253) (36,329,553) (41,955,387)
Net assets BEFE 11,438,943 13,034,833 27,885,623 29,440,789 30,976,512
Equity attributable to RA AR (s
owners of the Company 11,331,448 12,927,859 24.723,716 25,929,262 24,760,030
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List of Principal Properties
FEYE

1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REWE
Interest
Attributable
Properties to the Group
LS rEEELER
LVGEM Zoll 1866 Shopping Mall and 100%
car parking spaces located at
the eastern side of Meilong Road and
the southern side of Zhongmei Road
Bao'an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
R B EREAITE R EIEREE R AR
i I B MY 4% R 18661 e B R B AL
LVGEM Zoll Chanson Shopping Mall and 100%
car parking spaces located at
the western side of Minzhi Road
Minzhi Community
Bao'an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
URFPEERERITERRR G ERGHE
AHeZREREEREYD O REL
Various commercial units of 100%
LVGEM Chanson Meilu Garden
located at the western side of Minzhi Road
Minzhi Community
Bao'an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
URFEERAERITERER AT ERGEK
AR EEEERS ¥ E
Various commercial units of City Garden 100%
located at the western side of Longxiang Avenue
and the eastern side of Huangge Road
Longguang District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
R B ER A AR T & 3 A R E A A )2
ERBERAME ML AR S EEEENL
LVGEM Zoll Hongwan Shopping Mall and 100%

car parking spaces located at the
northern side of North Ring Avenue and
the eastern side of Meilin Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
AP EERAERYITEEEIRAEL AR
1R BE SRR 4% = (e B M BE W 0 RE AL
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Approximate
Total Gross

Floor Area
(square meter)
BRBEEEE
(EFK)

54,360

36,890

90

4,650

85,900

Type

B85l

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

GRS

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[EES

Lease Term

HH

70 years from
31 August 2004 to

30 August 2074

—2TMF)\A=1-RE
“ELMENASTA
BH70%

70 years from
6 August 2010 to
5 August 2080
“Z-TFENARHE
—ZNZEENAAH
AHI70F

70 years from
6 August 2010 to
5 August 2080
—T-TFENARHE
—ZNTFENRRA -
RET0%F

70 years from
22 February 2001 to
21 February 2071

e s Bty e =

— ==

ZTt—FZA=+—H"

RERT0%E

70 years from
16 December 2011 to
15 December 2081

—ET——H+-A+ARHE
—IN-F+ZA+AaH"

RE70%F



List of Principal Properties
FEY X

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta)

REYZE @)
Interest Approximate
Attributable Total Gross
Properties to the Group Floor Area Type Lease Term
(square meter)
LY/ rEEELER BOLEEEE  E5 A
(FFK)
Various commercial units of LVGEM Hotel 100% 4,410 Commercial 70 years from
located at the western side of Xinzhou Road and [SE 30 December 2003 to
the northern side of Xinzhou Sixth Road 29 December 2073
Futian District “TT=F+-A=1+HZE
Shenzhen City —T+=%#+-A=-+NAB"
Guangdong Province BH70F
The PRC
AL AR B B SR R I T 48 F S 3N BE AR A
FONSBAL AR A R B TERAE S A EE N
Various commercial units of 100% 2,810 Commercial 70 years from
Lanwan Peninsula Community located at [HE 20 September 2001 to
the northern side of Furong Road 19 September 2071
Futian District —TE-FHAZFTHE
Shenzhen City “Tt—FAA+IAB "
Guangdong Province AHI705
The PRC
AL B B SRR R 3T 48 AR SR B AL (A0 B2 )
FEHRLEREEN
Various commercial units, office units and 100% 120,100 Commercial 50 years from
car parking spaces of Tower A of [SES 8 May 2005 to
NEO Urban Commercial Complex located at 7 May 2055
the junction of Shennan Boulevard and “ZETRERANAE
Xiangmihu Road “THRAFRALRE -
Futian District AH50F
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
MRPBEERERYITREERFREAER
BE KR ERKINEO T R B4R & BEAE % ()
[SEE VRS N EK)
Various commercial units and car parking 100% 26,100 Commercial 70 years from
spaces of Tower B and Tower C of [SES 26 February 2002 to
NEO Urban Commercial Complex 25 February 2072

located at the junction of Shennan Boulevard T -_RA-+RHZE
and Xiangmihu Road —ZE+-E-R=-1+AH"
Futian District BH70F
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
NAFEERE A MEARREANER
BENB R ERMINEO MBS BB R
CRZEmEEM REM

Various commercial units of Phase Il of 100% 20,610 Commercial 70 years from
LVGEM Garden located at the western side of [HES 5 February 2001 to
Xinzhou Road and the northern side 4 February 2071
of Fugiang Road —ZT-45-HHAHZE
Futian District —Et—F-HAmA -
Shenzhen City AHI705
Guangdong Province
The PRC

o7 e BB R R Y @ [ 3N BE PR ) %
R A AR RIEE —MZ AR EM
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List of Principal Properties

1.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta)
REMZE #)

Properties

L/ES

LVGEM Zoll Mangrove Bay No. 1 Shopping Mall and

car parking spaces

located at the junction of

Shazui Road and Jindi First Road

Futian District

Shenzhen City

Guangdong Province

The PRC
4%¢l?$ém%ﬁﬁﬁ&¢%uA$m B

REROGZRERAIBESRBEY PO KRB

Various commercial units and ancillary units of
LVGEM Garden Estate located at
No. 1185 Jin Dao Tian Road
Luohu District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
i 7 R B B 3R A R 9 7 7 08 [ & A BR 118555 Y
BREZEREELRRESM

A parcel of land and blocks located at
Yi Jia Industrial Park, Fugian Road,
Guanlan Street
Bao’an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
URFBEERE R MEREEREERAE
URRETIXE-BTNZEAREE

LVGEM Zoll International Garden Shopping Mall
Zone A located at Hexi Street, Huazhou
Guangdong Province, The PRC

4#¢IF$%MHmJ@m FR R B

TEFEEY A OAR

LVGEM Zoll International Garden Shopping Mall
Zone B4 located at Hexi Street, Huazhou
Guangdong Province, The PRC

i 7 FR B B SR 0 7 R 7 T B AR R A P B PR
TEEE YR OBAR

Hong Kong LVGEM NEO located at No. 123 Hoi
Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

R BB NBERIE S B 181235 5 548 RNEOAE

Sunshine Bay Project located at Village 1,
Commune No.3, Mittaphea Town,
Shihanoukville Municipal, Cambodia

NARFERTEARZETHAKECEE=FR
— A HEMRIER

Interest
Attributable
to the Group

AEBELES

100%

100%

89%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Approximate
Total Gross

Floor Area
(square meter)
WABRZEEE
(EFK)

37,780

3,520

37,150

22,170

23,590

55,390

45,970

Type

5l

Commercial

GE3

Commercial

[GES

Industrial

T

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

GRS

Commercial

GES

Lease Term

A

50 years from
23 November 2012 to
22 November 2062 and 70
years from 23 January 2012
to 22 January 2082
—Z——H+—A=+=H%
_7A_¢+ A=+=H"
RESOER-F—=F—H
Zt+=HE=ZN=%—R
—+=8 - BE70F

70 years from
9 March 1998 to
8 March 2068
—hAANE=ZANABZE
ZZRANE=RANE"
AET70F

50 years from
8 July 2002 to
7 July 2052
—ZTZF+ANBE
—TH-F+AtH"
RERS05F

40 years from
23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052 and 70 years
from 23 April 2012 to
22 April 2082
—E-—FNAZF=HE
“ER-FMA=t=H"
AHA0ER —T——FWA
—+t=BE=_ZEN=-FW1A
—+=H AHI0F

40 years from
23 April 2012 to

22 April 2052
—ET--HNA=+=HZE
ZTR-FWMA=Z+=H"
2%%@40¢

From 29 November 1988 to
30 June 2047
—AW\N\F+—AZthBHE
“EMtFAA=1+H

No lease term

REHR



INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Conta)
RN (0

Properties

L/ES

LVGEM Zoll Jinhua Shopping Mall
located at 98 Shi Shan Road
New District
Suzhou City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC
2 7R BT 85 AR M T [ 40 1L K 985 Y
R P RERE YR

Flats 1A, 8C, 17C and 18D, of Jin Xing Tower of
Phase Il of Suzhou Garden Villa located at
No. 98 Shishan Road
New District
Suzhou City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC
L R BT &R AR N 37 [ 40 1L B 085 SR 28 50
5 HASREIZ1A - 8C ~ 17C]18DE

Flats 1D of Jin Bon Tower of
Phase Il of Suzhou Garden Villa located at
No. 98 Shishan Road
New District
Suzhou City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC
L 7 R BT &5 M 397 [ 00 1L B 9855
BENE =B HEIDE

LVGEM Zoll Yuexi Shopping Mall
located at No.199 Tayun Road,
Yuexi, Wuzhong Development District,
Suzhou City, Jiangsu Province, The PRC
AP BT #8 BR N T R B3 @ R B R
199 M4 =R R B L

Commercial units of Zhong He Ti Xiang Garden
located at No.209 Haitang Road,
Heshan District, Yiyang, Hu’nan Province,
The PRC

AL R BHA & 22 5 b L 08 32 35 20957
HERRELB L EREEM

Residential units of Hongwan Garden located
at Meilin Road East,Bei Huan Avenue,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, The PRC

iz 7 B SR R T @ (R AL BRKS8 LA AL A MR A

RODEREENZ EETEL

Interest
Attributable
to the Group

AEEEERES

95%

95%

95%

100%

100%

100%

List of Principal Properties

Approximate
Total Gross

Floor Area
(square meter)
BMABZEER
(F7K)

15,500

600

160

12,220

3,610

1,310

Type

5l

Commercial

GES

Residential
£

Residential
£

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

GES

Residential
£

- LY/ES

Lease Term

b

70 years from
19 October 1992 to
18 October 2062
—hWNAZF+A+thBE
ZERZFETATNE
BH70F

70 years from
19 October 1992 to
18 October 2062
—hWNAZF+A+thBE
ZERZFETATNE
HBET0F

70 years from
19 October 1992 to
18 October 2062
—AWNW=F+A+hBZE
ZERZE+A+TNR:
BH70F

40 years from 1 August 2003
to 31 July 2043

—EE=FN\A-HE
ZTEM=F+tA=+—H"
R HIA0F

40 years from 1 April 2007
to 31 March 2047
—ZTTLFNA—HE
“EmLF=A=+-A
EA0E

70 years from 16 December
2011 to 15 December 2081

—F—FtZAtRH
E2-T)\—F+=A
THHA - RH70E
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List of Principal Properties
FEYE

1.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta)
REMZE #)

Interest

Attributable
Properties to the Group
L/ES rEEELER
Dongguan LVGEM Zoll Shopping Mall and 100%

car parking spaces
located at Baoshan Road
Zhangmutou
Dongguan City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
URPEEREREMEAREE KRR ER
By O RER

Various street-level commercial units of Zone A of 100%
LVGEM International Garden
located at the northwest of
Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
RFBEEREXETEMNGTEEERN AR
AL A E 4 R B EARE A % [ n i S s

Various street-level commercial units of Zone B of 100%
LVGEM International Garden
located at the northwest of
Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
R B ERE KA EMNETATERMNAE
P Al M4 SRR EHBR M % E/S E B

Various street-level commercial units of Zone E of 100%
LVGEM International Garden
located at the northwest of
Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
R BEEREXRET NG TEEERMN AR
FAIL B8 47 R BIFRTEER ) 2 B BT R S B L

Various street-level commercial units of the Southern 100%
District of LVGEM Joyful Town Business Centre located
at West Mingzhu Station, Mingzhu North Road,
Shangchong,
Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
A B ERE e AN E &R B AR Rk
AAlNGRENERHEPOBEENS L
EEEN
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Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
(square meter)

BOBREER
(F5K)

59,060

10,110

14,050

7,370

3,260

Type

bl

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

GES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

GES

Lease Term

ik

40 years from 21 November
2013 to 20 November 2053
—F-=ft-A-+-BZ
“TR=F+-A=1A"

R E40F

40 years from 23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052

WA= F+=HE
ZER-FMAZ+=H"
AEA0F

40 years from 23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052

ZE-ZFMA=+=HZF
ZER-FMA=t=H"
AEA0F

40 years from 23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052

—T——fNMAZ+=RE
—TR-_FMA=+=H"
R EA0F

40 years from 20 July 2018 to
19 July 2058

—ZE-\FtA=TH
ZZTRANFEATNA -
R E4A0F



INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Conta)
RN (0

Interest
Attributable
Properties to the Group

L/ES AEEEEES

Six retail commercial units of 74%
Wendefu Garden located at
No0.2002 Houhai Avenue,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
i 7 R B B 3R 8 R 3 R L [ 7208 K38 200255
NiEEREREN A AETERES T
Various retail commercial units under construction in the 95%
Central-northern District and part of the apportioned
land proposed to be developed into retail commercial
properties in the Central District of the LVGEM urban
renewal project located at Donggiao Community,
Nanping Town,
Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
URFBEERERENEMNEEFERBLEEIA
MENBEPLEZETEREFETAERIRERTP
ERFAEATERNENERI MO BN it
Commercial units under construction of the Northern 100%
District of LVGEM Joyful Town Business Centre located
at West Mingzhu Station,
Mingzhu North Road, Shangchong,
Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
R BEERERETEME L&A EARE R
Al REHERBP LR EEREM
Development project of Phase Il of the Wanda Plaza 100%
Project of Zone G1 of LVGEM International Garden
located at the northwest of
Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
URHBEEREXETLMNGTEEERMN AR
B AING S BRENGIE —HEEESEEEN
M#EIER

Various street-level commercial units of Zone D of LVGEM 100%
International Garden located at
the northwest of Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
MRPBEEREXETLMNGTETERNAR
AL AR 4R S B EWDR M % S H £ EN

List of Principal Properties
FEY X

Approximate

Total Gross
Floor Area Type Lease Term
(square meter)
BREBEEEE HEA B
(FARXK)
660 Commercial 70 years from 18 May 1998 to
[EES 17 May 2068
—AANERA+NBRZE
ZEXNERA+TER
BE70F
10,020 Commercial 40 years from 17 April 2020 to
[EES 16 April 2060
—TZTFWATERE
ZERTENMA+AR
B H40F
16,750 Commercial 40 years from 20 July 2018 to
[EES 19 July 2058
“E-N\$tA=-t+RZE
—TERNFELATIE
HE40F
129,640 Commercial 70 years from 23 April 2012 to
[EES 22 April 2082
—T-ZFWAZt=HEF
“ENZFMAZ+Z=H "
BH70F
6,190 Commercial 40 years from 23 April 2012 to
[EES 22 April 2052

“T-—FMA-+=HE
—ER-FWNA=Z+=H

g (FE)HEREARLIE 229
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List of Principal Properties
FEYE

1.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta)

REYZE @)
Interest
Attributable
Properties to the Group
L/ rEBEEER
Various service apartments of Block A of 100%

Hongshu Huafu located at the intersection of Shazui Road
and Jindiyi Road Futian District Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province
The PRC

iz B R B ER A PRI T AR F @ D 0 B B it — B
RARABERARNSERB LB

Various commercial units of Block 1 of 100%
LVGEM Amazing Plaza located at the intersection of
Qiaoxiang Road and Beihuan Road,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province
The PRC

URPBEERERYIMELEEEREILR
RERNZEERESIRNSERESEMN

Commercial portion of residential, commercial and 74%
office complex located in the core area of
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, being
adjacent to Shennan Avenue and
in proximity to Science Park and
the sub-district of Overseas Chinese Town

SLAARYI TR L E O B (B REAE
ﬁ%%ﬂ&ﬂ&i*ﬁﬁ[ﬁT%i%
BERBAZTARNGARNETHELS

A commercial building of No.01, Block 35, 100%
Zone Al, of LVGEM International Garden located at
northwest of Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC

NRHEERE KT MG TAGERZMNABREL
IR0 4% 2 B TE AL E35IR01 SR — B R 22T

Various street-level commercial units of Zone C 100%
of LVGEM International Garden located at
northwest of Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC

MRFBEEREEREMEMNETAGERMN ARG
A4S EREHCEN S E N EREET

Various office units located at 26/F., 95%
Jinhe International Center, No. 88 Shishan Road,
Hugiu District, Suzhou City,
Jiangsu Province,
The PRC

AR BT #R8 BR N T 52 [ 06 1L X885 & )7 B R
HO2EMEZERNE T
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Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
(square meter)

BORREER
(F7K)

25,380

2,390

741,270

5,040

11,610

650

Type

bl

Residential
F=E

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Office
WAE

Lease Term

A

50 years from 23 November 2012
to 22 November 2062

S
—ERFt+—HA=1+=H"
A HAB0F

50 years from 1 January 2017 to
31 December 2066

—Z—+F-A—-BZE
—ERANE+—B=1+—8"
73RS04

70 years from 10 September
2021 to 9 September 2091

“E--FnA+AEE
—EA—FhANAB
AE70F

40 years from 23 April 2012 to 22
April 2052 and 70 years from
23 April 2012 to
22 April 2082

—E-—FWA=-+=HAE
—TAZFMA=Z+=AH"
BHIOFER-T——F
MA-+=Z=BE=_TN=F
MA=+=H"  AH0F

40 years from 23 April 2012 to 22
April 2052

—E—_FWAZt+=AZE
ZTR-HFNAZ+=H"
A ERA0F

40 years from 1 January 2015 to
31 December 2054

—T-hF—-A—BZE
—THNE+—A=+—8
REBA0F



PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

List of Principal Properties
FEY X

BERPSEWE

Properties

LIES

Residential and commercial units of
Hongshu Huafu Sifang Zone
located at the southest corner of the
intersection of Shazui Road and
Jindiyi Road Futian District
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province
The PRC

URFEERE R MEARYD
BrAeh—BRERRER
MABZERDHRFEEER
HXER

Residential and commercial units
of LVGEM International Garden
located at the northwest of
Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

fir i BERE KA T 7 5

BN RE L R &2 BRI
FERBEER

Residential, commercial and
industrial complex located at
Liguang Village, Guanlan Town
Bao'an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

URPEERE R TERR
BRERANNETREZE

Commercial and office
complex located at West Mingzhu
Station, Mingzhu North Road,
Shangchong,
Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province
The PRC

fir o B SR A BR80T AE K

ARUAAOEERRAE

Interest
Attributable
to the Group

FREELERS

100%

100%

100%

100%

Approximate
Total Site Area

(sq.m.)
BHEwEERE
(FAHK)

17,590

478,670

85,330

22,260

Approximate
Total Gross Estimated Date
Floor Area Type of Completion Progress
(sq.m.)
BREREEE E5 Bt TR A S ERMR
(FH*K)
164,570 Residential/ 2024 Under
Commercial —T-ME construction
FE/BE TRETH
1,447,760 Residential/ 2023-2026 Under
Commercial —E-ZFF construction
FE/mE ZEoRE TR
562,690 Residential/ 2025 Under
Commercial —T-hF construction
FE/BE TRETH
213,700 Commercial/ 2025 Under
Office —T-hEF construction
BE/WAZ TRETH

g (FE)HEREARLE 231
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List of Principal Properties
FEY X

2. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE (conta)
BRDEGEWE®

Interest Approximate
Attributable Approximate Total Gross Estimated Date
Properties to the Group Total Site Area Floor Area Type of Completion Progress
(sq.m.) (sq.m.)
L/ES AEEEGER BOEBBRER BOLEEER  E Bt ERAH  ERMRR
(FAK) (FHK)

Residential, commercial and hotel 91% 129,990 764,900 Residential/ 2023-2026 Under
complex located at No.37 Commercial/ —ZT-=F% construction
Maofeng Road, Xiangzhou District Hotel —E-NE TiEfH
Nanping Town, Zhuhai City, tE/ %/

Guangdong Province BE
The PRC

RPEEREFKETAEMNRERE
REEITROET  BERD/E

Villa located at Deep Bay Road near 95% 82,400 23,880 Villa 2024 Planning stage
Mong Tseng Village and il 113 Al #R R 2
Mong Tseng Wai,

Lau Fau Shan,
Yuen Long,
New Territories,
Hong Kong

R BB TR SR TR AR
BHEMNHZE

Residential, commercial and 4% 303,790 4,806,520 Residential/ From 2025 Under
office complex located in Commercial/ “T-hEF# construction
the core area of Nanshan Office/Hotel TRRETH
District, Shenzhen City, being e/ BE/
adjacent to Shennan Avenue and WAZ/BE
in proximity to Science Park and
the sub-district of Overseas
Chinese Town

IR AR TE L E RS (BBRAAE
W AR E REER A E) AEET - BE
RBERERBRNOGENE

Residential and commercial located at 51% 431,800 1,941,390 Residential/ 2027 Demolition and
intersection of National Highway 105 and Commercial “E4F relocation plan in
Tourist Road, Shangchong, Xiangzhou District, e/ HE progress
Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province, The PRC EITIRBE

RFBERE ST EMNE LR 21058 HE

ERIRERRERNEERAE
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(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
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Unit 2501, NEO, 123 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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